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ABSTRACT

Accounting for price-level changes is a current controversial 
issue in the accounting profession* It has attracted both ' 

practicing accountants and academicians in recent years*

The writer of this thesis is not an exception to such an 

attraction. The thesis is built on the basis of tho following 

hypotheses:

1* Conventional historical-cost accounting is deficient in
f
providing relevant and up-to-date information to the users of 

financial statements. This is particularly so when prices of goods 

and services are not stable.

2. During a period of rising pricc3, the original C03t3 and 

the depreciated book values of fixed assets are understated et 

any given point in time. The depreciation of fixed assets, 

calculated on the basis of their understated values, is therefore 

less than normal. Hence, less depreciation is charged to earnings, 

this resulting in the overstatement of net operating profits. As

a result of the excessively stated net profits, same firms tend to 

exaggerate the dividends paid to shareholders and soms of these 

dividends are effectively paid out of capital rather than income*Also 

the overstated net profits are excessively taxed by the Government.

The end result is that less profits are retained by companies for 

future asset replacements and expansion.

3. The overstated profits during a period of rising prices 

tend to attract demands for higher wages by labour unions. This 

process encourages further inflation.
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4. Financial information provided by financial statements 

can be improved tremendously if a new accounting system, which 

reflects the effects of price changes on business, is introduced 

to replace conventional historical-cost accounting.

The above four hypotheses are examined in a fairly detailed 

manner in this thesis. The thesis is divided into five chapters. 

Chapter One introduces the contents of the thesis. In this chapter, 

it is revealed that a general rise in prices is a world-wide
9

phenomenon, and that this trend has been observed since the end of 

the Second 77orld 7/ar. Because this upward trend in prices has been 

persistent for long, and because it still continues, the term 

"Inflation" has been chosen to describe the trend.

The introductory chapter also gives an over-view of recent 

developments in the accounting profession with regard to inflation 

accounting. It is shown that Britain, Australia and United States 

are in the forefront in the discussion of this controversial 

subject of accounting.

Chapter Two starts by giving a brief discussion of the 

objectives of financial statements. It is stated that financial 

statements act as a vehicle for conveying financial information 

to the users of those statements. To achieve this objective 

effectively, the financial statements should be updated to show 

the current values of assets, and the depreciation of fixed assets 

should be based on these current values. The Chapter also presents 

the characteristics of historical-cost accounting, which makes 

a fundamental error by assuming that the value of a shilling is 

constantly maintained regardless of changes in the general level

- ii -
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of prices. The Chapter also contains illustrative examples of 

the inadequacies of historical-cost accounting when prices are 

unstable.

Chapter Three is the largest chapter. It looks at the two 

proposed approaches to inflation accounting, namely, price-level 

accounting and current-value accounting. Price-level accounting 

uses an appropriate general price index to restate the data in 

the historical-cost financial statements so as to reflect current 

changes in the general level of prices. Every figure in both 

balance sheet and income statement is updated using the general 

price index. This updating can formally be stated a3 follows:

Historical cost (of asset, etc) Price Index at date

Price index at date /of preparing the
of acquisition (of asset, etc) financial statements. 

Current value accounting aims at stating the current values of 

financial items at the date of preparing the financial statements. 

This system values the financial items using any of the three 

options illustrated below:

Replacement-

Cost

Accounting.

Current Value Accounting
rAi

He t-Reali zable- 

Value Accounting.

Present-Value

Accounting.

’Replacement-cost accounting' values assets with reference to 

their market replacement costs. In other words, it values the



ir -

assets at the costs of replacing them if the firt* were to be 

deprived of then* This method assumes that a firm is a going 

concern, and that therefore the firm ha3 to replace its assets 

once they are worn out. 'Net-realizable-value accounting' values 

assets with reference to their net resale values, after giving 

allowance for the incidental resale expenses. Thus, unlike the 

replacement-cost concept, the net-realizable-value concept is 

based on exit value. Both valuation bases are, however, market- 

validated bases. 'Present-value accounting* values assets at 

their existing value to the firm. It discounts the expected future 

benefits of each asset in order to determine the present value of 

the asset.

Both Price Level Accounting and Current Value Accounting 

are dealt with in Section I of Chapter Three, and they are 

contrasted at the end of this Section. Section II of Chapter 

Three examines the historical developments within the accounting 

profession in regard to inflation accounting. It i3 shown that the 

United Kingdom, Australia and New Zealand, United States, and 

Canada have made remarkable contributions to the theoretical discussion 

of inflation accounting. The United Kingdom and Australia have, in 
addition, made courageous moves towards implementing current-value 

accounting. Both countries plan to start implementing currant value 

accounting by the middle of this year, 1977.

Also in this Chapter Three, it is revealed that the developing 

countries have made negligible contributions towards inflation 

accounting. It is my hope that such countries will soon follow in 

the footsteps of the United Kingdom and Australia.

t
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Chapter Pour focuses its attention on the accounting 

practices ot companies here in Kenya. The views of various local 

financial managers and those of the companj.es studied are presented 

in this Chapter. I**; is reported that historical-cost accounting 

dominates in our local financial reporting. The general view of 

our local companies is that inflation accounting is necessary, but 

these companies are not decided on which system should replace 

historical-cost accounting. It is their contention that current-value 

accounting should be accepted and implemented at some future date. 

They, however, fear introducing the system in the near future 

because they feel they do not have accountants qualified enough to 

prepare inflation-adjusted accounts.

Finally, Chapter Five, provides a summary of the thesis. This 

Chapter also gives brief conclusions based on the current 

developments in the accounting profession. The questionnaire used 

by the author in carrying out a survey on the local financial 

reporting is also presented in this Chapter.
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CHAPTER OHS

Introduction

4

1*1 Inflation as a worldwide Phenomenon

The world over hae experienced high rates of inflation in 

recent years. Prices of goods and services have been soaring at 

alarming rates, and this has threatened the economic survival of 

some nations and their people. Now and again we hear of complaints 

from countries about the increases in prices. Students and workers 

in Egypt demonstrated against the proposed increases in prices 

by the Government in January, 1977• The oil-producing countries 

in the Middle East continue to increase the prices of their crude 

oil, which in turn forces the oil-importing countries to increase 

the prices of fuel* The increase in fuel in turn increases 

coots of transport, costs of production, and finally costs of goods 

consumed. This acceleration of inflation started at the end of the 

1960s. Two factors were probably responsible for this galloping 

inflation, namely:

1. the disruption of the international monetary system by the U.S. 

balance-of-payments deficit; and

2# the commitment of post-war Governments to policies designed to 

ensure full employment. For most countries, the inflation rate 

reached its peak in the years 1974 and 1975. While developed countries 

seem to be more particularly concerned about the effects of 

inflation, the developing countries are also taking measures against 

inflationary effects. The developed countries have also begun to 

be more concerned about the effects of inflation on accounting 

reports. These reports are supposed to give a fair picture of the



results of operations of an entity in each accounting year 

(reflected in an income statement) and the financial position of the 

entity at the end of the accounting period (reflected in the balance 

sheet) • However, these reports cannot give a true view of the 

financial operations of a company and its financial position in the 

wake of inflation unless the effects of inflation are reflected in 

financial statements* Users of financial statements may not make 

good decisions relating to investment and lending if the financial 

information provided by the financial reports does not take account of 

inflation*

Developed countries, including the United Kingdom, United States, 

Australia and Canada, have begun serious discussions on ways of 

disclosing the effects of inflation in the financial statements* 

Accountants in developing countries are,however, lagging behind in 

voicing or expressing their views on this controversial area of 

accounting, even though the developing countries are the worst hit of 

all countries by inflation. Uganda, for example, has experienced an 

over 500$ rise in prices of some of its commodities in the last five years* 

Britain, on the other hand, experienced an average rate of inflation 

of 15$ in the last five years, recording its highest rate of inflation 

at about 27$ in 1975#

1,2 Interpretation of Inflation

Inflation is expressed differently by different people*

Some talk of price-level changes* Some talk of inflation and

deflation. Others speak of the rising and falling of prices*
an

All that they mean is /increase or decrease in prices of goods
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and services. In the context of the phenomenon of changing 

prices, inflation is used to describe a situation where the 

movement in the average purchasing power of money is declining.

In other words, the general price level is upward. The use of the 

term 'inflation' in this thesis does not in any way imply 

absence of deflation. Both inflation end deflation are kept 

in mind. Inflation is used because the general trend of 

prices has been inflationary since 1945*

It should be noted that changes that are a result of shifts 

in supply and demand for particular goods and services do not 

imply any change in general price level. Chapter 2 of this 

thesis explains this point more fully. Commenting on price 

level changes, Sandilands Report stated:

"The average price movements in practice are only 

meaningful in respect of specific situations. Inflation does 

not exist in quantifiable phenomenon independent of price 

movements in any specific group of individuals or entities 

and is not a phenomenon capable of independent and objective 

measurement affecting all individuals and entities according 

to the selection of goods and services which they buy.... "1

1,3 Inflation accounting or 'accounting for price-level changes'

is a means of reflecting the effects of price changes in the 

financial statements. Inflation accounting incorporates inflationary
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effects in financial statements. It show3 the extent to which 

inflation has affected the accounting values of assets, liabilities, 

revenues and expenses. It is aimed at avoiding a mixture of money 

figures of various purchasing power in the accounts.

Accounting for inflation is aimed at guiding management, 

shareholders, prospective shareholders, creditors and other users 

of financial statements in their decision-mailing. Financial
t

statements conventionally prepared are assumed to satisfy the

requirements of the named parties. This can be true only if prices

of goods and services have remained stable throughout the periods

covered by the financial statements. In reality, however, prices

are never stable. Inflationary trends have been experienced in

the last 30 years. Kenya in particular has experienced remarkable
2inflation since 1972 . As a result, the financial statements 

prepared on the basis of a historical-cost system no longer supply 

sufficient and relevant information to the users of the financial 

statements. Additional information about the effects of inflation 

on accounts is required to make financial statements more meaningful.

One of the problems facing the accounting profession is that 

of determining the best approach to inflation accounting. It is 

extremely unlikely that a "perfect" solution exists. There is no 

general consensus on which of the proposed methods is best • 

Historical-co3t accounting is the conventional accounting system 

which uses historic cost measurements in most situations.

Conventional accounting' and historical-cost accounting are used 

synonymously in this thesis.
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There uro two feasible alternatives to historical-cost 

accounting. One is the use of a general price index in adjusting

the historical costs and is termed 'price-level accounting'. The
/

other is the 'current-value accounting' (or replacement-value 

accounting). Both price-level accounting and current-value 

accounting have been proposed to avoid the short-comings of 

historical-cost accounting. Price-level accounting, which is based 

on historical-cost accountihg, is essentially an extension of the 

latter. Therefore, it does not overcome all of the inadequacies 

of historical cost statements, such as the irrelevancy of the 

historical cost data to current decisions, and the dependability 

of the historical-cost accounting on outmoded generally accepted 

accounting principles, which are currently being criticized. Current- 

value accounting applies current value to items in the financial 

statements, and this system is not therefore based on historical-cost 

accounting.

Because it does not show tho cffectG of price changes in 

financial statements, conventional historical accounting tend3 to 

be less meaningful. The information provided in these conventional 

accounts is misleading. The balance sheet supplies stale information 

with diminished relevance to the present time; "the information is 

too old to help."^

The income statement presents cumulative results of different 

periods of accounting years up to the present, which,although 

helpful, would be improved by being related to the current period. 

Historical cost is not relevant to decision making unless it 

enables the decision maker to predict the future trend of events.



In periods of price-level changes, historical cost must be adapted 

to be relevant. Billy E. Goetz says, "At: least relevant data are

uselesst at worst irrelevant data can lead to serious error."^

Inflation accounting is not an easy task, particularly if 

applied in large manufacturing firms. It requires extra qualified 

accountants and professional valuers to do the job effectively. 

The problems involved in accounting for inflation tend to hinder 

rapid adoption and application of inflation accounting.

It is not my intention to describe bow inflation is caused, 

but to look at the ways by which the effects of inflation can be 

properly reflected in the financial statements.

1.4 Ihtroductcry summary Historical Developments

Much literature has been written on inflation accounting.

Accounting bodies, mainly in U.K.; U.S.; Canada and in Australia,

have advocated both the price-level accocmtlng and current-value 
methods

accountingy'as means of improving accounting information. But the 

problem which has not been resolved is that there is no general 

concensus on any one approach to inflation accounting. Some 

accounting bodies and some individual accountants prefer price-level 

accounting to current-value accounting. Others have an opposite 

view. There are still others who argue that historical cost account

ing is satisfactory and that there is no need for an alternative 

basis.

In U.S., the American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (A.I.C.P.A.) sponsored Accounting Research Study No . 6 

(hereafter referred to as fA2S No. 6f) in. 1961 to study how to



- 7 -

report the financial effects of price-level changes as the me ana 

of disclosure of the effects on all elements of financial 

statements. The study was published in 1963 by the A.I.C.P.A. 

under the title "Reporting the Financial Effects of Price level 

Changes'1. The recommendations of ARS No. 6 encouraged increased 

research into the problem of inflation accounting.

In 1969, the Accounting Principles Board (APB) of the A.I.C.P.A. 

produced Statement No. 3* entitled "Financial Statements Bestated
c

for General level Changes". APB statement No. 3, along with ARS 

No. 6, recommended the adoption of a restatement of historical-

cost Statements of U.S. companies by the general purchasing power 
method. The detailed recommendations are given in Chapter Three of 

this thesis.

• In December 1974, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(F.A.S.B.) issued an Exposure Draft entitled "Financial Reporting 

in the Units of Purchasing Power", proposing essentially the same 

methods as the A.R.S. No. 6 and APB statement No. 3«

In the United Kingdom, discussions on inflation accounting 

have been taking place for the last 30 years.^ However, remarkable 

attention has been attracted only since 1967 when the rates of 

inflation began to increase significantly in the U.K. In 1968 the 

Research Foundation of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 

England and Wales published a paper entitled "Accounting for 

Stewardship in a Period of Inflation." This paper discussed the 

impact of inflation on companies and described in some detail the 

practical procedures required to adjust accounts for changes in 

the purchasing power of money. This approach is similar to that
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of P.A.S.B., ARS No# 6 and APB statement No. 3.

On 14th Hay, 1974, the Accounting Standards Steering
' IT

Committee (A.S.S.C.) of the U.K. published a provisional 

Statement of Standard Accounting Practice No. 7 (S.S.A.P.7) based 

on Exposure Draft No. 8 (ED 8) entitled "Accounting for Changes 

in the Purchasing Power of Money" which had been issued for comment 

on 17th January, 1973. Both ED 8 and S.S.A.P.7 recommended the U3e 

of the current-purchasing-power (c .P .P .)  method of accounting for 

inflation, which is similar to those recommended by P.A.S.B., ARS 

No. j3 and APB Statement No, 3.

In response to S.S.A.P.7, the Sandilands Committee issued a 

Report on Inflation Accounting. The Report recommended Current 

Value accounting and it was published on 23th June 1975. On 6th 

January 1976, an "Inflation Accounting Steering Group", under the 

Chairmanship of D.S# Morpeth, was set up to work on the 

implementation procedure of the Sandilands Report. In November 

1976, the Morpeth Committee issued Exposure Draft No. 18 (ED 18) 

entitled "Current Cost Accounting" and the exposure period for 

comments was to expire on May 31st, 1977. The details of ED 18 

are nearly the same as those recommended by the Sandilands 

Report.

Canadian bodies have made attempts to adopt alternatives to 

historical-co3t accounting. Among the active bodies is the 

Accounting Research Committee (ARC) of Canadian Institute of 

Chartered Accountants (C.I.C.A.)* In July 1975, the committee issued 

an exposure draft entitled "Accounting for Changes in the General
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Purchasing Parer of Money". Although thi3 proposal does not go 

as far as the recommendations of rule-making bodies in some other 

countries, it could, if approved, result in a recommendation that 

general-price-level-restated financial information be published in 

conjunction v.ith conventional historical co3t data in Canada for
O

fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1 1977* In August

1976, the CICA's ARC issued a discussion paper on Current Value

Accounting (CVA). The discussion paper calls for comments from

academicians and practitioners by June 30th, 1977. Australia has

also made tremendous steps in discussing and recommending methods

of inflation accounting. Her approach tends to be very similar to

the U.K. approach on current value accounting. In June 1975» Australian

Accountants produced their exposure draft on current value accounting.

It was a world-first draft from a professional body, a suggested
q

"how to do it" booklet. In May 1975, the Mathews Committee had

been set up in Australia which produced a report on "Inflation and

Taxation", specifically directed to the effects of inflation. The

report stated: "When the rate of inflation passes a critical level

its effects on the taxation system change in kind as well as degree

and it becomes difficult for the economic system to adapt in

conventional ways. The threshold of adaptation has now been passed

and substantial changes need to be made on the basis of both
q

personal and business taxation". In October 1 9 7 6 National 

Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia 

and the General Council of the Australian Society of Accountants 

issued a statement of Provisional Accounting Standards on "Current 

Cost Accounting", which is similar to ED 18 of the U.K.
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In Kenya, the indigenous companies have not attempted what 

might correctly be termed "Inflation Accounting11. Some firms do, 

however, make some periodic revaluations to their fixed assets.

Many of the foreign subsidiaries located in Kenya also make such
/
periodic revaluations. Some of these subsidiaries, including 

Dunlop Kenya Limited and Philips Kenya Limited, are actually 

preparing inflation accounts. In general, however, most of the 

local companies supply insufficient information relating to the 

effects of price changes. A detailed report on the financial 

reporting by these companies is presented in Chapter Pour of this 

thesis. At the end of each chapter of this thesis there is a 

list of references relating to the subject matter discussed in it.

1 .5  Definitions

The following defined terms are included in the thesis: 

l)* Current Cost, in relation to on asset, means its cost 

measured by reference to the lowest co3t at which the service 

potential of that asset, when acquired, could currently be obtained 

by the entity in the normal course of business.

ii). Current Value, in relation to an asset, means value 

to an entity measured in reference to its ♦value* rather than *co8t*.

iii). Historical cost, the original cost of an asset st the 

time of an arm's-length exchange.

iv). Ket Realizable Value, in relation to an asset, means 

the highest amount that could be obtained from selling the asset, 

after deducting all expenses of sale.
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t )« Replacement Value, in relation to an asset, means its value 

based on replacement cost, after adjustment for the expired period 

service potential of the asset.

▼i) Shareholder's Equity, should be read to include Owners* Equity 

in relation to business entities which are not incorporated, 

vii) Use Value, in relation to an asset, is the discounted future 

benefits of retaining an asset. Tfiis is the economic value of an 

asset.

viii) Present Value, is synonymous to economic value of an asset.

-ix) Monetary items, means assets and liabilities, the amounts of 

which are fixed by contract or Statute in terms of numbers of 

shillings regardless of any changes in prices,and includes share 

capital of any class not participating beyond par value in a distribution 

of surplus assets in the event of liquidation*

x±). Replacement Cost,in relation to an asset,is the current purchase 

price of an asset to replace the operating capability of the existing 

asset jit is the maximum loss ©n deprival of an asset suffered by a firm, 

xii). Useful Life, in relation to depreciable asset,meansj-

(a) the estimated period over which the asset is expected to be 

used,or the period in which the benefits represented by the asset are 

expected to be derived in the business entity jar alternatively

(b) the estimated total service,expressed in terms of units of 

production or service,that is expected to be obtained from the asset 

whilst employed in the business entity*
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xi:Li)« One rating Capability, means the ability of the entity, 

at a given time, to provide goodo and/or services in accordance 

with its then existing resources,

/
1 .6  Abbreviations

ft _ " L

The following abbreviations occasionally appear in the 

thesis.

HC - Historic Cost

GPP - General Purchasing Power (a U.S. term).

CPP - Current Purchasing Power (U.K. term).

GPLA - General Price Level Accounting.

CVA - Current-Value Accounting.

CCA - Current-Cost Accounting.

UV - Use Value.

PV - Present Value.

NRV - Net Realizable Value.

RCA - Replacement-Cost Accounting.

SSAP7 - Statement of Standard Accounting Practice No. 7.

SSAP 18 - Statement of Standard Accounting Practice No. 18.

ARS No. 16 - Accounting Research Study No. 6

APB Statement No. 3 - Accounting Principles Board Statement

No. 3.

ASC - Accounting Standards Committee (formerly known as ‘Accounting 

Standards Steering Committee (ASSC)')

A.I.C.P.A - Accounting Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

G.A.A.P. - Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
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F.I.F.O. - Pirst in - First - out (
(inventory Valuation Methods 

L.I.P.O. - Last - in Pirst - out (

F.A.S.B. - Financial Accounting Standards Beard,

ASC - Australian Standards Committee (formerly

called "Australian Accounting Standards Committee

(a a s c )).

A,A,A,— American Accounting Association
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C H A P T E R  T W O

PURPOSE CP ACCOUNTS AND THE CHARACTERISTICS 0? HISTORICAL-COST
ACCOUNT TIN G

2.1 Objectives of Financial Statements

Before v?e look at the inadequacies of historical-cc3t 

accounting discussed in the next section, let us review briefly the 

objectives of financial statements. A discussion of the weaknesses
r

of historical cost accounts will be more understandable if we 

first learn the objectives of preparing the financial statements.

It is the essence of financial statements to communicate 

financial information concerning individual business enterprises 

to users of this information so that they can make intelligent 

economic decisions. The common vehicles of this information are:~

(1) the income statement whose purpose is to summarize the 

results of operations of a business enterpriso during 

the whole of a given current accounting period.

(2) the balance sheet which shows the value and nature of the 

economic resources of the enterprise at a given point

in time,and the related interests of creditors and equity 

of owners in those resources.

Some companies prepare a statement of sources and application of 

funds in addition to the above two financial statements. Management 

requires a cash flow statement in addition to the above statements. 

This statement reflects a forecast of future cashflows.

Financial information is the focal point of public interest
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concerning business. Investors, trade creditors, employees, 

customers, financial analysts, bankers, debenture holders, and 

other parties are interested in an enterprise's financial information 

when making their varied economic decisions, A brief look at each 

party's information requirement can illustrate the purpose of 

financial statements,

(a) The Trade Creditors^are principally concerned with security 

for the payment of their claims and wish to be assured that a 

company is solvent and likely to continue in business, and also 

that it has adequate cash resources to pay its debts promptly as
j

they fall due. The required information can be provided partly 

by the financial statements, but these creditors can in addition 

rely on their own estimates of the company's credit-worthiness, very 

often based on past experience,

(b) Customers would like to ascertain the future continuity of 

supply of their wants by vendors. These customers U3e financial 

information to predict the future supply of their wants by vendors. 

Alternatively, vendors sometimes rely on customers' financial 

information in determining the terms of payment for their goods,

(c) Employees require the financial information when formulating 

and arguing their demands for higher wages better working conditions, 

more fringe benefits, and for educational facilities for their 

children. The higher and more persistent that net annual profits 

are, the stronger the trade Unions' position in demanding higher

wages and non-monetary benefits.
;. . .' - - - ..V • _ J
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(d) Bankers are more concerned about early liquidation of an 

overdraft by regular cashflows than they are about formal security,
A

unless the company's position becomes desperate. They always
c A

demand full managerial accounts and cashflow projections. They use
/ . % iJig ' 4 *
the annual accounts to ensure some security for their money in 

a general way.

(e) Debenture holders This group includes long-term and
( *medium-term lenders. They rely much more upon accounts information 

for assurances that their security is not in jeopardj^ They 

analyse the stability of earnings of a company in the past and 

project it to the future, using the debt ratio and such other 

measures to determine the maximum amount of money they should be 

ready to lend.

(f) Investors include the present shareholders and the potential 

shareholders. The shareholders use the financial information in 

evaluating their return on the assumption of equity risk. The 

equity shareholders' wealth is a function of the efficiency, acumen 

and foresight of the company's senior management.

(g) Tax Authorities assess the corporate tax liability on the 

basis of the financial information provided by the company's 

financial statements.

(h) Financial Analysts use the financial information to analyse 

the strength-and weaknesses of an enterprise.

(i) Management requires frequent financial reports to make 

decisions such as buy-lease, hold-sell, and retain-replace decisions. 

Such decisions require current prices of the items involved.
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The above mentioned parties are among the users of accounting 

information* Their financial information requirements give a good 

indication of the information — providing objectives of financial 

statements. Financial statements should be regarded primarily as 

serving as a basis for decisions relating to the future. These 

statements should, therefore, communicate information concerning 

the past and the present in a manner that provides maximum 

assistance to the user in assessing the future.

To satisfy the various interests of the users of financial 

statements, the financial information provided by the statements 

should be useful. The consideration of usefulness is necessarily 

subjective and will change, for example, with the composition of 

the users of accounts. Secondly, the financial information should 

be fair to various users of accounts with conflicting interests, 

such as employees versus shareholders, vendors versus customers. 

Fairness will require changes in. financial reporting as changes 

occur in the interests of society in business. Thirdly, financial 

statements should be understandable to those who may use them.

This requirement raises some difficult questions: * Should financial 

statements be understandable by presenting as little information 

as possible? Or should financial statements present as much 

necessary financial information as possible?' The two questions 

seem to ask the same thing but they differ in degree. The first 

question implies preparing information as sketchily as possible 

so that it can be comprehended by a layman. This means that the 

necessary details are avoided because they may confuse the users 

of accounts. What then is the reasonable amount of information to



be reported in accounts? The author would be in favour of 

detailed accounts as long as the information reported is material.

Current-value information concerning economic resourcee 

provides the investor with meaningful values. In fact the 

usefulness of financial statements will be increased, as we shall 

see later, if accountants are willing to acknowledge that 

lueasurement, accumulation ahd summarization of the vast array of 

economic data on business is a highly subjective process. 

Objectivity per se hinders the reporting of fairly subjective 

but relevant information.

In summary, the overall objective of financial statements 

is to communicate information about the economic resources of a 

business enterprise and changes in those economic resources. The 

information will be of lesser use if it is not updated to suit 

a dynamic environment.

2.2 Characteristics of Historical-Cost Accounting.

2.2.1 Evaluation of the Underlying Assumptions

An understanding of the real nature of the existing 

inadequacies in financial reporting is essential if there is to 

be hope of reaching agreement on the objectives of financial 

statements. Lee states that "the general principles of historical- 

cost accounting were worked out mainly in the 19th century when 

price levels changed only slowly, and not always in the same 

direction. Its vigorous application began in 1930s when, also, 

the price level was relatively stable in developed countries.
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The distortions through ignoring price chang s over the economic lives 

of most assets except land were not large, and were not considered . 

sufficient reason for departing from asset values established by acts 

of exchange between the entity and outside world...."^ This picture, 

however, changed after 1945- when prices rose steadily year after year. 

Historical-cost accounting is based on rather unrealistic assumptions. 

The system assumes that:*

1 . Prices do not change over time;

2. the original cost of capital is always an appropriate monetary 

equivalent;

3. accumulated depreciation measures correctly the expired portion
*

of fixed assets;

4 * all historical costs are objective, that is, no subjective
4

elements enter in the determination of asset values, in 

determining the amount of depreciation, and the like; and that 

information provided by the system is best for decision making.

The above are among the many misleading assumptions inherent in 

a conventional accounting system. The assumptions do not, however, 

hold in the present dynamic economic environment. Prices have been 

rising in the last 30 years. Markets are hardly perfect. Fixed assets, 

particularly those which last for over five years, are usually 

undervalued. Depreciation based on these values is undercalculated; 

the accumulated depreciation does not reflect the correct expired 

portion of an asset; the profits against which the cost of sale3 

(including depreciation) is charged are overstated.

* These assumptions are integrated from arguments cited by various 
writers and committees including P. Hossnfield and Sandilands 
Committee, both referred to in Chapter One.
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This leads to artificially high earnings ond excess taxes*

IIi3torical-cost accounting is built on basic principles 

and conventions which have been Accepted for many years. The
I

Sandilands Report reveals that historical-cost accounting fhas

been in use at least since the beginning of nodem accounting

in Renaissance times, and its present characteristics were largely

developed in the 19th century to meet the requirements of the 
2limited company 1 The system was developed to safeguard the 

interests of creditors whose risks were increased by the concept 

of limited liability. The characteristics of historical-cost 

accounting were developed against this background.

Historical-cost accounting is based on Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles (GAAP). Calculation of profit according to 

GAAP involves using acquisition cost (the amount that changed 

hands in the original transaction = historic cost) to value assets 

and liabilities.

The defendants of historical-cost accounting argue that it 

is widely understood and is, therefore, more useful to decision 

makers than a more refined measurement that they may not 

comprehend. While managers think they understand GAAP profits, 

they find it hard to make intuitive adjustments for a varying 

rate of inflation. If the above assumptions were true, then 

there would be no need to consider maintaining capital in terms 

of general purchasing power. Nor would there arise the choice between 

maintaining purchasing power and maintaining service potential.

If there were a perfect market, knowing the cost of assets held



would tell us how much it would cost to replace them and how 

much Y/e could exchange them for in the market. However, with 

changing prices in practice, it would not be of much benefit to 

the investor if we tell him what the capital assets of a company
(
cost. Thi3 tells him little of the value about the company's

current financial position. It does not tell him what the exchange

value of the capital is, and thus gives no correct information as

to the company's capacity t6 enter the market and embark on any

other project. Neither does it tell him what funds must be

employed now in order to set up a business similar to the first

started some time in the past. It statistically invalidates many

of the calculations and conclusions that might be made on the
4

basis of such information.

2,2.2 The Basics of GAAP

The Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) upon

which the historical cost basis is built consists of a number of
5accounting conventions, doctrines and rules.

Conventions are generally agreed upon but are not themselves 

tested. The resultant validity of the theoretical conclusions 

rests in a quite fundamental way on validity, that i3 the 

usefulness and realism, of the conventions. Sometimes it is 

suggested that the conventions of historical record accounting do 

actually form the base upon which everything else is constructed.

The Doctrines exist within the boundaries implied by the 

conventions and assist accountants when they are attempting to

©
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apply the principles and rules of accounting. In reality though, 

it is basically the doctrines and rules theaoelve3 which fora the 

part of GAAP that really guide the accounting practioner.

The Principles are the broad theoretical guidelines from 

which deductions are supposedly made to the rules - the procedures 

and techniques of accounting. Supposedly, each rule can be traced 

directly, or otherwise, to the principles.

Basically, it is the conventions and principles which tell 

us why we should use GAAP; the doctrines and rules show us how to 

use GAAP. Thus, if the conventions lack realism, the adequacy of 

the whole structure is in doubt. An example of an accounting 

convention is the concept of ♦Going Concern1 or ♦Continuity' that 

is, the premise that 'the business entity will continue operations 

into the unforeseeable future’. Another convention relates to 

♦monetary valuation', that is, that 'it is necessary and possible 

to express economic events in terms of a common measuring, example 

the shilling'. Note that not all useful information can be 

expressed in monetary terms; but nothing else is in fact shown in 

the accounts. Further, what is not in the accounts is likely to 

be ignored.

An example of doctrines of accounting is conservatism. The 

best known rule of conservatism' is the 'lower of coot or market' 

rule for the valuation of inventory. Under this rule, if the 

historical cost of inventory is below the market value (that is, 

current replacement cost or net realizable value), we would take 

the lower figure for inventory valuation purposes. The use of an 

excessively rapid depreciation method and the overstatement of
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taxation provisions would be other coroion example of practises 

justified by the doctrine of conservatism. This doctrine creates 

'internal inconsistency' in the following manner: the excessive 

depreciation charges in early years understates assets and profits 

initially; after a number of years, these assets ore completely 

written off. By then, depreciation on these assets i3 minimal if 

not nil. This results in an overstatement of profits in later years.

Another doctrine of accounting is 'consistency'. It stipulates 

that a method of accounting already in use should bo continued in 

use. For example, if a firm uses Life for valuation of its stock, 

this method should be used continuously in future to facilitate 

easy comparisons between different periods. If the company changes 

from Lifo to Fifo, the effect of the change (on profits and value 

of stock) should be disclosed in notes to financial statements. 

Other doctrines include 'verifiable objective evidence', 'full 

disclosure' and 'materiality*.

Accounting Principles include the matching principle. For

example, this principle requires that expenses should be matched

with the revenues for which those expenses were incurred. Other
*7

principles are the 'revenue'and 'expense' recognition (or 

realization). Revenue recognition is one of the key features of 

GAAP. Realization in traditional theory essentially means that 

the revenue recognition point is restricted to the time of the sale 

of the goods.

Expense recognition is supposed to occur when we can 

reasonably associate expenses incurred with revenues realized.
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The above discussion gives a brief summary of the basics or 

the foundations of GAAP upon which historical—cost accounting is 

built.

Historical-cost accounting i3 defended by its supporters on 

the grounds that: -

(a) it is simple and understandable,

(b) it is objective,

(c) it has been used for many years and has been improved 

by being critized, this latter point implying that the 

system is the best available for decision maicLng,

(d) it is less costly to prepare.

These arguments cannot, however, justify the usefulness of 

historical-cost accounting in the present years of high inflation. 

As was stated in the early part of this section, the assumptions 

made by the system do not hold true now. These assumptions might 

perhaps have applied in those old days (before 1945) when prices 

were relatively stable, and in those days of different 

environmental conditions from those we are currently experiencing. 

Actually the system is not understandable to most managers. They 

cannot easily interpret a ’pooled' historical amount which is 

made up of different money units of purchasing power. The resultant 

measured amount cf long-term fixed assets gives a wrong reflection 

of the current value of the concerned assets at a balance sheet 

date. Ifor is the historical accounting system 'simple'. Its 

supporters call it simple because of its dubious assumptions. If, 

however, all assumptions were removed, such as that of assuming 

that unit value of money does not change over time, the historical 

accounting system would not be simple.
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Let us turn to some illustrative examples of the weaknesses 

of historical-cost Accounting.

2.2.5 Illustrative Examples of the Harmful Effects of 

Historical Cost Accounting

The following examples demonstrate the misleading data 

produced by conventional statements during inflation, and they 

show that meaningful information can be produced only if the 

conventional accounts are modified.

Example I: A taxi was purchased for Shs. 30,000 and it had a life

of 5 years. The results of each year were:-

Revenues.................... . ........  Shs. 50,000

Less: Cash expenses (including wages) •• 40,000

Cash m a r g i n ................   10,000

Less: Depreciation (on straight line

ba9i s ) ............................. 6,000

Net profit........................  4>000

If none of these profits are distributed, the conventional 

balance sheet at the end of the 5 years would be:-

Capital 30,000 Cash 50,000

Undistributed
profits 20,000 ______

50,000 50,00u

Suppose that all prices have been rising over the five years 

and it now takes Shs. 50,000 to purchase an identical taxi 

(assuming no technical changes). Are there really any profits?

If we tell a layman (non expert) that we commenced operations with

\
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a new taxi, and no cash, and that five years later we are now in 

an identical position, he would say that we have broken oven.^ 

Example 2: In this case we commenced a business with capital of

Shs. 30,000 with which we purchased 5000 inventory items for 

Shs, 6 each. Trading for the first period was (in conventional

accounting):

Revenue (5,000 units 0 Shs. 8).. •• •• •• •• Shs. 40,000 

Less: Cost of sale3 (5,000 units Q Shs. 6) .. •• 30,000

Gross Profit........................ . •• 10,000

Less: Expenses (all in ca3h) .................  5*000

Net profit .............................  5,000

However, during the period, all prices rose by 10$ and the 5000 

items replaced on the shelves cost Shs. 33,000. The balance sheet 

at the end of the period is then:-

Capital •. .. 30,000 C a s h .........

Undistributed Inventory (5000
.. 33,000profits •• •• .. 5,000 units 0 6/50 ). •

•35,000 35,000

It is clearly seen that we are better off by Shs. 2,000 (cash) 

and not by the Shs. 5000’shown in the balance sheet as undistributed

profits.

Example 3: Three identical lots of land (side by side) were

purchased at intervals in a developing suburb for Sh3. 10,000,

Sh3. 20,000 and Shs. 30,000, and they are new worth at least 

Shs. 40,000 each. They are presently rented to a second hand 

car - merchant for a total of Shs. 6,000 per annum (net). This
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gives a before-tax return of 10$ on the conventional total book 

value of Shs. 60,000. Thi3 might give rise to some complacency 

when reported to the owners by their public accountant; but the 

real return is only 5$ (that is, She. 6,000 on Shs. 120,000) and 

this is the relevant information that should be supplied.

The situation worsens when we consider a depreciable asset.

Not only is the denominator understated in the percentage return 

calculation but the numerator (profit) is overstated because 

depreciation is calculated conventionally on low, out-of-date cost 

figures. These two mis-statements of figures combine to produce 

large, incorrect return percentages.

Example 4: Let us suppose that a sum of Shs. 100,000 is obtained

to erect a building and that this money is invested in 8$ 

debentures for a year v/hile some problems concerning the site and 

a building permit are overcome. Whether prices rise or fall or 

remain constant during the year, conventional accounting will show 

a profit of Shs. 8,000 for the interest received. If all prices 

rise by 20$ during the year (and assuming we can still sell the 

debentures for Shs. 100,000) many would argue that the loss of 

20,000 which was incurred through holding the capital in a monetary 

form while the prices rose by 20$ contributes to an overall not 

loss of Shs. 12,000 (that is, Shs,. 20,000 less the interest of 

Shs. 8,000) and that to show a profit of Shs. 8,000 is misleading.

Example 5: A machine is purchased for Shs. 6,000 in year i and

is estimated to have useful life of 6 years. After 3 years, the 

accumulated depreciation is Shs. 3,000 and the book value of the 

machine is Shs. 3,000. But in year 3, an identical machine in the
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market, one-half depreciate^ i3 valued at She. 5»000. This 

shows that the book value of the machine is understated by 

Sh3. 2,000 and that depreciation is being undercharged. This leads 

to overstatement of profits and hence an exaggerated measured 

rate of return on investments.

Here then is a summary of the harmful features of internal 

and external reports and statements based on conventional 

measurement of data:**

The prepared reports and statements:

(1) overstate profits because depreciation is understated 

during inflation, costs of goods sold are also 

understated, and losses incurred on holding monetary 

assets during inflation are ignored}

(2) undervalue most assets;

(3 ) result thus in overstatement of rate of return on capital;

(4) contain incorrect product costs, and hence result in. 

incorrect selling price determinations, wrong decision- 

making on sale contracts, etc;

(5 ) result in incorrect evaluations of management and 

divisional performances (at various levels);

(6) can produce incorrect dividend and profit retention 

decisions;

(7 ) often result in incorrect capital expenditure, replacement, 

make-or-buy etc. decisions being made because of the 

inclusion of out—of—date, stale cost data in the economic 

8nalysi3 performed;
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(8) results in higher taxes because of inflated profits 

(following from number 1 above);

(9) do not shew the effects of price changes (inflation) in 

the accounts.

The following sub-optimum conditions tire experienced when 

using traditional historical cost accounting:-

(a) ^ary duty (tariff) decisions and government price

fixing determinations have been based on incorrect, non-current 

costs over the years. It is possible that the effects on many 

industries have been tremendous.

(b) National income statistics are often most inaccurate

because they are, to a large extent, a summation of accounting

results of thousands of firms and companies, nearly all of which 
in

are incorrect/varying degrees because of (l) and (2) above. This 

i3 a serious matter because national income data forms the basis 

for many decisions by governments, large companies, etc.

(c) Equitable taxation, as among companies on the one hand, 

and as between companies and private individuals on the other, 

cannot be possible until the base allows for deductions for all 

expenses in current prices and for losses incurred through holding 

monetary items (when prices rise).

(d) Capital investments are often channeled into various 

industries by decisions based largely on accounting reports. The 

optimum allocation of resources in our society cannot occur, 

therefore, when profit return on capital, cost figures, etc. 

continue to be produced and leported in incorrect ways.
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The above mused flaws of historical—coat accounting

indicate clearly that both published and unpublished financial

statements of corporate enterprises do not effectively reflect

the economic reality in regard to resources, obligations,

transactions, and other events in the real world of corporate
7

business. In addition the balance sheet based on hi3torical-cc3t 

accounting becomes more and more meaningless as mixed shilling 

balances are accumulated,

2,2,4 Demand for Alternatives to Historical-Cost Accounting,

Because of the weaknesses of the conventional accounting system 

based on measuring historical costs, it has been recommended by 

some people that historical-cost accounting should be replaced by 

a better alternative system. The recommended systems are 'price- 

level accounting' and the 'current-value accounting'. Mr, Robin 

Yfoldron has written:

"•••••• Let us save our clients from the effects of inflation

so far as we can, by giving them the proper information, by

giving them accounts showing the cashflow information, by giving

them accounts showing the impact of inflation on the true earnings

in terms of purchasing power and the needed retentions for the
8replacement of fixed assets needed to earn revenue.” Mr, Waldron 

indicated correctly that for the financial information to be

satisfactory, a funds flow statement should be prepared in addition
%

to the income statement and balance sheet, both adjusted for 

inflation. Cash flow projections should always be prepared for 

internal use by management. The Council of the Institute of
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Chartered Accountants In England and Wales published 

Recommendation XV on accounting for price-level change o in 1952, 

which stated:

"•.... it would be a major development in the building up

of a coherent and logical structure of accounting principles if 

the limitations on accounts based on historical cost could be
Q

eliminated or reduced by an adoption of new principles’. This 

statement affirms the most telling objection to historical-co3t 

accounting, namely, that the system lacks coherence. Mr. Lee 

asserts that "historical-cost accounting is not a system at all, 

but a compendium of practices slowly evolved by accountants over 

the past 6-7 centuries, and clearly formulated only within the last

fifty years...... The Council of the Institute of chartered

Accountants in England and ^ales, in their recommendation XV, 

concluded that "the alternatives to historical-cost which have 

so fax been suggested appear to have serious defects and their 

logical application would raise social and economic issues going 

far beyond the realm of accountancy. The Council is therefore 

unable to regard any of the suggestions so far made as being
g

acceptable to existing principles based on historical cost”. This 

Council ' 9 conclusion seems to have been short-sighted and based 

on little knowledge about the advantages of the alternative 

systems. This conclusion could perhaps be justified in that period 

(1952) when the distortions of inflation were not serious. The 

Council, however, changed its attitude in the late 1960s. Thus, in 

1968, the research committee of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales published a well-balanced study.
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It recommends that accountants should use supplementary calculations!

geared to a general index, as an aid to understanding; and that

companies should 3et aside to an 'Inflation Reserve* any amount by

which the conventional profit exceeds the profits recalculated in

terms of current pounds. Mr. Donald Be vis has also recommended a

change in the current conventional accounting system. He states:

"Everyone, including the historical cost school, is arguing for

a change. If we are to serve the investor, expecially considering

the effects of inflation, technological changes, changes in

sodial philosophies, and changes in consumer desires, I do not

think we can imagine we can ignore this need for change......

On 25th, September, 1975, Mr. W.P.E. Kang, Executive Vice-President

of Russelsteel Tjtd., Montreal, in a panel said: "I really do not

think that management fully appreciates the potentially ruinous

business consequences which are lurking just around the corner
12in the inflationary situation". The reason for this comment is 

that management is not aware of the real, cold, hard fact3 about 

the effects of inflation on the continuity of a business.

It is clear that all decision making rests on information 

about the future and not about the past. Historical data is past 

data and cannot help in predicting the future with reasonable 

accuracy. Consequently, as moct accounting is based on either 

current or past measurements, it will normally be necessary to use 

this information only as a basis for estimates of future trends.

We cannot afford to continue keeping users of financial statements 

ignorant of the true facts of business financial position 

(reflected in balance sheet) and its operating efficiency

o
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(reflected in the income statement). We require a fair Bystem of 

accounting. Y.'e require financial data which can help us to 

appraise with accuracy the efficiency of management performance , 

the solvency of a company, the competitive ability of a company, 

and the relevance of management decisions. Each company strives 

for survival, but no company can continue to survive unless it 

ensures retention of sufficient funds for replacement of assets and 

for expansion. Historical-cost accounting tends to exaggerate 

profits during inflation, and hence also excess payment of dividends 

which may result in eroding the invested capital. Current-value 

accounting, or any other such system, may probably guarantee 

sufficient rententions of funds. We shall discuss the proposed 

alternatives in the next chapter.

Before we begin to examine vigorously the qualities of the 

proposed alternatives to inflation accounting, let us have a 

look at the distinction be tween :-

(a) relative price changes and,

(b) changes in the value of money.

Relative prices changes relate to changes in prices of specific 

assets relative to other assets. It is more or less a concern
Jfor current values of specific assets. The changes in the value
/

of money is a concern for changes in the general price levels. The 

distinction is clearly explained below.

2.5 Relative Price Changes Versus Changes in the Value of Money:

The pattern of price change is such that we find it difficult 

to know exactly whether there has been a shift in the relative
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value of products or whether there has been a general change in 

prices and a corresponding change in the value of money. There may

be a general increase in prices of say 107$ but one may find that
/
some of the prices decreased end some prices remained unchanged.

An increase in general price-level by 107$ indicates a decrease in

the value of purchasing power of money by 107$. If the prices are

changed in such a way that increases in some prices were fully

offset by decreases in other prices, there would have been no

change in the value of money, but the relative value of individual

commodities would obviously have changed. A change in price of any

particular commodity may, but not necessarily, reflect a change

in its real value relative to other goods. The point is that an
a

increase in the price ol^particular good may reflect a change in 

its value relative to all other goods and services in the economy, 

and not simply a change in the size of the monetary measuring 

unit (the shilling)

Illustrative Example

Suppose that a company invests Shs, ICO in year 1 to produco 

a good, X, which is expected to sell for Shs. 150 in year 2. The 

cost of producing X has risen to Shs, 160 in year 2, and because 

demand is strong the company is able to sell X for Shs. 200 in 

year 2, Between year 1 and year 2, prices in general 

throughout the economy have risen by 10?$ (that is the value of money 

has declined by 107$).

UNTVTRSrTY OF NA3ROW 
l i b r a r y
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o

Computation of Income

Method 1 Conventional Accounting Income (with shillings).

Revenue realized in year 2 ............. Shs. 200

Actual costs incurred in year 1 .. .. 100

Monetary income (profit) .............  Shs. 100

t

Method 2 Mixed-shillings income with price gain isolated

Revenue realized in year 2 ..............Shs. 200

Replacement cost at date of sale .. «. 160

Operating margin......................  40

Add: Price gain (Replacement cost of Shs. 160 minus cost
of Shs. 100)....................... 60

Profit.......................................Shs 100

Method 3 Income Measured in Constant Shillings

Revenue in current (year 2) shillings •• •• Shs. 200

Less: Cost of Production expressed in 
year 2 purchasing power (Shs. 100

x 11($).. .. H O

Net income measured in shillings of equal
value She. 90
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Method 4 Combination of Method 2 and 3

4

Revenue realized in year 2 ................. She. 200

Less: Replacement cost at date of sale . .. 160

Operating margin .................  40

Add: Realized gain:

Replacement cost at time of 9ale-Shs. 160 

Less: Cost of sales expressed in year£

P purchasing p o w e r .........  110 50

Profit •• ................. •• She. 90

The accounting income (or conventional income) in method 1 

reflects the entire difference between shillings or revenue and 

cost without regard to the difference between their relative size. 

Under method 2, the effect of changes in specific prices is 

isolated, and the fact that two - thirds of the income is due to 

a price gain is revealed. Both these methods, however, use money 

as the unit of measurement, method 3 uses shillings of constant 

value. Both revenues and cost3 are expressed in year 2 shillings. 

This method 3 showB less profit (Shs. 90) because the firm must 

recover Shs. 110 year 2 shillings in order to be as well off as 

it was when it invested Shs. 100 year 1 shillings in X. Method 4 

is similar to method 3 * hut unlike method 3* it isolates changes in 

specific prices, and the realized gain.

Adjustments of accounting calculations of income for 

inflation are not intended to eliminate the effects of change in 

relative prices. Indeed, the latter effects should not be 

eliminated if income is to be reported correctly, either in



constant prices or in current prices. Changes in the weather, 

technological changes, pressure of population available and 

shifts in demand all imJce for increases in some prices and 

decreases in others, even when the general price-level may be 

stable, A policy destined to maintain a constant general price- 

level must allow for changes in relative prices because 

productivity in different industries moves at different rates*
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C H A P T E R  T H R E E

I APPROACHES TO INFLATION ACC QUITTING

Section I: Proposed Methods of Inflation Accounting

3*1 Price-Level Accounting

Price-level accounting is one of the two approaches to 

inflation accounting Y/hich have been advocated. The other approach 

is current-value accounting. There is, however, considerable 

confusion as to the purposes of these two techniques. Some people 

incorrectly believe that the two techniques are alternatives to 

historical-cost accounting. Although both techniques are considered 

ways of accounting for inflation, they cannot perse be considered 

to be alternatives for remedying the defects of historical-cost 

accounting. Price-level accounting is based on historical-cost 

accounting - it is a restatement of historical cost accounting 

statements, which are expressed in varying values, into statements 

expressed in a single unit of measurement. It is thus essentially 

an extension of historical cost accounting. Obviously, therefore, 

it cannot overcome all the inadequacies of historical cost 

statements. It deals with changes in general price level. It 

relies on a general price index. Current-value accounting, on the 

other hand, deals with specific price changes of individual items; 

it relies on specific price indices or on current market values, 

whichever are more appropriate*

3.1.1. Features of Price-Level Accounting

Price level accounting is often termed general purchasing 

power (GPP) accounting in^mericas, or current purchasing power (CP?)

I
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accounting in Europe. It is also termed price-level restatements, 

or price-level adjustments. The reader should note these 

terminologies when reading this thesis. Price-level accounting 

is predominantly used in thi3 thesis.

The broad objectives of price-level accounting can be 

outlined and analysed from several viewpoints. L. S. Eosen say3:

"In a simple sense, a price-level restatement of historic cost 

data merely converts the yardstick used to that of a single basis. 

In a more technical sense, fluctuations in the exchange value 

of money are isolated, and then withdrawn from price-level restated 

income."^

Price-leve1-restated reports contain data expressed in a
the

common denominator,for example, in shillings of/same purchasing

power. It deals solely with changes in the overall price level.

"It may be considered as a method of accounting in homogeneous
2

units of account of equivalent general purchasing power." It 

aims at maintaining capital in terms of constant purchasing power. 

To achieve this objective, it is necessary to restate shareholders' 

equity, using the appropriate general price index. Capital 

maintenance in terms of constant purchasing power is the concept 

implied in price-level accounting. Balance sheets prepared on a 

traditional historical cost basis are restated in terms of 

general purchasing power of the shilling at balance sheet date, 

using a general price index. In the profit and loss statement, 

this approach results in cost of goods sold and depreciation for 

the period being based on shillings of current purchasing power.

The profit (or loss) for the period includes, as an additional
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item, gains (or losses) on any monetary items,
the

The earliest proposal for price-level accounting in/u.S. 

was made by Henry W. Sweeney in his book, "Stabilized Accounting" 

in 1936. Ke is regarded as the father of this accounting system.

His three objections to conventional accounting werei-

(a) It is not suitable for indicating whether an 

enterprise has approached near the usual goal of 

economic activity (in terms of increase in general 

purchasing power of the owner's investment).

(b) It comines figures that are not expressed in the sane
A

kind of measuring unit, and thus it violates the 

basic mathematical axiom that 'like added to like gives 

like' (an aggregation problem).

(c) It is not complete because it does not include all kinds 

of realized and unrealized profit and loss from changes 

in value of money.
\

Sweeney proposed that the cost-of-living index or, in its 

absence, the best obtainable general index, be used to adjust 

historic cost. Sweeney also recommended a revaluation of what he 

called "real assets" at replacement cost.

In the current inflationary period, restatement of a profit 

and loS3 statement will result in the following effects, which will 

differ from firm to firm:-

(i) When monetary gains are recognized, firms with large 

amounts of debt outstanding may do much better than is 

Shown in conventional statements.

(ii) Income before monetary gain will be reduced for all
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firms. This confirms the often stated view that 

conventionally reported earnings are inflated during 

inflation,

(iii) The percentage increase in profit will be relatively 

low compared to that under conventional accounting.

It is often stated by many companies that profits increased 

by a certain percentage. Iftthe income statement figure are, 

however, restated to balance-sheet-date purchasing-power money, the 

percentage increase will be reduced greatly.—

3.1.2, The Conversion Process

- level adjustments involve several steps of 

conversion. Gererally, there are five steps involved in this 

conversion process!

STEP is

Items in the opening balance sheet of the basic accounts 

are converted into current purchasing power units relating to the 

beginning of the year by:-

(a) adjusting all amounts representing non-monetary items 

by the change in the relevant index (examples, Retail 

Price Index (RPl).in U.K. and Kenya, Gross National 

Product (GNP) Price Deflator in U.S.) between the time 

of acquisition or most recent valuation and the 

beginning of the year, and

(b) Making no a d ju s tm e n t to the amounts representing monetary 

items because these are already in terras of both current 

monetary and purchasing power units relating to the 

beginning of the year.
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Step 1 is only necessary during the first year of introduction of 

price level restatements. In the second and subsequent years, the 

ending CPP (or GPP) balance sheet of the previous year will be 

taken as the opening balance sheet of the year of account without 

further necessary adjustment of it.

STEP 2:

Calculate the loss (or gain) on being a net lender (or 

borrower). A net lender loses while a ret borrower gains during a 

period of rising prices* The reverse occurs during deflation.

STEP 3:
a

Write up the stabilized income statment.A

STEP 4?

All items (both monetary and non-monetary) in the converted 

opening balance sheet for the year ore adjusted by the change in 

the relevant index (RP1 or GNP - Deflator, etc.) between the 

beginning and end of the year in order to express the items in the 

opening balance sheet in terms of current purchasing power units 

relating to the balance sheet date at the end of the year. The 

process is termed "updating" or "rolling forward".

STEP 5:
Items in the closing balance sheet of basic accounts are 

converted into current purchasing power unit3 relating to the end 

of the year by:-

(a) Adjusting all the amounts representing nan-monetary 

items by the change in the relevant index between 

the time of acquisition or more recent revaluation and 

the end of the year; and



(b) Making no adjustment to monetary assets because these are already In 

terms of both current monetary units and purchasing power units 

relating to the end of the year.

3.1.3* Merits of Price — Level Accounting

Price — level restatements of historical-cost data potentially can 

provide useful information for managers as well as for investors, 

prospective investors, creditors, and other users of financial reports.

Such restatements have the following merits

1. The computation of general purchasing power gains and losses may 

prove helpful in formulating policies on methods of financing, on 

distribution of assets in the company, on credit policy, etc.

. 2. The segregation of inflation effects from gross profits can be

helpful in judging the performance of managers. The price - level 

adjusted statements exclude the effects of inflation on the results 

of operations.^" .’hey reveal gains srising from inflation, what the 

"true" profits are, and what real growth has taken place. Sales 

are matched with production costs adjusted to shillings of the same 

value, and costs include depreciation charges based on the same 

shilling value.

3. Restatements adjust accounts for changes in shareholders' purchasing 

power - which -to some people is the ultimate accounting

(see No. 6 below).

4. Restatements retain the objectivity of historical-cost accounting. 

The adjusted statements can at least be interpreted and understood 

as objectively as conventional financial statements.

5. Distortion that accumulates in the measurement of the shareholder's 

equity in an enterprise is removed with the passage of time. The 

historical amount of the investment becomes a progressively more 

meaningless figure as earnings retained in the business from

year to year are added to share capital. But when shareholder^
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equity is restated in terms of current purchasing power, the investment in 

business is reflected in a more informative way#

6* The restated financial statements conform to the same accounting 

principles ps the historical oriented statements of which they 

are extensions or refinements#

7. Comparability of various financial statements is increased.

3.1 #4# Demerits of Price - Level Accounting

Looking at the above enumeration of the advantages of price level 

accounting, some people may jump to the conclusion that it is the best 

method for inflation accountihg. Such hasty and unsupported conclusions 

are unwise# The follovdlng are among the demerits of price - level accounting:- 

1# It does not provide a solution to all problems caused by historical- 

cost statements. Being an extension of historical-cost accounting,

* the price-level adjusted statements retain most of the flaws of 

traditional accounting. The modifications (or adjustments) of 

j historical, costs do not necessarily reflect the current position.

The adjusted financial-statements are also built on the G.A.A.P. 

which are under serious criticisms these day3.

2# It does not reflect the amount of cash available for replacement 

of assets. Although such a reflection i3 not necessary, an 

accounting system should aim at achieving it.

3. Index Problem. What price index is the most appropriate for

adjusting all types of financial statements? Selection of such 

an index is e::tremely difficult. The general price index is 

■prepaid on the basis cf prices of selected groups of



consumer comodi tie 3 with appropriate weights assigned to each 

group to reflect their relative importance to the spending of 

the selected consumers. However, the measurement of changes in 

the ’average' purchasing power of money for consumer goods as 

acquired by an assumed 'average' consumer is subject to limitations 

This is so because different consumers have different spending 

patterns and are affected . not so much by changes in consumer 

prices in general, as they are by changes in the prices of the 

commodities they actually acquire.

Example The purchasing power of a person's savings accumulated 

for the purpose of purchasing a house of a particular type and in 

a particular locality will be affected by changes in the prices 

of house of the type and locality in question, and these changes 

may be quite different from changes in the general consumer price 

index.

Current purchasing power value of the commodities in 

which the firm deals/change differently fvxim the general level of 

prices.

In addition to the weighting problem above, there i3 the 

problem of choosing the goods averagely consumed by a family.

The index is also distorted by: - 6

(a) changes in tastes to new brands over time,

(b) price control and rationing by government,

(c) subsidies and indirect taxes.

critics insist that recording a current 

"monetary gain" relating to outstanding long-term debt would be
(4 ) Seme
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misleading.Price-level accounting regards such a record to be

in order* The critics acknowledge the gain from repaying the debt

in cheaper shillings,but believe that the gain should not be recognized

until it is actually realized by reducing (not sinply by refunding) the 
7

debt* The issue is important for utilities and other highly leveraged

companies because recording the gain currently would increase reported

profits during the inflationary period. This result is contrary to the

general belief that inflation - adjusted profits should be lower

than those reported under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

(5) Using the general price index to adjust the historical cost

of plant, in order to calculate a 'better* figure of depreciation expense,

would coincidentally result in a figure that approximates the

current cost of replacing a plant* This is because not all businesses

are affected by general inflationary factors. They are affected by

particular increases in their operating costs and plant expenditures*

"Therefore,- critics contend that general price - level accounting
8profits reflect neither historical - cost nor replacement value.

The above criticisms of price - level accounting suggest

that the system does not provide a permanent solution to the

inflation - accounting problem. It is only a partial move to inflation

accounting* Many supporters of the system suggest that prepared

price - level accounting statements should be supplementary to the

traditional accounting statements. It is the author’s view that supplements: 

statements would be more confusing than the existing reporting
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System. The laymen users of statements (or non Vv*rsatile users of 

statements) may not understand the precise difference between 

the two reporting systems. This calls for re-education of these 

statement users, for otherwise they will be suspicious of the 

work of accountants. They may say accountants are trying to 

manipulate financial statements for their own benefit.

The view that price - level accounting does not provide

a permanent solution was implied in Hutchins’ expression that

"price-level adjusted financial statements will not solve the

defects of historical-cost accounting, but they will help the

public appreciate the pitfalls of our historical cost framework,

as well as pave the way towards current value accounting. Meanwhile,

research must continue on the development of a new accounting
9framework".

3.2 Current-Value Accounting

Current-value accounting (CVA) or Current-cost Accounting 

(CCA) is one of the proposed alternative approaches to accounting 

for inflation. This particular system has aroused hot debates in 

the past four years. It has received much cupport from 

academicians and practitioners. Some governments, led by tVie 

United Kingdom (U.K.), have also taken interest in this system. 

The U.K. set up a committee chaired by P.E.P. Sandilands, to

study and recommend on current-value accounting. This led to the
the 10publication of/Sandilands Report which is supposed to be 

implemented by the middle of 1977. We shall consider this report
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in greater detail in section II of this chapter,

3*2,1 General Characteristics of Current-Value 

Accounting,

While price-level accounting recognizes the fluctuating 

properties of the monetary unit and attempts to restate recorded 

amounts at a constant unit of value, current-value accounting, 

on the other hand, recognizes only those price changes that 

specifically affect the assets employed by a business. Current- 

value accounting adopts a current value approach to the 

statement of assets in the balance sheet, and also deals with 

problems associated with maintenance of the operating 

capability of the entity. Profit measurement under it is based 

on the principle of matching revenue and expense both expressed 

in current values. The aim of CVA is to set aside the sums 

needed to maintain the physical level of fixed assets and stock.

Current-value accounting covers a wide range of different 

systems whose common feature is that net assets are measured by 

reference to their value rather than to their cost. It attempts 

to present the current value of all resources (assets) and 

obligations (liabilities)at the balance sheet date. It does not 

restate historical cost data as price-level accounting does by 

using a general price index. The current values may be 

significantly different from the cost amounts shown, either in 

conventional historical-cost financial statements or in general 

price-level adjusted cost-based statements.
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Th© term ’value accounting* has no agreed definition*

A question normally raised is: Which variation of current

value should be employed? If one concept of current value ie 

to be most widely used? The feasible options of current value 

accounting are:-

(1) Replacement Cost ( RC )

(2) Use Value or Present Value (PV)

(3) Ifet Realizable Value (NRV)

Die common characteristics of these options is that each 

use8 money as a unit of measurement. The main difference between 

them is that each adopts a different basis of as3et valuation and

a different concept of profit* Replacement - cost accounting cctnes 

close to meeting the dominant requirement of users of financial 

statements;that is, the showing of operating profit and holding 

gains separately.

The three options show net assets at some valuation 

figure and not at cost. Because the net assets are measured by 

reference to their value rather than to their historical cost, the 

system of value accounting results in unrealized holding gains being 

shown in the financial statements of a company when the value of the

net assets is rising
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It in worth noting the following qualities of value 
31accounting:

(1) There are no comprehensive sets of accounting 

standards or operating guidelines on value accounting that have 

been drawn up by the accounting profession.

(2) Value accounting is a 'principle' rather than a 

system, and is at a different stage of development from 

historic-cost accounting which has for many years formed the basis 

of conventional accounting practice.

(3) Information given on the basis of asset valuations 

is more useful and realistic than information based on costs, 

particularly during a period of changing prices.

(4) There is no single agreed basis of valuation and tho

system, therefore, seems to be too subjective to form the basis

of accounts which are to be used .'for many different purposes.

This is the main objection of value accounting. The Sandiland3

Report states: "..... to the extent that each of the various

methods of value accounting i3 founded on a defined basis of

valuation, it may be considered less subjective than conventional

accoimting which permits partial or complete valuations of net
12

assets on a variety of different bases."

(5) Another objection to current-value accounting is that

there is only a remote possibility of valuing intangible as3et3 
a

on ̂regular basis that would be suitable for annual accounts.

In practice, a current valuation must be confined to those assets 

on which the current cost or realizable value can be readily

ascertained lb
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The following are possible 

the tlje options (or techniques) namely

relationships between 

RC, PV, hni HRY%1 ̂  .

Basis of Valuation of Assets

In Case of v/here , The Correct basis of

% Valuation is

1. NRV >PV >RC RC

2. NRV > RC > PV • RC

3. PV > RC ̂ NRV RC

4. PV >NRV >RC RC

5. RC > PV > NRV PV (Asset to be retained)

6. RC >NRV >PV NRV (Asset to be sold)*

* Although NRV>PV, no intention to sell the asset need be 

implied on the part of the company.

The relationships above show that RC lias more economic 

meaning to the firm under most circumstances. RC is almost 

invariably the upper limit to current cost as opposed to NRV, 

or the economic value of the expected future net cash receipts 

from the asset.

In case 1 and 2, the film would be better off by 

disposing of the asset than by using it, since NRV is higher than 

PV. However, the maximum loss on deprival suffered by the firm in

i



these cases in not NRV.itself but RC. This io the eaount required 

to purchase another equivalent asset, the mnxiignn loss the firm 

would suffer if it were suddenly deprived cf the existing asset.

In cases 3 and 4, the firm would be better off by using 

the asset than by disposing of it since PV>NRV. However, as in 

cases 1 and 2, the maximum loss the firm would suffer if deprived 

of its asset is RC which is less than PV. In these cases, therefore 

the value of the asset to the business is RC - the maximum amount 

required to restore the asset.

In cases 5 and 6, RC will not be the value of the asset to 

the business. In these two cases, the firm cannot gain as much, 

by either using the asset or disposing of it, as it would cost 

to replace it. If the firm were suddenly deprived of the asset 

the maximum loss it would suffer must in such circumstances be 

less than the asset's replacement cost (RC), since in these cases, 

if the firm were deprived of the asset and were given in exchange 

enough money to replace it, the firm would be better off than 

it was before being deprived of the asset. In cases 5 and 6, the 

maximum loss the firm would suffer on deprival of the asset will 

be the higher of PV and NRV and these amounts will be the value 

of the asset to the business in cases 5 and 6 respectively.

It may therefore be stated that the value of an asset 

to a company is the written down current replacement cost 

(current purchase price), except in situations where the written 

down current replacement cost is higher than both the 'economic 

value' and the net realizable value' of the asset to the company.
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this
Unde]/circumstance, the value of an asset ic the hicher of 

economic value or net realizable value. This can be verified 

by the table given above (p.5 3 )

Case 5 io the most likely to arise in regard to large 

specialized assets whose use is highly specific to an industry and 

where, as a result, NRV may be zero or near zero.

It is important to note the following

- The choice of any of the three bases (or techniques) of 

valuation doe3 not imply any intention on the par* of the company 

(of retaining, selling or replacing an asset).

- RC is the higher limit of valuation.

- NRV is the lower limit unless it is greater than RC.

- RC and NRV (which are market values) are said to bo objective - 

thus possessing a virtue of historical-co3t accounting.

- U3e value (or economic value - PV) must of course be based on 

a more subjective estimate by management.

- Management must make the decision on whether to use or sell 

an asset utilizing measurements provided by each of the three 

bases (PV, NRV and RC).

X discussion of each of the three techniques

follows.

3.2.1. Replacement-Cost Accounting (RCA)

This is the best known form of value accounting* The 

Current Value Nraft prepared by the Australian Accounting
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Standards Committee, defines replacement coat as "the lowest
the

amount that would have to be paid, informal course of business,
• 15

to obtain an asset of equivalent operating capability." This 

can be contrasted with 'replacement value' which is the asset's 

value based on replacement cost, after adjustment for the 

already expired service potential of the asset. Replacement coot 

may alternatively be defined as the cost of replacing the 

service to which the asset relates.

Basic Concept underlying Replaceirent- 
Cost Accounting

A business enterprise attempts to achieve continuity in 

its operations; and as continuity necessitates replacement 

of assets, charges for the consumption of assets should be based 

on the cost of replacing them. It is unfortunate that the concept 

brings in the idea of some other asset to replace the present 

asset, but it is argued, particularly by economists, that tho 

replacement cost to be entered in the balance sheet is the cost 

of maintaining current operating capacity, "ibis may v/ork in very 

simple cases but can hardly be realistic in most modern industry." 

It is very difficult practically to measure the current capacity 

of a machine and then equate the capacity with the replacing 

machine•

Three essential Features of Replacement-
17Cost Accounting

(l) The amounts are presented in terras of monetary units.



This is an advantage of RCA because money is a modern unit of 

measure of value, and RCA remains in the tradition of historic- 

cost accounting in being based on money as a unit of account*

(2) Valuation of assets is made by reference to cost of 

replacing the services provided by the assets. In the case of 

depreciating assets, valuation is by reference to written-dovm 

current co3t of assets less the accrued depreciation. Replacement 

costs are determined by a variety of methods including the use

of specific price indices appropriate to the assets possessed by 

the company. So far as the balance sheet is concerned, no 

adjustment is required to monetary assets because when the accounts 

are expressed in monetary units they are constant in ’value'. The 

holding gains arising from revaluation of assets are taken into 

balance sheet reserves.

(3) Profit under replacement cost accounting is based 

on the concept of capital maintenance. No sums are Regarded as 

profit until provision has been made to replace the company's 

productive assets as they werxvout; that is the system aims at 

maintaining a company's assets at a constant physical level. The 

depreciation charge is based on the value of fixed assets 

established at the end of the year concerned.

To repeat, the valuation of an asset on the basis of its 

current replacement cost or its current NRV does not imply 

intention either to replace or sell the asset. It is likely that 

many supporters of replacement cost accounting assume that the

- 57 -
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m i n  purpose of an accounting system based on the valuation of 

assets by reference to their current replacement cost is to 

ensure that no suns are classed as profit until sufficient 

funds have been withheld from profits to replace the company • o 

existing assets when they wear out.

Under replacement-cost accounting as normally practised, 

stocks* consumed are charged to the profit and loss account at 

their current replacement cost at the time of sale. Any 

difference between the appraised value and the historic cost 

of stock is transferred to 'stock revaluation reservo.1 So far 

as stocks are concerned, the replacement-cost system will load 

to the figure of 'operating profit' which we consider is the 

dominant requirement of users of accounts.

Advantages of Replacement Cost. Accounting

(1) It gives the user of accounting data additional 

and more relevant information about the economic 

resources of a business and the value in terms of 

the replacement cost of resources consumed during 

any period*

(2) It avoids the use of historical cost and thus it 

removes most of the flaws of historical-cost accounting.

* Stocks in this case do not include fixed assets. The word 
'stock' means 'inventory'
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Objections to Replacement-Coat Accountlng

(1) In periods of falling prices, the application of 

replacement cost leads to depreciation provisions and 

charges to stock consumed which may less than the 

original coct of the fixed assets and st^ck consumed.

This is, in my opinion, rather absurd because the 

accumulated depreciation and total charges to stock

consumed are realistically supposed to be at leaot ftqual to 

the historical cost of the fixed assets and stock consumed 

respectively. Otherwise, it would appear incorrectly that 

replacement-cost profit is greater than historical-co3t 

profit•

(2) It is argued by some writers that replacement-cost accounting 

does not distinguish between changes in the value of money 

and changes in relative prices of specific goods and 

services, and is, therefore, not a technique of accounting 

for inflation. Unlike the above view, the Sandilands 

Committee argued that replacement cost is legitimate to 

describe replacement-cost accounting as a means of 

accounting for inflation as it affects individual companies.*

(3 ) It has been argued that because replacement-cost accounting 

uses a variety of methods including specific indices in 

order to estimate the replacement cost of assets, there

is less comparability between the results of different

* See Sandilands Report, pp. 147 - 148



companies in different industries than there would be if 

a simple general index were used by all companies. The 

Sandilands Committee (see p, 148 of the report) argues to 

the contrary by stating that the results of different 

companies computed on this basis are comparable in terms 

of current costs and values. The Committee believes that 

the U3e Of different indices and methods of valuation 

appropriate to each company i3 what makes the results 
more comparable. It is my opinion that the Sandilands 

Committee is not precisely correct. The correct valuation 

of various assets depends on the experience of the valuers 

and the degrees of their biases in making final value 

judgements. The Committee also assumes that market-8 are 

perfect, whereas there i3 much market imperfection in 

actual fact. The resultant values of assets of a company 

will depend on the availability of information of the 

market for assets, the qualification of the valuers, the 

specific replacement assets available and the time taken 

to value those assets. Different valuers may come out with 

different values of assets of the same company. Such 

variations may actually hinder good comparisons between 

different companies. The comparison 3 3, however, more 
realistic under replacement-cost accounting than under both 

the traditional historical-cost accounting and under price- 

level accounting.

It is too subjective and too difficult to apply in modern
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industry as compared to historical-cost accounting.

Subjectivity arises particularly in valuing items for

which similar items are not being traded in the market,

with valuations being made on the basis of guesses.

Auditors argue that RC is net as objective a measure as

is historical cost which can be verified by reference to

the records of the transaction. "It is also a less prudent

value than historic cost when prices are rising because

it brings into accounts gains which are not realized and
18may never be realized," Bailey argued.

(5) Replacement-co3t accounting may overstate the ’value to 

the business’ of certain assets. If current purchase 

price (replacement cost) were applied to all assets 

during inflation as a measure of their value, replacement- 

cost accounting may overstate the value to the business 

of certain assets whose value is correctly measured by 

their realizable value or economic value. Depreciation 

charges based on replacement cost may thus overstate the 

amount of assets consumed during the year, and would 

therefore not lead to a fair operating profit in the income 

statement.

The overstatement of assets consumed may be worsened if 

•backlog depreciation' is taken into account. If the replacement 

cost of an existing asset at the end of its useful life cannot be 

estimated precisely, the normal depreciation provision based on
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end-of-each year asset value may not in fact lead to an 

accumulated total provision for depreciation equal to the end- 

of-asset-life replacement cost. To aim at accumulating: exactiy 

the required total provision, a firm may add each year 

(except in the first year) a provision to make up the ’backlog* 

of underprovision in the previous years. Hence the use of the terra 

’backlog depreciation’. When current price of an asset is rising, 

backlog depreciation enables an accumulated total provision for 

depreciation equal to the gross (undepreciated) value of the 

asset at the end of its last year of life. If, however, backlog 

depreciation is charged against the profit and loss account, the 

charge for depreciation for the year will exceed the ’value to 

the business' of the assets consumed during the year. To avoid 

this, backlog depreciation should be charged against the related 

revaluation surpluses, rather than to the profit and loss 

account.

Present Value (PV) or Use Value Accounting

Present value is often termed ’’economic value”. It is 

believed to be the most subjective and conceptually most difficult 

of all the three value accounting techniques. It i3 based on 

discounting the future cash benefits of assets - especially for 

individual assets. It is the summation of the present value 

of expected cash benefits of each individual asset over its

useful life.



Features of Present Value Accounting

(1) It is based on the monetary unit as a unit of
9

measurement,

(2) It is based on the principle that assets and 

liabilities should be shown in the balance sheet at 

valuation, that is, at their 'economic value'

(present value).

(3) It discounts future cashflows arising from the use of 

assets over the estimated lives of those assets.

Objections to Present Value Accounting

(l) The present value concept assumes that it is possible 

to determine the future cashflows directly associated with each 

individual asset. This, however, is not practical for all assets, 

How do you determine the future benefits accruing to each of the 

assets which are used jointly? How can you determine future 

cashflows accruing to a factory plant without taking account of 

the machinery in it? Such questions cannot easily be answered. To 

attempt to neasure such benefits must of necessity introduce much 

subjectivity into the measurement,

►From the six cases which arise in ranking KO>, PV, and NRV, 

we said that when RC>FV7NRV, the asset is to be valued at PV. 

However, this is not possible in practice. Following Gee and 

Peasnell's variant rule,1^ the asset could be valued at NRV, but 

because of the resultant absurdity from doing so, the asset should 

be valued at RC. Valuation by use of RC has some disadvantage
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also in that it may end up overstating tho total value of the

firm, but this is less serious than trying to use PV or NBV. RRV 
to

it; objccte^/under this case because of two reasons

(a) In the case of RC^PVTifRV, as3et3 will frequently bo 

fixed assets with substantial costs of transportation, 

such as blast furnaces. The NRV of an asset of thi3 

type may well be negative f in the sense that it would 

be necessary to pay people to take it away. Thu3 

valuation at NRV of, say, a blast furnace would 

incorrectly imply that it is an asset with a negative 

value merely because it falls into the category

RC> PVy NRV. Such absurd valuation could persist for 

many years, given relatively long fixed-asset lives.

(b) If in the case RC'7PV>NRV an asset is valued at NRV, 

the process might well be lengthy, costly and open

to manipulation of income. That is to say, a firm could 

’increase’ the NRV of its end-of-period assets 

relative to its beginning - of - period assets simply 

by searching more diligently for the best market 

price at the end of a period than it did at the 

beginning. In effect, there is no ’given’ net resale 

price; hence it is difficult to see what NRV ’market 

valuation* means in such a situation.

Professor Stamp, opposing the use of PV in asset valuation 

asserted: "According to our rule, value to the firm would be 

economic value; but I suggest that since this is a subjective and 

non-measurable quantity, we would not go far wrong in most
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instances if re treated value to the firm as a net realizable 
. 20

value*.... '■ In such circumstances, NRY certainly appears

to have great virtue of practicability, but the virtue is minimized 

by the weaknesses of its use exemplified in (a) and (b) above. 

Professor Stamp's comment above is an expression of the 

measurement difficulties involved in present-value accounting*

Other opposers* of present value as a general valuation basis 

state that present value is an anticipatory and subjective notion 

based on management’s expectations of future events* Hence, they 

see it as unsuitable for measuring past economic performance and 

current financial position.

(2) The present value measurement concept is a 'pure' 

valuation. Valuations are subjective, comparative, temporal, 

anticipatory and beyond inquiry. This point is similar to those 

preceding, (l)

(3) Economic income and present value are ex ante, while 

a concern for performance implies ex post measures of profit and 

finacial position. For this reason, present value cannot throw 

light on performance.

(4) It does not preserve the distinction between income 

and holding again. In other words, the essential feature between 

income and capital gain is disregarded* All gains (realized and 

unrealized) are taken to the profit and loss account.

* The other opposers to present value include Cee and Feasnell, 
already referred to. (See reference No. 19 at end of this 
chapter). *



(5) It may be possible to get subjective present values 

of individual assets, and hence the sum of their total value to 

the firm, viewed as a whole. The approach of valuing the firm 

through the determination of present value of each individual 

asset may either result in under-valuation or over-valuation of 

the firm.

Conclusion: As far as the balance sheet is concerned, it is the
the

view c-ij/Sandi lands Committee (p. 153) that "present value 

accounting will only prove useful to those companies the value 

of whose assets and liabilities is their 'economic value'. These 

will in the main be companies In the financial sector, particularly 

insurance companies".

3 - 2 - ^  Net Realizable-Value Accounting

Net realizable value, in relation to an asset, means the 

highest amount:.that could be obtained from selling the asset, 

after deducting all expenses of sale# The concept is likely to 

be appropriate to those concerns which contemplate termination 

of business. If a firm anticipates selling its existing machines, 

the valuation of the machines on the basis of net realizable 

value would be most appropriate#

However, the valuation of an asset on the basis of its 

current NRV should not necessarily imply any intention to sell the

asset#
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Net realizable value is a market value (i.e., a market

validated measure) just like replacement cost. The difference

between tlie two is that NRV is ar. Outg^ value while RC ie
21an input value. According to Chambers, all non-monetary 

assets at the end of each period are valued at their current 

market resale prices '(i.e. at their money equivalents). He 

argues that in a world of rapid and accelerating change, the 

best index of business strength is its ability to switch the 

form of its asset holdingsin the market. Commenting on realizable 

values, Langdon has stated:

"Using the current exit value basis of asset valuation, 

the question of what would be the cost of replacing a group of 

assets is not asked; rather, a determination is made of the 

cash value (or money equivalent) the assets would have if they 

were sold off which, in the case of non-monetary assets, would

most likely be their resale value.....  These output prices are

not prices based on liquidation considerations (or other sales 

under situations of duress) but rather are prices based on 

external or independent evidence which can give a good
ii22

approximation of the market value of the asset. This output 

value is to be determined by the market place, and the resultant 

figure represents the true capacity of the firm to change its 

direction and to meet its financial obligations.

The PV (or ’user value’) is not as accurate as the 

market value because it incorporates some assumptions about the 

future which can be very subjective, such as the future consumer
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preferences, economic life of an asset, and the like. Unless 

the reader of the financial statement is made aware on what 

these assumptions are, faulty conclusions concerning the 

performance of the firm can result.

Distinctive Qualities of Net Realizable Value

(1) Assets are valued in the accounts by reference to their 

current resale values.

(2) All figures in the financial statements are referenced to 

the date when the financial statements were prepared. Successive 

financial statements are not comparable in respect of absolute 

amounts since they are in differently dated shillings. The

book value of an asset at balance sheet date of June 30, 1975 

relates to net realizable value of the asset at that date. The 

net realizable value of the same asset in June 30, 1976, is 

likely to be different in both purchasing power of money, and in 

actual figures, from the June 30, 1975 figure. But the ratios 

derived from successive statements may be comparable since a 

ratio is a pure number or percentage and the ratios for a dated 

set of statements are proper ratios.

3,3 Current Value Accounting and Price Iovel
Accounting Contrasted - A Critigue

Fairly detailed evaluation of current-value accounting 

and price - level accounting has been given in the above analysis. 

But we have not made any recommendation as to whether price—level
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accounting or current-value accounting is a better method for 

accounting for inflationary effects, A comparison of the two 

8ysten3 is made below under various topical headings. Each 

element of comparison expresses or implies the better of the 

two systems for each considered function. Our main objective is 

to ensure that, having regard to changes in costs and prices, 

financial reports of accounting entities (in measuring 

performance in relation to resources employed) are relevant, 

realistic and of maximum use to shareholders, creditors, 

management, and to other interested parties having reasonable 

rights to such information.

According to Ian Tilley, an accounting system (or theory)

can be acceptable if it gives affirmative answers to the
23following questions:

(1) Does the theory rest on realistic assumptions?

(2) Is it Internally consistent?

(3) Does it represent the simplest, most readily understood 

explanation of the field?

(4) Does it have the greatest predictive value of all competing 

theories?

(5) Doe8 it meet the goals of accounting? In other words, does 

it produce reports which satisfy the information needs

of the users of accounting reports?

"These tests", Tilley continues, "are quite conventional 

ones in the area of theory testing and, although they may not 

constitute a total evaluation, they are certainly adequate".
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The comparison of price-level accounting with current- 

value accounting below include* most of the above teots.

(i) Capital Maintenance & Profit Measurement

Price-level accounting aims at maintaining capital in 

term3 of constant purchasing power. In other words, it aims 

at keeping shareholders' equity adequate to purchase a very 

wide variety of goods and services, or to purchase goods and 

services the prices of which have moved in line v/ith the general 

level of prices. Profits are said to be available for distribution 

after maintaining the purchasing power of capital. Such a 

concept is only appropriate for organisations whose expenditure 

pattern satisfies and is likely to continue satisfying such 

conditions. Modern industry has, however, variant expenditure 

patterns for which the concept cannot be appropriate.

Current—value accounting is aimed at maintaining the 

operating capacity of a firm. Profit is defined as the amount 

available for distribution after having maintained intact the 

the asset resources, both physical and monetary, which are 

needed to retain the existing potential of the entity for 

providing goods and/or services* This does not necessarily mean 

that assets used up in operations will be, or will net be replaced 

with other identical assets. R* Hill states that "although the 

application of a general price index is needed to offset 

distortions caused by changes in the value of money, only by 

accident and design can a general price revision maintain the
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physical resources of the enterprise intact - it dce3 not

show the amount to be distributed without eroding capital.

To do that would require the recognition of replacement coat
24

of specific assets"

(ii) Valuation of data in Financial Statements

Current-value accounting values the items in the financial 

statements with reference to their market values, or by 

applying specific price indices. Price-level accounting applies 

a general price index to adjust the historical costs of the items 

in the conventional accounts. The proponents of the former system 

contend that current values are more relevant for future 

predictions and for appraising management performance. They oppose 

the use of a general price index in adjusting the historical 

costs by arguing that the indices of various assets do net 

necessarily move in the enme direction or in the some degree of 
raa'Tiitude with the general price index. A general price index 

which can be appropriate for use in all types of entities is 

non-existent. .Firms are affected by changes in the prices of 

the commodities in which they deal rather than by changes in 

prices in general. It is not feasible to tailor the general price 

index to suit all the firms. For those reasons, the contention 

is that current-value accounting tends to be more realistic. 

Depreciation charges based on the current values of assets at 

balance sheet date are also more realistic than the charges based 

on the price-level adjusted values of assets because the latter 

might be a result of applying an inappropriate general-price

index.
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(iii) Problems of Classifying Assets

The adjustments of items in the financial statements 

require that assets should be classified into monetary and non

monetary assets. This is not easy particularly when it comes 

to classifying deferred taxes, deferred investment tax credits, 

and debts denominated in foreign currencies. It is very difficult 

to judge whether a marketable security is monetary or non

monetary, unless it is clearly disclosed by the firm concerned.

Current-value accounting does not entail the above 

stated problems because most valuations are made with reference to 

current market values.

(iv) Departure From Historical-cost Accounting

Price-level accounting is not a departure from traditional 

historical-cost accounting. It adjusts the historical costs 

using a general price index, and tbu3 it is an extension of 

historical-cost accounting. For this reason, price-level accounting 

does not eliminate most of the fldws of historical-cost accounting. 

It is not an alternative system but it is a modification and 

extension of historical—cost accounting. It retains the problem 

of aggregation to the extent that a suitable general-price index 

cannot be found. Money units incurred at different dates may 

not be accurately adjusted to remove the mixture of money units 

of different values that exists under historical-cost accounting.

Current-value accounting places values on assets by 

referring to their current market value or by use of specific

■
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price indices, whichever is the more appropriate. It is an 

alternative to, and not a modification of historical-cost 

accounting. It thus removes most of the distortions created 

by historical-cost accounting. It avoids the problem of 

aggregation. The total asset figure at any balance sheet date 

shov/ money Units of the same value at that time*.

(v) Handling Intangibles

The treatment of intangible assets is the most disregarded

in traditional hi3torical-cost accounting. A mere adjustment of

historic C 0 3 t u n d e r  p r i c e - l e v e l  a c c o u n t i n g  may h a r d l y  im p r o v e

the treatment of the intangibles. Bowe3 and Searle et alia state

that "the accounting for intangibles represent the least

considered area in the entire accounting process with greatest
25

possibility for diverse results.1’ They added that in 

considering the benefit side, the current-value system may 

provide on acceptable answer to recognition of intangible property 

values.” It is, however, doubtful as to whether current-value 

accounting will give any better recognition of intangibles than 

historical-cost accounting. How can one revalue goodwill in 

current terms? The attempt to revalue goodwill necessitate revaluing 

the whole firm, something which is beyond the scope of current- 

cost accounting. This might result in internally generated 

"goodwill”, and this would be counter to Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles. Copyrights, patents, trademarks, and other 

intangibles create similar valuation problems a3 exist for goodwill.
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It seems therefore that all Intangibles would not be valued 

differently in the current-value accounts from the values shown 

in the conventional accounts. In other words current-value

accounting will not likely affect the valuation of intangibles.
26

Alexander and Barrington , also believe that intangible assets 

can be shown on financial statements at a nominal value. They 

state that these intangibles 'can be valued*, but the problem of 

valuation are considerably greater than those encountered for 

physical assets.

(vi) Objectivity and Relevance

The supporters of historical-cost accounting claim that 

this system is objective, i.e., that you can verify the cost of an 

asset by referring to an arm's - length transaction. The 

proponents of price-level accounting argue therefore that since 

price-level accounting adjusts the historical costs, it retains 

the objectivity of the asset values. This argument is subject 

to debate, taking account of the fact that an item such as annual 

depreciation is a result of a subjective opinion of the management 

as to the estimate of the life of the fixed assets. Auditors 

also support the objectivity of the historical-cost accounting 

but they do not agree that price-level accounting retains that 

objectivity.

The opponents of current-value accounting claim that the 

system is quite subjective, particularly when it comes to valuing 

units whose equivalent assets are not traded in the market•
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Such assets include complex assets such as blast furnaces. It 

is argued that valuation of such assets is mere guesswork and 

that such valuations may be very biased and subjective.

The main argument is whether the present financial 

statements users require cost figures which can help them to assess 

correctly the performance of management, the prediction of 

future events, and the relevance of the day-to-day management 

decisions. If we accept that current values are more relevant 

for good decision-making and for prediction, then it would pay to 

introduce some subjectivity in valuing assets rather than sticking 

to the objective historical costs which may be of little value to 

good decision making and for predictions about the future. Current 

values tend to have more relevance to the current demands of 

users of accounting reports. Price-level accounting aims at 

keeping constant the shareholders1 equity and not at improving 

the bases of prediction.

(vii ) Price Index Problem

Price-level accounting makes use of a general price index. 

Current—value accounting determines the values of assets by 

referring to their current market values or by using specific 

indices, where these indices are found to be more appropriate. As • 

we have already seen (see point (ii) above), there is no one 

appropriate general price index for all firms. Apart from the 

problems of weighting, a general price index is distorted by 

changes in tastes, price controls and rationing by government, and



by subsidies and taxes introduced by government. Talcing Kenya 

as an example, which index is appropriate to all indue tries 

and companies* Upper income index? Middle income index? Or 

Wage Earners* index? Even if v/e cnosc, say, the Middle income 

index a3 a fair index for adjustments, we must not ignore the 

problem of compiling the required data, and the problem of 

defining the items consumed by middle income earners. Prof. Bell, 

in his article, quoted Mathews who stated that: "Data which are

measured in different units to begin with cannbt be converted 

to a common basis of measurement merely by applying a common
it o»7convenient factoi .... c-{

Current-value accounting can use internally prepared
6?specific indices, which can be easily worked out by each company. 

Companies can also use specific indices prepared by the 

government, e.g., on the cost of building materials.^

(viii) Maintaining Enough Funds For Replacement

Cui'ront—value aims at retaining enough funds in the firm 

for replacement of assets. This is achieved through matching 

current costs to revenue. During inflation, such a practice reduces 

the amount of profits distributable to shareholders. The higher 

depreciation charged against the revenues reduces the reported 

profits considerably. Assuming that holding gains or realizable 

cost savings are treated as non—distributable equity adjustments, 

a firm will be able to retain enough funds for replacements. In 

many cases, however, separate decisions arc made to set aside



fund3 for replacement. Price-level accounting does not precisely 

aim at retaining enough funds for replacement of worn - out 

assets.it is, however, likely that greater retention of profits, 

will be made if the system does not include holding gains as 

part of the distributable profits. Otherwise, the system normally 

regards holding gains as part of business income while current- 

valuo accounting does not.

(ix) Comparison of opera Hons within a company, and also fcetv/een 
different companies

Both ffice-level accounting and current-value accounting 

systems are claimed to improve intra-company and inter-company 

comparisons in terms of their operations performance. The former 

system states accounting data in terms of constant purchasing 

power. This makes it possible to compare the performance of a 

company in a given period, the performance between the last 

balance sheet date and the previous dates. As long as the past 

accounts are 'rolled forward' using a general price index, it 

becomes possible to compare performance between various past 

periods. Such comparison is also possible between different 

companies. But a problem exists when v/e take into account the fact 

that different companies have different balance sheet dates.

Some prepare their final accounts on 30th June, some 30th September 

some 31st December, and some 31st liarch of any year. Even if you 

roll forward the previous data, how satisfactory or meaningful 

is it to compare the performance of different comapnies with 

different balance sheet dates? This is not likely and it is equally
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the
unlikely tnat all firms can be compelled to haWstuu balance 

sheet dates.

Current-value accounting states its data in current values, 

with reference to the market. This can show the true performance 

of a firm at a given balance sheet date, but it does not improve 

comparisons between the past periods and the current period* It 

also does not resolve the problem of comparing performances of 

companies whose financial years end at different dates, because the 

monetary unit has different values and cannot thus be validly 

compared unless prices are stable.

While comparisons between different past periods are 

improved by updating past data U3ing the general price index, 

this comparison is inhibited by the fact that the relative amounts 

of assets and liabilities vary from year to year in any company, 

and also between various companies. Some assets could have been 

disposed of while others could have been acquired. A mere 

adjustment of 1974 accounts to 1975 purchasing-power terms cannot 

give any easy solution to comparison between the operations in 

two years if relative assets and liabilities have been altered.

(x) Measurement of Performance

Internal and external appraisal of a firm is important.

It is the way by which management can assess its performance, and 

also the way in which management's actions can be assessed by 

investors. Managers have to make operating and investment 

decisions. A good measurement system recognizes this distinction 

and guages performance in ways that allow both types of decision
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makers to evaluate the effectiveness of their actions. A good 

measure of operating performance captures 'what really happened' 

and eliminates all the statics in the environment. Thus 

managers rurming plants of identical physical capacity should bo 

charged the same amount of depreciation. The difference in their 

operating profits is then due to effectiveness in their 

decisions.

Investment performance is commonly evaluated by calculating 

the rate of return on investment (EOl). Even without inflation, 

ROI has serious flaws, and inflation complicates natters further 

under historical-cost accounting.

Investors and other external user3 of financial reports 

would prefer a system that reflects a true or fair figure of ROI. 

Price-level accounting, being an adjustment of historical-cost 

accounting, does not improve the evaluative measure greatly but 

at least it makes a positive difference. ROI and other ratios 

like 'assets per share', and 'earnings per share' are fairly 

improved by the use of both price-level accounting and current- 

value accounting systems.

Current value accounting tends to be of greater value 

when management sire making current decisions. For example, when 

management wants to sell, say a machine, net realizable value 

is important. If the machine is to be replaced, then replacement 

cost is important. If the use of the machine is to be continued,

then its economic value (or present value) to the business — its
I

reliability and its output - is important. These are all current
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values* This applies equally "to decisions about inventory*

Management constantly works vdth current costs and values when 

making decisions and taking actions* It seems reasonable,therefore, 

to expect accounting records, management reports, and financial 

statements to reflect these current values.

(n) Internal Consistency

Under historical - cost accounting, rapid depreciation 

methods may be used* These methods, such as the double - declining 

method, tend to produce high depreciation charges in the early 

part of the asset life. As the life of the asset approaches its 

end, the depreciation is quite low if not nil. Ignoring the 

maintenance costs and repair costs, such a practice tends to 

overstate depreciation charges at the initial stages of the asset 

life and understate the depreciation charges at the end of the 

asset life* This is a rather inconsistent measure of depreciation 

particularly if the asset life is initially miscalculated* 

Depreciation charges may be too low in later years when in fact 

the operating capability of the asset is pretty high* What 

management or accountants normally do is to revise the asset life 

and then adjust the depreciation accordingly* This may, however, 

result in mistated prof its, and hence the mistatement of rate of 

return on investment (ROl),earnings per share, assets per share 

and retained eamings for the accounting periods before the asset life 

is revised* Price — level accounting does not solve this 

problem of inconsistency; instead it complicates it* Current — 

value accouting, however, solves the problem because the



81 -

depreciation charge is based on the current value of the assets 

a3 at balance sheet date. The ROIs, earnings per 3hare and other 

ratios aro then fairly stated in the accounts.

(xii) Realism of Assumptions

Historical-cost accounting assumes that the value of

money does not change even during periods of unstable prices.

Both price-level accounting and current-value accounting do,

however, remove this assumption. Price-level accounting assumes

that there is one valid general-price index that can be

appropriately applied in adjusting data of various industries.

This assumption tends to reflect too simple a solution to

inflation accounting. As we have already seen above, such a

universally applicable index hardly exists. Price-level accounting

also often assumes that most expenses, purchases, sales, and

revenues take place evenly during any given year. This

assumption may be appropriate for manufadturing industries but

not for agricultural industries which are commonly faced with

seasonal fluctuations. These latter industries experience more

business when the weather is good than when it is adverse.
it

Current-value accounting assumes that/is possible to 

measure the replacement cost of specialised assets. However, it 

is highly unlikely that replacement cost of a unique plant or 

machinery can be determined. This system al30 assumes, when 

applying present values, that it is possible to project future 

cash flows associated with each specific asset. This is rarely 

true in real life. When applying replacement cost as the basis



of valuing assets, the system creates a wrong reflection that

an entity will continue to operate in the same line of business 

indefinitely. It also assumes that the firm will replace an asset 

with an identical asset, thus implying that the firm will continue 

to manufacture existing products without change or substitution. 

This is not necessarily true in real life. A dynamic environment 

encourages firms to change or modify their businesses constantly.

To sum up, the foregoing comparisons between price-level 

accounting and current-value accounting are not exhaustive, but
\

they tend to show that current-value accounting i3 more 

realistic after some of it3 problems have been resolved. The 

main objectives of current value accounting are to show current 

value of balance sheet items and also to produce a realistic 

measurement of profit available for distribution. Price-level 

accounting aims at showing data of the same purchasing power in 

financial statements, and also to maintain the shareholders’ 

capital. It has been suggested that a combination of both current- 

value accounts and price-level accounts would be an ideal 

system for inflation accounting. But in considering the problems 

encountered in producing the two sets of accounts, the author 

does not foresee the acceptance of the combination by the accounting 

profession. Moreover such a combination is most likely to create 

even more confusion and lack of understanding than either of the 

two systems separately. It would, in addition, be very expensive 

to produce a combined set of the two systems. The benefits to be 

gained would likely be less than the costs.
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SECTION II: HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OS IKFIATICK ACCOUNTING

The tempo of comments on the effects of inflation seera3 

to be accelerating. Henry Sweeray made the earliest proposal 

on how to deal with price-level changes in 1936. His proposal 

was intended to expound what has since been called 'economic 

income', which requires:

(a) recognition of gain or loss on monetary item3, and

(b) charges for such items as plant utilization, which 

represents the current economic value consumed.

The latter element, (b), is to be accomplished by making 

appraisals or by applying replacement cost numbers.

As we shall see below, various professional accounting 

bodies end committees set up by governments have made tremendous 

moves towards implementing the proposed methods of inflation 

accounting. They have shown great interest in trying to help 

the accounting profession but until recently, these bodies have 

been loathe to depart from the 'objectivity' of historical-cost 

accounting. I.5uch has been said in the literature about this 

debatable area of accounting, but little has been put into 

practice.

Some of the bodies, such as the Accounting Principles 

Board ( A P B ) - and the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (FASB) both of the U.S.A. have advocated adoption of price- 

level accounting, while other bodies, including the Sandilands
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Committee(U.K.) and the Mathews Comaittee (Australia) have 

advocated current-value accounting. This indicates that

there is no universal acceptance of one best approach to 

accounting for price-level changes. Even those who argue for 

price-level accounting disagree on the selection of a general- 

price index which can appropriately be applied to all industries 

and companies. The discussion below deals with the accounting 

bodies and committees of a number of countries and their 

contributions to inflation accounting.

3.4 Developments in the United Kingdom and Ireland

The U.K. and Ireland have made remarkable contributions 

to the deliberations on inflation accounting. Both Institutions 

of chartered accountants, and committees set up by the H.K. 

Government, have made notable contributions as we shall see below.

(a) Institutes of Chartered Accountants
/

The subject of inflation accounting has been under 

discussion within professional accounting bodies for at least 

30 years. ̂  The first formal pronouncements by the Institute 

of Chartered Accounts in England and >’ialc3 on the effect of 

changing price levels on accounts appeared in 1949 in
n ^

Recommendation No. 12. In May 1952 the Institute issued further 

Recommendation No. 15s "Accounting in relation to cnonges in 

the purchasing power of Money", which discussed the problem in 

greater detail and examined some of the^methods of full-scale 

inflation accounting, including the index method of adjusting
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account3 to reflect the changes in purchasing power of money.

The Institute of Chartered Accounts of Scotland made a similar

recommendation to its members in 1954, During 1952, the

Institute of Cost and Works Accountants and the Association of

Certified and Corporate Accountants both published books

which advocated accounting for price-level changes mainly on a

replacement-cost basis. In 1968, the Research Foundation of

the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

published a paper entitled "Accounting for Stewardship in a

Period of Inflation”. This paper discussed the impact of inflation

on companies and described in some detail the practical procedures

required to adjust accounts for changes in the 'purchasing power'
of the

of monejr. Since the publicatioiy^Jtatement of Standard Accounting 

Practice No. 7 (SSAP7), which is discussed below, both Recomme

ndations No. 12 and No. 15 of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 

in England and Wales have been withdrawn.

X
(b) Committees

There are four committees, among others, which have made 

significant contributions in the field of inflation accounting.

These are

(i) The Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) - initially 

called the Accounting Standards Steering Committee 

(ASSC) up to February, 1976.

(ii) Boothman Committee

(iii) Sandilands Committee

(iv) Morpeth Committee.

—



The Accounting Steering Committee (ASC)

This is the Accounting Steering Committee of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants in England and Vfales, in association 

with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland and the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

The ASC (or ASSC before February 1976) issued for comment 

Exposure Draft No. 8 (ED 8) entitled "Accounting for Changes in 

the Purchasing Power of Money" on 17th January 1973. This 

document created increasing debate on inflation accounting 

throughout 1973 and the first part of 1974. The debate was 

intensified by the issue of Statement of Standard Accounting 

Practice No. 7 (SSAP7) on May 14th, 1974, by the professional 

accounting bodies under the same title as that of ED 8.

Both ED 8 and SSAP 7 recommended the use of a general- 

price index for adjusting historical costs for price-level changes. 

SSAP 7 required companies to supplement their conventional 

accounts with statements demonstrating the effect of 'Changes in 

the l^rchasing power of money or. accounts prepared on the basis 

of existing conventions' • This standard was provisional, i.e., 

it was not mandatory upon companies to prepare such supplementary 

statements.

The main features of SSAP 7 are.

(a) Companies will continue to keep their records and 

present their traditional annual accounts in historic pounds (or 

shillings), i.e., in terms of the value of the pound at the time 

of each transaction or revaluation;

-  86 -
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(b) All listed companies should, in addition to issuing 

conventional statements, present to their shareholders a 

supplementary, statement in terms of the pounds at the end of the 

period to which the accounts relate;

(c) The conversion of the figures in the traditional 

accounts into the figures in the supplementary statement is to be 

achieved by means of a general index of the purchasing power

of the pound.

(d) The Standard inquires the directors of a company to 

provide, in a note to the supplementary statements, an explanation 

of the basis on which they have been prepared;' and it is also 

desirable that directors should comment on the significance of the 

figures.

The Sandilands Report (see p. 120) asserts that "the SSAP 7 

backed by the professional accounting bodies who have issued it, 

has gained considerable support among companies as a practical 

method of accounting for inflation".

Note that the variations between proposals for practical

application of the purchasing-power method in itie U.S.A., and in

the U.K. and Ireland arise from the choice of items in relation

to which 'purchasing power' is to be measured. The Financial

Accounting Standards Board (FASB) of the U.S.A. issued an

exposure draft entitled, "Financial Reporting in Units of General
31

Purchasing Power" on 31st December, 1974 which proposed that, 

for the purposes set out in it, the 'purchasing power of money' 

should be related to the 'power of money to purchase all items
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of goods and services1 and hence the use of the term "general 

purchasing power" (GPP). The exposure draft also recommended 

that general purchasing power information should be stated in 

terms of the general purchasing power of the dollar (U.S. money) 

or, here in Kenya, of our Kenyan shilling at the most recent 

balance sheet date* Like the PAS3 exposure draft, SSAP 7 (in 

the U.K.) reoemmends that information should be shown relating 

to the 1 Purchasing: power of money at the current balance sheet 

date;1

For this reason, SSAP uses tho ’Current Purchasing Power' (CPP) 

term.

In contrast to the PASS exposure draft, SSAP 7 recommends

that changes in the purchasing power of money should be measured

in relation to items purchased by individuals (or individual

consumers) for their own personal use, not to all items of goods

and services, which the FASB exposure draft in fact implies in

its proposal. SSAP 7 is, therefore, not based on an attempt to

measure changes in the general purchasing power of money as is

the case v/ith PASB exposure draft. There is, however, no

difference in principal between the two proposals. Their
the

similarity is implied in this thesis in regard to/price-level 

accounting system*

The Boothman Committee

In July 1975, the Accounting Standards Steering Committee

was set up under the leaderonip of Boothman. It published a
32•Corporate Report* commonly known as the Boothman Report*
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This report is similar to the Treublood Report which is 

discussed briefly in the Australian Accountant Journal of 1974.^^ 

Boothman Report stresses at the outset its concern with user needs. 

It statesj-

"Our basic approach has been that corporate reports should 

seek to satisfy, as far as possible, the information needs of 

users: they should be useful. To identify their needs and

thereby arrive at the fundamental objectives of torporata reports, 

it is first necessary to determine who should publish corporate 

reports, and rhy "o54
The Boothman Report asserts that all entities cf significant 

size have an implicit responsibility to report publicly on their 

affairs for the general information of all users outside of those 

charged with t e control and management of an organization.

In addition to the above, the report reviews the positive 

contribution of corporate reports with respect to:-

(a) evaluating the performance of an entity *nd that of its 

management;

(b) economic stability and vulnerability of the entity;

(c) future predictions of prospects, etc.;

(d) compliance with taxation regulations, etc.;

(e) raAiHng economic comparisons (i.e. inter - and intra — 

comparisons) of the operations of companies;

(f) ascertaining ownership and control;

(g) assessing liquidity of a company; and

(h) ascertaining the experience and backgound of company 

directors and other officials.



The report regards companies as having multiple 

responsibility to investors, to shareholders, to employees, 

to management, and to society at large.

Commenting on historical-cost accounting, the Report states

that ’the defects of the historical-cost system under inflationary

conditions can be ameliorated by the use of general index
35adjustment techniques’. It recommended adjustment of historical 

cost in the manner recommended in SSAP 7; end it went on to say 

that the adjusted statements should not be reported as 

supplementary statements, but rather that the two statements 

should be accorded equal status.

The Boothman Committee felt that current-value methods 

of measurements, accompanied by the use of a general index 

adjustment, will in time prove to offer superior means 

.of measuring performance and position. The Report does 

not, hovrever, have a concise central view of the objective 

of business enterprise; Some writers j including Peter 

Sandish^ argue that the Report does not state which version 

of current valuation it had in mind. These writers argue 

that the adoption of the Boothman Report’s recommendations 

would result in a major expansion of the range and volume 

of data appearing in corporate reports, and this would 

increase the cost of preparing the reports further.

36
The Sandilands Report...

This is the most recent report which has aroused much 

debate all over the world. The Report was prepared by the
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Inflation Accounting Committee headed by F.E.P. Sandilands, and 

v/a3 published in September 1975. The Sandilands Committee was 

set up because of the issue by the ASSC of the Exposure Draft 

No, 8 on January 17, 1973. The draft was published on June 25, 

1975. Its term3 of reference are wide-ranging. It has made various 

criticisms about the CPP method which had been recommended by 

the ASSC and SSAP 7.

The Sandiland3 Report based its approach on:

(1) an analysis of historical-cost accounting;

(2) an examination of the effects of price changes on 
conventional accounts;

(3) an examination of the recommendations made by SSAP7; 

and finally,

(4 ) the formulation and presentation of recommendations 

for the adoption of current-cost accounting to remove some 

(if not all) of the flaws of conventional accounting.

The Report concludes that an inflation accounting system should 

show the specific effects of price changes on an individual 

company. It states that recent developments taken as a whole have 

led to inconsistencies, and lack of comparability because of the 

ways in which different companies draw their accounts. The 

Sandilands Report acknowledges the valimble short-term service 

performed by the professional accounting bodies in recommending 

the CPP method for inflation accounting.

The Report attacks the CPP method for various reasons:

(l) The Report contends that the proposal in SSAP 7 that 

CPP statements should be supplementary to historical-cost accounts 

of a company is likely to detract significantly i>om any usefulness



9 2

the CPP method may have. A statement which i3 supplementary 

in character will inevitably have less impact on the leaders or 

on the directors of the company concerned than will a change in 

the conventions used in the accounts themselves,

(2; It is made clear in SSAP 7 that the Retail Price Index

(b p i ) was chosen to adjust historical c*03ts because it was regarded

as the best available indicator of changes in the general purchasing
38power of money to consumers. This inevitably implies that those 

users of accounts who are not primarily to be regarded a3 individual 

consumers will find CPP supplementary statements of limited 

relevance themselves. This is one of the proofs that the 

current purchasing power unit is not equally useful to all users 

of accounts »

(3) The CPP statement which is appended to historical-cost 
accounts retains the elements of historic cost and the inherent 

flaws of historical-cost accounting,

(4 ) The CPP statement fails to show a company's 'operating 

profit'.

(5) The CPP method is potentially misleading by including 

net gains on monetary items which exist only in terms of current 

^purehaoing power units and not in tenns of monetary units.

(6) CPP method shows the extent to which the purchasing 

power of a shareholder's investment has been maintained but in a 

form which is not useful to him for any practical purposes. It 

could be useful if such equity must ultimately be returned to the 

shareholder.

37
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The Report makes other criticisms on GI’P method which the 

author is not able to include here. In conclusion then, the 

Report 3tates that the CPP method docs not provide the best long

term solution to the problem of accounting for inflation because 

it does not remedy many of the deficiencies of historical-co3t 

accounting, and because it introduces a further set of problems by

expressing accounts in terms of a new unit of measurement. Most
the

of the above criticisms of/cPP method are valid, although the

Sandilands Committee tended to over-criticize without taking account
that ^of the fact/the SSAP 7 recommendations were the first of their

kind and made prior to any other developments «•

The Sandilands Report recommends the adoption of current- 

cost accounting whose features are discussed below.

,. 39
R e c ommendations of Sandilands Report

l

(1) Accounts should continue to be drawn up in terms of 

the monetary units (e.g., pounds sterling in the U.K. or Kenya 

Shilling in Kenya). Thus no holding gains or losses should arise 

from holding monetary assets.

(2) The valuation of assets in the balance sheet should be 

baeed on the *value to the business* approach. The principle 

underlying this approach i3 to value each tangible asset of a going 

concern at the sum of money that the firm would lose if it were

to be deprived of that asset and thereafter took action to 

minimize the loss it had sustained.

The Sandilands Committee acknowledges the fact that some
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companies do revalue their assets, albeit irregularly and in 

piecemeal fashion, at balance sheet date. This applies 

particularly to the valuation of property assets. The Report 

recommends extension and standardisation of these companies* 

practices.

(3) A best estimate of *value to the business' of a company's 

assets should be achieved with but a reasonable outlay of resources. 

This, of course, will vary with circumstances surrounding a given 

business. Such estimates provide more useful information than do 

the precise figures of historical-cost accounting.

(4) To the Committee, a system of accounting based on the 

measurement of assets by reference exclusively to RC, IIRV or PV 

is too restrictive and, while useful for certain purposes, is 

unlikely to be as useful for the majority of users as a system 

based on the 'value to the business' concept.

(5) A good valuation of tangible assets (normally referred 

to as 'tangibles'), as recommended by the current value accounting 

system, is dependent on the experience employed in the valuation 

process. /

The Committee, however, declined to contemplate any change 

from the historical-cost basis of measuring intangibles. "The 

problems of estimating the current 'value to the firm of such 

assets are significant' the Committee asserted.

(6) The Committee was not in favour of the principle that 

liabilities should be shown in balance sheets at their 'value

to the business'. Because of the foreseeable and inherent
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difficulties of revaluing liabilities, the Committee declined 

to propose any immediate change in the way liabilities are shown 

under the traditional accounting system. The Committee 

recommended a further study on the treatment of liabilities under 

Current-Cost Accounting.

(7 ) Operating-cost profit (termed as 'Current Cost Profit') 

was believed to be most useful to the majority of the users of 

accounting reports. The Committee recommended that a figure of 

current-cost profit before and after tax should be shown in the 

company's accounts. The concept of current-cost profit requires 

that annual provision for depreciation should be calculated as an 

appropriate proportion of the 'value to the business’ of the com

pany's fixed assets. It also requires a change for stock (or 

inventory) consumed at the time when these stock is being used

up during the year. This means that 'stock profits' (or 'stock 

appreciation') of recent years would no longer flow through the 

income statement.

(8) The charges for labour, interest, expenses save 

depreciation, and cost of sales reflect value to the business if 

wages, salaries and interest and, in the opinion of the Sandilands 

Committee, the items (i.e. wages, salaries, etc.) require no 

adjustment. "In particular, there is no need to adjust interest 

charges to reflect current rates of interest"; and the Committee 

added, "The value to the business of an interest payment is

equal to its cost amount, whether the rate of interest is above or
-  4 0below current market rates"
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(9) A statement showing the sources and uses of funds should 

be attached to companies' published accounts. The Report 

emphasizes that, during a time of rising prices, it is essential 

for a company to keep its liquidity position under regular review 

and a funds statement will show the movement in the net liquidity 

position in the year che accounts are prepared.

(10) The net book value of assets and depreciation on an 

historical basis should continue to be shown in notes to a 

company's current-cost accounts.

The Sandilands Report has received both commendations and 

criticisms. The Report deserves credit for its comprehensive and 

brave recommendations - the only ones of their kind. It has given 

the accounting profession an impetus and has reflected the hopes 

of implementing the suggested methods of inflation accounting. As 

Merret and Sykes have stated, "The most remarkable achievement 

of the Sandilands Committee is that in thi3 most complex of 

subjects it has arrived at fundamentally sound and important 

conclusions without compromise or concession on essential issues; 

it represents a very considerable achievement in its own right, 

and even more by the standards of post-war Committees of this 

kind...',',41

The Report has also encountered many criticisms from both 

academic and practising accountants. The main criticisms include 

the following

(l) The Report lacks empirical research. It i3 based on 

opinions. As Fisher puts it, "the choice of the concept of



profit and capital maintenance is based merely on expression 

of opinion and has not been subject to empirical investigation.... 

The current accounting system proposed by the Sandilands Committee 

should be tested to find out whether users of financial state

ments prefer asset measurement based on the basis of 'value to 

the business1

(2) Treatment of Holding gains;- The Sandilands 

Committee recommended exclusion of holding gains and extra

ordinary items from the profit and loss account. The Committee 

argued that these two items will be recorded through revaluation 

reserves and disclosed in a statement of total gains. Many 

accountants have opposed this recommendation by 3tating that the 

grounds for excluding such gains from profit and loss account 

are unnecessarily weak. Merret and Sykes state that this treatment 

amounts to nothing more than the statement that:-

(a) the profit and loss account without such gains might be 

a better basis for prediction, and

(b) that such gains might not be ’available for 

distribution"4-3 #

Merret and Syke3 also add that the Report lacks empirical evidence 

(a central weakness) and that its conclusion simply rest upon 

the above statements (a) and (b) as expressions of opinion.

(cf. argument (l) above). The second argument of Merret and Sykes

is that"........ . even if both propositions (i.e., (a) and (b)

above) were true, it would in no way prove that a profit and loss 

account excluding such gains should form the basis of price 

control, government contracts, or taxation as the committee
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r e c o m m e n d s " . O n  this issue of holding gains, Fisher comments

that little consideration was given to an all-inclusive concept

of profit. Professor Morley also criticises the Report for its
4.5failure to show the holding gains explicitly.

Morpeth Committee

An ’Inflation Accounting Steering Group' was set up in 

January 6, 1976, under the chairmanship of Mr. D.S. Morpeth, to 

study the feasibility of implementing the Sandilands Recommenda

tions, and also to work out the procedures for implementing the

recommendations. The Morpeth's Committee's working timetable was
46as follows:

September 30, 1976 ----— ---- ---Submit a proposal for an

exposure draft to ASC.

November 30, 1976 — ------------Exposure draft to be puolished

by ASC for comment by February 

28, 1977.

During March, 1977 --------------Analyse the comments

March 31, 1977 --------------Start producing a Standard

Accounting Practice.

July 31, 1977 --------------Submit the Standard to ASC

September 30, 1977 --------------ASC to submit the Standard to

Councils of participating bodies.
I

October 31, 1977 --------------Publish the Standard

The Committee was divided into five working parties 

namely, A, B, C, D, & E, in order to facilitate the total work of



Committee.

The functions 

Working Party A --

Working Party B —

Working Party G —

Working Party D --

Working Party E —

of each working party were as follows: 

to examine the valuation of assets by 

Sandiland8 Report,

to examine the valuation of stock and 

work-in-progress, and the calculation of 

cost-of-sales adjustments, ,

to study the legal problems of implementing 

current-cost accounting, 

to work out the guidelines for the 

implementation of current-cost Accounting, 

to consider the initial reactions of the 

Consultative Committee of the Accountancy 

Bodies (C.C.A.B.), in addition to examining 

the treatment of monetary items, etc. 

recommended in the Sandilands Report,

The Morpeth Committee appears to be working as per their

timetable, except that they have extended the exposure period from

three months to six months (see below). On 30th, November, 1976,

the Committee published the proposed Standard of Accounting

Practice (Exposure Draft No, 18) for comment, and its period of

exposure has been extended from three to six months, expiring

now on May 31, 1977. This means that the ether formally planned

periods may be moved forward accordingly. The draft follows,
%

very closely, the recommendations put forward by the Sandilands 

Committee although it differs on the controversial issue of tVe 

monetary items in company accounts. Monetary assets and
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liabilities are to be sbovm in the balance sheet at their face 

value. An adjustment will not be made in the profit and loss 

account, but the gain or loss resulting from holding monetary 

assets and liabilities will be analysed into its principal 

components and shown in the notes to the accounts. It is suggested 

in the draft that an appropriation account should be produced 

as well as the profit and loss account and balance sheet. The 

appropration account would show:

(1) the current-cost profit or loos for the year;

(2) surpluses or deficits for the year arising from the 

revaluation of assets;

(3) any amounts which the directors believe should be 

transferred to a revaluation reserve to maintain the substance of

the business;

(4) dividends for the year; and

(5) the balance which is to be a transfer to or from the 

general reserve.

On the issue of the treatment of intangibles, the Morpeth 

draft states that these intangibles should be shown in the 

balance sheet at their value to the business only where this 

value can be established. Where such a value cannot be established 

for the intangible assets, they should be noted in the accounts 

although no vulue should be placed on them. Research and develop

ment expenditure carried forward should be valued on a current— 

cost basis.

a s  may be 9een, the nfforpeth Committee’s exposure draft 

(ED 18) differs slightly from the Sandilands Report. The 

difference arises mainly in the treatment of monetary item3, and
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the handling of changes in shareholders* equity. The Morpeth

Committee is making a very important break-through from the

theoretical discussions on inflation accounting to its

implementation stage as an accounting system. Current-cost
.* the

accounting, recommended by^/3andilands Committee and now being 

implemented by the Morpeth Committee, seems to have a bright future 

because of its acceptance both in theory and in practice by the 

academicians and the practitioners. What remains now is working 

out the specific principles which should underlie the current 

cost accounting, if we accept that the G.A.A.P. have some 

fundamental weaknesses and that they are outmoded (see Chapter two). 

If the Morpeth Committee succeeds in its endeavours, it can open 

wide the gate for the accounting profession’s advance on the 

subject of accounting for inflation.

3.5 Development ir the States of America

Further comments on this area of accounting have been 

advanced by the accounting bodies in U.S.A. It seems that the 

U.S.A. is lagging behind the U.K., Australia, Holland, and Canada 

in recommending the best methods of inflation accounting.

The following bodies have, however, made some good 

contributions to the debate on accounting for price-level changes;

(1) Accounting Research Study No. 6 (ARS NO. 6) and the 

Accounting Principles Board (APB), both of the American 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (A.I.C.P.A.).

(2) The Financial Accounting Standards Board (F.A.S.3.)
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(3) Others, including the Securities Exchange Commission 

(SEC).

Accounting Research Study No. 6 (ARS No . 6)

The APB of the A.I.C.P.A. met on 28th April,1961 and

made a recommendation that the Director of Accounting Research be

instructed to set up a project to 3tudy the problem of price-level

accounting. A report had to be prepared in which recommendations

were to be made for the disclosure of the effect of price-level
48changes upon the financial statements. This recommendation led 

to the formation of ’Accounting Research Study No. 6*. The Study 

recommended the use of supplementary statements as a means of 

disclosure of the effect of price-level changes using general 

purchasing pov/er method. It recommended the disclosure of the 

effects on all elements of financial statements. The Study, which 

was the first major study of the subject on accounting for price- 

level changes, was published in 1963 by the A.I.C.P.A. under the 

title "Reporting the Financial Effects of Price level Changes".

The major features of the study are as follows:

(1) It recommended that adjusted financial statements 

should be prepared supplementary to the conventional (historical 

co3t) accounting statements.

(2) It recommended purchasing-power accounting, using 

the Gross National Product Price Index Deflator (CnTP Deflator).

Thus the recommendation of ARS No. 6 were similar to

those of ED 8 & 3SAP 7 discussed in the earlier part of this section.
i
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The recommendations of ARS No. 6 also encouraged increased research 

into the problems of accounting for price-level changes.

Accounting Principles Board Statement No. 3

The Accounting Principles Board (APB) of the A.I.C.P.A. 

continued to explore the problem of inflation in some depth. In 

June 1969, the APB issued Statement No. 3 under the title, "Fina

ncial Statements Restated for General Price Level Changes". The 

Board’s aim was to focus attention on the problem of price-level 

changes and to furnish guidance as to the methods to be used in 

adjusting conventional accounts for the effects of changes in 

dollar purchasing power. - The Board felt that the degree of 

inflation in U.S. at that time was not sufficiently great as to 

cause the conventional accounts to lose their significance.^

APB Statement No. 3 made similar proposals to those of ARS No. 6, 

but the former recommended in addition the adoption of the general 

purchasing power method by U.S. companies. Like the SSAP 7, APB 

Statement No. 3 was in favour of preparing supplementary adjusted 

accounts to the historical cost accounts. Otherwise the rest 

of the procedure of preparing adjusted financial statements is the 

same as that suggested by SSAP 7« The whole conversion proce33 

is the same as that stated in the earlier part of Section 1 of c^is 

chapter.
ft

In general, the emphasis of both ARS No. 6 and AiB 

Statement No. 3 is on the 'purchasing power' method as the best
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approach to accounting for inflation. The APB argues that the 

restatement of conventional accounts for price changes does not 

attempt to deal with specific market changes. The Board alleges 

that adjustments for specific price changes do not deal with 

effects of inflation. It states that the effects of inflation 

are not treated if only specific price changes are recognized.

The Board did not, however, clarify its conclusions, and it would 

seem that the conclusions were based on opinion rather than on 

’tested’ findings.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (F.A.S.B.)

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (F.A.S.B.) is the 

successor of the APB. On December 31, 1974, it issued an exposure 

draft entitled "Financial Reporting in Unit3 of Purchasing Power". 

Comments on this draft were invited, to be submitted by September 

30th, 1975* However, because of lack of good support of the 

draft, the FASB has not been able to issue a Standard on its 

proposals.

The draft proposed essentially the same method as that 

outlined in ARS No. 6 and APB Statement No. 3. The FASB position 

was quoted by Rosenfield as follows: "The general purchasing 

power of the dollar changes. The same dollar amounts in 

traditional financial statements can therefore represent 

different amounts of general purchasing joower. Presenting informa

tion in units of general purchasing power avoids that problem.

The same amounts in the restated financial information represent
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the same amounts of general purchasing power rather than merely
51

amounts of money whose general purchasing power changes!1

The problem with FASB position is that no reason i3 

given as to why financial data should represent amounts of 

general purchasing power rather than aounts of money. Also, it 

offers no means of choosing between its proposals and alternative 

ones.

Other Pevelopement3 in U.S.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the 

American Accounting Association (AM) have also contributed to the 

debate on inflation accounting.

In August 1975, a few days before the release of the

Sandilands Report in September 1975, the U.S. Securities and

Exchange Commission confirmed that it was thinking along similar 
the

lines cS/Sandilands Committee. The SEC issued a draft of 

disclosure regulation that would require disclosure of the 

replacement value of inventories and plant in corporate annual 

reports in order to enable investors to make informed investment 

decisions.

The AAA*s Committee on Concepts and Standards underlying 

Corporate Finance Statements issued its Supplementary Statement 

No. 2 in August 1951 which included a recommendation that 

adjustments should be made by using a geheral price index. The 

method proposed by the Committee placed emphasis on the ownership 

equity rather than on assets.



3.6 Developments in Australia and New Zealand

The trend of the development of inflation accounting in

Australia and New Zealand tends to be similar to those in the

U.K. The Australian professional bodies are actually following in

the footsteps of U.K* bodies* Among the most famous contributions

of the Australian bodies is that of the Mathews Committee, a

Committee which is similar to Sandilands Committee* It brought
52

down its report in Kay 1975. In June 1975, the Australian 

Accounting Standards Committee (AASC) issued a 'Current Value 

Accounting1 Preliminary Exposure Draft. This Draft is often 

referred to as the 'Australian C.V.A. Draft'. In January 1976, the 

Australian Accounting Research Foundation issued Exposure Draft 

No. 6 on the 'International Accounting Standard.' In October 1976, 

the AASC issued a 'Statement of Provisional Accounting Standards' 

on 'Current Value Accounting' the contents of which are similar to 

those of ED 18 of U.K.

The Mathews Report

The 'Committee of Inquiry into Inflation and Taxation', 

under the chairmanship of Professor Russell Mathews, was
53

appointed by the Australian Government in late 1974* Por 

taxation purposes, it proposed indexation of depreciation charges 

and adjustment to current value of the cost of good3 sold.
ft

Commenting on this proposal, the Security and Exchange commission

staged that the approach of the Mathews Report would reflect the

current value of capital consumed in the calculation of taxable 
54income. Commenting on the test which a good tax system should
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Britain. In August, 1976, the CICA Accounting Research Committee 

issued a Comprehensive Discussion Paper on Current Value Accounting. 

Comments on it were requested from the members of the profession 

and from the business and academic communities by June 30, 1977*

The recommendations in the Discussion Paper are in line v/ith 

those of the Sandilands Report, and the Australian C.V.A. Draft.

In Gemany. a Draft Recommendation was issued on 

December 15, 1974, by the Institut der Wirstchaftsprufer in 

Deutschland e.v’ under the title "Accounting for the Purpose of 

Maintaining the ’Substantialistic Value' of an Enterprice." The 

position taken in the Draft was summarized by the CICA Discussion 

Paper as follows:- "The primary objective of the Germany 

recoramendation is to provide supplementary information on how 

much of the annual profit may be distributed and still preserve the 

productive capacity of the enterprise given its existing capital 

structure. Under the proposed German method the information on 

the amount required to maintain productive capacity would be 

provided as part of the annual financial statements of all 

enterprises in the form of a supplementary schedule indicating the 

amount of ’fictitious profit' in proportion to profits.......

Adjustments are required to net income for additional depreciation 

on fixed assets and for productive capacity maintenance in respect 

to inventories. Current entry prices are used to calculate these 

adjustments. However, the adjustments ore made with respect only
5?

to the self-financed portion of fixed assets and inventory." As 

can be seen, the German approach is similar to the previously
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discussed Replacement Cost Accounting. In principle, replacement 

costs are to be used only for non-monetary assets that are marched 

by an amount of the shareholders1 equity.

In Ma^-ico, the Comision de Principios de Contabiladad (or 

Accounting Principles Committee) points out that the comprehensive 

application of a general price index to the accounts is not a 

violation of the historical cost principle, and in its article, 

the committee recommends that companies issue general price-level

e d  usted supplementary statements. ̂  In September 1975, the Committee 

published a more detailed Exposure Draft Study, entitled,

"Proposal for Be statement of Financial Statements for Changes 

in the general price level" whose terms follow the American and 

British Precedents in all important respects. Comments on this 

Draft were due by December 1976.

In the Netherlands, an Exposure Draft entitled "Considera

tions on the act of annual accounts, part 3* chapter iva. 1: Methods 

for the determination of results" was issued by the Tripartite 

Committee of the Nederlands Institut Van Registeraccountants, 

Federation of Enterprises and Trade Unions. Comments on the 

Draft were due by December 31» 1975* The Philips Electrical 

Industries, whose headquaters is in Eindhoven, Holland, has been 

applying a replacement cost—accounting system for the last 40 years. 

The details of the application are given in the next chapter of 

this thesis.
%

South American states have also made 3ome contributions 

on the subject of inflation accounting. Inflation has been 

endemic in this continent. Following ten years of severe inflation
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in Argentina, the Argentinian accounting profession began a

determined compaign in 1965 to gain acceptance of General Price- 
61Level accounting. In 1965, the Bolsa de Comercio de Buenos 

Aires (i.e. Buenos Aires Stock Exchange) offered to sponsor 

a major study on the mo3t appropriate means by which to adapt 

financial statements to inflationary conditions. Not much support 

was gained from the Government for this study. In Chile, where 

annual rates of inflation during 1973 and 1974 were 508$ and 

376$ respectively, the Government has recently acted. In May 1974, 

the Chilean accountancy body approved an accounting bulletin which 

called for supplementary financial statements in the style of the 

proposal in APB Statement No. 3. In December 1974, Chile, 

according to Stephen Zeff^ became the first country in the world 

to require comphrehensive inflation accounting, using a general 

price index, for income tax purposes. Inventories must be stated 

on current-replacement cost basis, the annual increment therein 

being subject to tax.

Black Africa has made no attempt to study the effects of 

inflation in company accounts. South Africa, which is still 

colonized, issued a Discussion Paper in January 1973, recommend

ing replacement cost accounting. Comments on the Paper were due 

on May 23, 1975. What came out of the Paper is not yet known 

to the author. Most of the Black African Countries have not set 

up institutes of accounting which, in collaboration with 

governments, can undertake major studiest such as inflation 

accounting. Kenya is in the process of setting up its own 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and we would hope that



this Institute Trill start to undertake a study of local accounting 

problems as soon a3 it i3 formed. Some of those local problems 

include the discussion on inflation accounting and the minimum 

disclosure requirements to the extent allowable by the local 

environment.
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APPENDIX

Financial Statements Converted To Take Account of Price-
■ ■> ■» ■ m ^rnm  ■ — .  ' — ■ . . .  ■ — — ^  ■ H ■ ■■ ■ ' ■ ^  ■■■■■■»— • • mm ■ ■ ■■ ■ ■■ ■■■ ■■ i i m

Level Changes

The aim of this Appendix is to illustrate how a general 

price index can be used in adjusting financial statements. This 

appendix is divided into three parts:

3 - A) Tables of Kenya Consumer Price Indices

3 - B) Price Level Accounting-- an Illustrative Example

3 - C) Comments on the results of the Illustrative Example.

3 - A) Kenya Consumer Price Indices

The Kenya Government’s Statistical Division of the Ministry 

of Finance and Economic Planning - the Central Bureau of 

Statistics - is responsible for collecting statistical data on 

price changes and then for preparing the price indices. These 

indices are prepared monthly and are published in the Kenya 

Statistical Digest, which appears quarterly, and in an annual 

Statistical Abstract. These two publications are obtainable from 

the Government Printer, Haile Selassie Avenue, Nairobi. Before 

1969, the cost-of-living indices were prepared for the lower 

and middle income earners only. The indices were reviewed in 1^69 

when the Statistical Division of the Ministry of Finance and 

Planning stctrted to prepare c o s t —of—living indices for three

categories of income earners, namely:

(l) Lower (or Wage Earners) Group. This group include

consumers who earn under 400/— per month.



(2) Kiddle Income Group which include earners of 400/- 

and above but less than 1400/- per month.

(3) Upper Income Group - those earning over 1400/- per month.

In view of the recent high rate of inflation, the present 

price indices need to be revised again so as to be more 

representative of the currently prevailing situation. Salaries 

and wages have more than doubled in the last decade. Minimum wages 

have been raised, and the current social classification of people 

(i.e. classification of people according to their earned income) 

is not suitable. There are few people earning less than 400/- 

per month in modern Kenyan companies. A greater variety of goods 

have been introduced into the market, while some others have 

disappeared. The above factors, Yfith others, reflect the changes 

in expenditure patterns which have rendered the current weighting 

system less useful.

The following are the selected statistical tables which 

the author compiled using data from the monthly consumer price 

indices provided by the Central Bureau of Statistics:
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T A B L E  I

August December
Quarterly Statistical Price Indices: 1971 - 1976

Base: August *77 » 100

1971 1972 1973 1974 1975 1976

L 101.4 104.2 123.6 . 148.1 173.8

U 101.6 105.9 122.0 142.9 164.5

u 100.4 105.9 124.9 139.9 165.2

Aver 101.1 103.5 123.5 143.6 167.8

L 102.4 107.6 130.0 156.3 178.4

M 102.5 108.2 126.6 151.7 168.5

U 101.8 108.5 126.5 147.7 174.1

Aver 102.2 108.1 127.7 151.3 174.0

L 100.2 102.7 115.9 135.8 149.9 181.2

M 100.2 103.4 114.5 130.8 155.0 170.0

U 100.0 103.1 115.3 132.3 152.6 176.7

Aver 101.1 103.1 115.2 133.0 152.6 176.0 '

L 100.4 103.6 119.4 138.3 165.3 182.2

M 100.6 104.7 118.0 134.0 158.1 171.0

U 99.7 104.2 120.5 134.5 156.7 178.8

Aver 100.2 104.1 119.3 135.8 160.0 177.3
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Source: The Central Bureau of Statistics, Ministry of Finance

and Economic Planning.

Notes; The above initials, L, M, U, and Aver; represent the 

following:

L = Lower Income Price Index 

M = Middle Income Price Index 

U = Upper Income Price Index 

Aver= Average Price Index (per quarter) for the three price 

indices (L, M, and U).

The first quarter starts in January and ends in March# The 

fourth quarter ends in December.

T A B L E  2.

Average Price Indices for June & December of Each year (1971 

through 1976).

TEAR JUNE . DECEMBER

1971 100.5

1972 102.5 104.4

1973 109.6 119.6

1974 129.4 1 136.2

1975 153.4 161.8

1976 174.8 177.6

1JNT\ Or NAIRQM

UiiRARX
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Source: Central Statistical Bureau, Ministry of Finance and 

Economic Planning.

Note: Average Price Index (in thi9 context) = Sum of Price

Indices for Lower, Middle, and Upper Income earners

divided by 3*

3 - B. Price-level Accounting: An Illustrative Example

In Section 1 of this chapter, we saw that there are 

five steps in the ’conversion process' of preparing adjusted 

financial statements when using a general price index. The five 

steps are summarized below:

Step 1 Stabilize the balance sheet at the start of the year# 

Convert accounts into current purchasing power units 

relating to the beginning of the year.

Step 2 Calculate the loss (or gain) on being a net lender (or 

borrower)•

Step 3 Prepare the stabilized income statement

Step 4 Stabilize the beginning balance sheet in shillings as at 

the end of the current year. This is done by 'rolling 

forward’ the stabilized balance sheet in step 1.

Step 3 Stabilize the balance sheet at the end of the current 

year (stating the units in shillings of that date).

Below is an illustrative example* of stabilization process. 

Step*4 and 5 are presented together.
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Example

Kimbo Company Limited commenced its business in 1971. The 

following is its balance sheets at 31 December, 1974 and 1975, 

and profit and loss account for the year ended December, 31, 1975*

Conventional Balance Sheet3 at 31 December (in K Shs.)

19741 1975 1974 1975

Land & Buildings 210,000 210,000 Share Capital 200,000 200,000

Stock 150,000 180,000 Profit and 
Loss account

175,000 215,000

Debtors 75,000 90,000 Debentures 50,000 50,000

Cash 90,000 60,000 Creditors 100,000 75,000

525,000 540,000 524,000 540,000

Profit and Loss Account, 1975

KShs.

Sales 800,000

Less: Co3t of sales 530,000

Selling and Admin. 157,500

Debenture interest 4,000 741,500.

58,500

Less: Dividends paid

4 Undistributed Profits 40,000
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Other Relevant Information

1. The following general 

Period

January 1, 1972

January 1, 1973

January 1, 1974

January 1, 1975

June 30, 1975

December 31, 1975

price indices prevailed: 

index 

100.0 

105.0

119.0

135.0

153.0

162.0

2. Land & b u i ld in g s  were acquired on 31 December, 1971. All the 

share capital was issued at the same time (Dec. 31 197l).

3. The debentures were issued at the end of 1974 (when the 

index = 135).

For simplicity, interest on debentures is assumed to accrue on July 1.

4. The s a le s ,  and selling & administrative expenses accrued evenly 

during 1975.

5. The d iv id e n d  was paid on 31 December, 1975.

6. The Kirabo Company uses the FIFO stock flow convention. The 

stock on hand at the end of 1974 was acquired when the price index 

was 135* Pu rchases  during 1975 were KShs. 390,000 when the index 

was 153 and KSh3 . 220,000 when the index was 162.

ft
C o n ve rs io n  P ro c e s s : :  The following is the stabilization based on

the f ig u re s  g iv e n  in the financial statements and the additional

■ ■
information.
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Step 1. Balance Sheet at 1 Jan. 1975 (stated in Sh3. of thnt date).

Land & Building (210,000 x ill)

Shs.

285,500
, 100

Stock 150,000

Debtors 75,000

Cash 90,000

598,500

Share Capital (200,000 X 270,000

Debentures 50,000

Creditors 100,000

Profit and Loss (stabilized) 178,500

598,500

Step 2. Calculation of Loss on holding money 

Loss on net money at start*
27*

(75,000 + 90,000) - (50,000 + 100,000) = 15,000 = 5,000

Add: Sales

Less: Selling & Admin. Exp. 

Less Debenture Interest

Less: Gain on Purchases

800,000

157.500

642.500 

4.000
q##_

658.500 x — -57,600

40,600

590,000 x =22^900

Loss on Holding Koney =17,700

Notes * 162 - 155 = 27: ** 162 - 155 = 9



Step 5. Income Statement for the Year 1975

(stated in shillings as at 31 December 1975)

Sales 800,000 x — r Shs. 847,000155
Less: Cost of Sales:

Beginning Stock 150,000 x ... Shs. 180,000

June 50 Purchases 390,000 x ... 413,000

December 31
Purchases 40,000 x y7y ••• 40,000

633,000

Selling & Admin. ,£2
Expenses 157,000 xyyy.... 166,300

Debenture Interest 4,000 xyyy.... 4i5Q_Q.

Stabilized Income, December 31, 1975.............  43,400

Less: Loss on holding money (see 3tep 2) .........

26,700

Less: Dividend Paid..... .......................... .
7,200

Add: Balance as at start 178 5Co x ̂  ........  -14tC—
(stabilized) 1 155

........  221,200
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Undistributed Profits, December 31, 1975
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Step 4 & 5 Stabilizing Beginning & Ending Balance Sheets 

(stated in shillings of December 31« 1975)

1975 1924

Land & building (210,000x~|) 340,200 .. 233,500x^11 .. 340,200

Stock........ ............... 180,000 *• 150,000r~~135
<

180,000

Debtors...................... 90,000 ...

Cash................. ....... 60,000 ...

670,200 685,200

Share Capital (200,000x~) 324,000 .. 270,000x~| .. 324,000

Profit and Loss a/c 221,200 ..P&L (stabilized)236,200

DGhentnr*f»<?t r-,.T,tT#Tr1.rTT.-.T. 50,000

Creditors .................. . 75.000

670,200 685,200

3 - 0  ____ Comments.

The above five steps provide a comprehensive conversion process 

for the adjustment of historical cost statements* The two 

stabilised balance sheets at start and the end of 1975 can now 

be cumpa.red in equal terms because both are stated in the same 

units of purchasing power as at 31 December, 1975*

Observed effects of stabilisation

1. The value of non-monetary assets is higher when stated in

stabilized figures than when stated in historical cost figures*
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(cf. land & building; historical cost = Shs. 210,000; stabilized 

value = Shs* 340,200)

Note that this characteristic holds during inflation.

The reverse may occur during deflation.

2. Monetary aasets are stated in same money figures in both the 

historic and stabilized financial statements.

3. Undistributed profits figure decreased greatly when the 

financial statements were stabilized. The conventional accounting 

profit (in December 31, 1975 purchasing power units) is Shs. 7,200. 

Thi3 reveals the fact that conventional financial statements

tend to overstate profits during inflation, this leading to

higher taxation based on the conventional accounts profits.
*

4. Stabilization of financial statements make the accounts of 

various years more comparable by stating the units in the accounts 

in same purchasing power terms.

5. The dividends-paid figure remained the same in both historical 

and stabilized financial statements because the dividends are 

assumed to have been paid when the price index was 162.0
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can use the consumer middle income index which is available from 

the Central Bureau of Statistics, Ministry of Finance and 

Economic Planning.

The Kenya Government also prepares specific price indices, 

particularly for building materials. A Construction Cost Index 

is computed on the basis of estimates of changes in the costs of 

each input ( or constituent).
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C H A P T 2 R  P O U R  

. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY COMPANIES IN KENYA

4dA_ Introduction

A research survey was carried on accounting practices by

companies in Kenya. It covered parastatal bodies, public companies,
6

and private companies. .... . Emphasis was laid on capital

intensive companies (i.e. companies with a greater proportion of 

capital to labour) which experience/great impact of changes in 

prices. These companies import most of their machinery and mainly 

from Western Europe 1 where inflation has been remarkably high. The 

companies, therefore, continue to import machinery at inflated prices, 

thereby experiencing an imported inflation. Most of them happen to be 

manufacturing companies whose fixed assets last for a long time 

before they are disposed of as unuseful assets.

This chapter gives a summary of the outcomes of the research.

The summary covers views of financial managers of the surveyed 

companies and also the financial reporting systems in practice.

4-1B Purpose of the Research.

The research was carried out in local companies so as to gain 

knowledge on the following

a) the systems of accounting being practised by the companies;

b) the extent to which inflationary fcffect3 have been reflected 

in the accounting statements;

c) the responses of local companies to the international 

discussions on inflation accounting;

d) any efforts being made towards improving local financial 

reporting.

In addition to the above objectives of the research, the author
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was interested in finding a basis of recommending further 

improvements in the local financial reporting. The author also 

wanted to bring to the attention of local financial managers that 

the University of Nairobi is encouraging greater research on 

inflation accounting.

4-1C Selection Methodology of Surveyed Companies

The author selected seventy companies on a more or less random 

basis. The companies were chosen on the belief that:

a) they were practising inflation accounting to some extent; or

b) they were large enough to be able to prepare inflation 

accounting statements (on the basis of financial ability); or

c) they had business connections or associations with parent 

companies located in Western Europe, Canada, U.S.A. or in Australia

where discussion on infation accounting has reached advanced 

stages (the accounting practises of parent companies are 

likely to be extended to subsidiary companies )j or

d) they were likely to respond positively to the author's 

que s ti omaire s •

In addition to the above selection, the author selected a fow 

parastatal bodies in order to compare their accounting systems 

with those of the commercial firms.

The surveyed companies are classified into two categories, 

namely:-

1# Companies which are quoted on Nairobi Stock Excnange, and 

2. Companies which are not quoted on Nairobi Stock Exchange.

The two classes of companies ore referred to as "quoted comranieo 

and Pnon — quoted companies” respectively in the following analysis. 

Quoted companies v;ere half of all the surveyed companies while t..e
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other half was made up of non-quoted companies, A quarter of 

non-quoted companies were the parastatal bodies.

The quoted companies are required by law to publish their 

financial statements. These statements are, therefore, accessible 

to the public (or external readers) •

Out of 24 companies which returned the writer's questionnaires 

duly completed, there were 13 quoted companies, 8 private companies 

and 3 paras tatal bodies. In analyzing responses from these companies, 

the writer has considered both private companies and paras tatal 

bodies under the class of 'non-quoted* companies. We shall therefore 

have 13 quoted companies and 11 non-quoted companies.

The survey revealed that foreign subsidiaries are keen in 

updating their accounts. This is true as we shall see later because 

directives are issued by parent companies to the effect that 

inflation accounts mu3t be prepared and then sent to those parent 

companies. Our local companies have also started to develop some 

interest on revaluing some assets in the wake of the high inflation 

of recent years, and also because of the great debate on inflation 

accounting in the developed nations. The following table shows 

the coverage of my survey with regard to interviewing financial 

managers and the mailing-out of the questionnaires.



Table 4#1 ST7V5,!ARY 0? SURVEY COV23AO::

Number

1# Companies which received questionnaires ar..* 

were also interviewed

2* Companies which were interviewed but did not 

return the questionnaires they had received

3. Companies which received questionnaires but 

gave negative responses*

4* Companies which were sent questionnares tut 

from whom no responses were received

5. Companies which received questionnaires and

returned them duly completed 24

6. Total number of companies to which

questionnaires were sent# 70

* Negative responses refer to either:
(a) uncouple ted questionnaires which were returned by companies or

(b) written regrets expressing companies' inability in completing 

the questionnaire#
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The table clearly reveals that the responses were fairly 

good. Some questionnaires did not probably reach the right 

persons, and therefore, were not returned. The reason for this 

failure is partly because of the problem of not knowing pi*ecisely 

to whom they should have been addressed. Some companies do not 

have company secretaries, while others do not have chief 

accountants. Letters addressed to any one of such persons 

undoubtedly ended up becoming lost because messengers fail to 

know to whom to give those letters. Presumably some managers 

failed to answer the questionnaire because they had'no t:: ' to do 

so or because the questionnaire was rather technical and 

academic.

Among the negative responses received, some managers 

gave different excuses, such as the ones quoted below: 

f I regret I have not been able to send you your

questionnaire on "Inflation Accounting" as I have been 

very busy.

*• I regret I shall not be able to see you as I shall be

away on leave with effect from tomorrow. 

f The questionnaire is not applicable to our type of

business.

* I am not in a position to complete your questionnaire.

* We are not in a position to assist you as requested.

* We regret that we are not in a position to supply you 

with the information (requested for) or arrange for a 

meeting as the Company is being sold.
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* Our Chief Accountant is at present on leave and will

resume duty towards the end of.....................

* Tfe are therefore not in a position to attend to this 

natter at present. (Note that this firm did not respond 

thereafter up to date - about five months past).

As the above responses show, the writer had requested 

the firms to allow him to visit them in addition to having 

sent them the questionnaire. The writer carried out personal 

interviews with some managers whose views are presented 

below.

Among those interviewed v/as Mr, Denis, the head of the 

Accounting Services in the Kenya Government. He expressed his 

concern over the effects of inflation, and stated that the 

Government experiences the effects of inflation just as any 

company which buys both locally produced goods and imported 

goods. He commented that our local inflation is an ’imported' infla

tion because we import goods from »estem Europe and North America 

where inflation is worse than here in Kenya.

4 - 2  VIB7/5 0? FINANCIAL T.IANAGERS

The survey came out with mixed views as to whether we 

should retain the conventional accounting system, or whethcr 

we should adopt another system of reporting to show clearly the

effects of inflation
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(i) ARGUICTTS IN FAVOUR OP THE CONVENTIONAL ACC QUITTING

SYSTEM

Some financial managers who argued in favour of historical- 

cost accounting stated that it is not misleading at all so long 

as the users of the financial statements understand it. Any change 

or modification of the system may give room for manipulation of 

accounts, and hence, less appropriate custodianship of the 

shareholder’s capital. The managers argued that there is no 

agreement on any one best alternative to historical cost accounting, 

and this reflects the general view that^his tori cal cost system

is still the best.^hg historical accounting system is objective and
simple, and therefore more understandable and less biased. It can 

be understood by both laymen and the intellectuals. One company 

asserted that if the external users, e.g. creditors, need current 

values of assets, they can ask for them and will be given the 

information. (Note that this view falsely assumed that each company 

knows or prepares current values to give to those who need them). 

Historical cost accounting is not misleading for short run 

decisions, but might be misleading for long term decisions. This 

also depends on the nature of the decisions and the intelligence 

of the decision makers. Information provided by the conventional 

accounts is not misleading so long as the users understand the 

basis of its preparation ana so long as we do not experience high 

inflation. (This view assumes that we have not experienced high 

inflation that can force us to think about alternatives to 

historical cost accounting).

During inflation the information provided by the conventional 

accounts may not be misleading so long as* the shareholders Are
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aware of the inflation; they should be aware that Shs, 207- 

last year is not the sane as Shs. 20/- this year, given 

price-level changes. (This view assumes incorrectly that all 

shareholders understand the difference in values between the 

two Shs. 20/-).

• On the question of setting aside funds for replacement, 

one manager retorted: "Setting aside funds for replacement is

not a problem. You need an accurate estimate of the replacement 

cost of the asset to replace the erlisting asset. After 

determining this replacement cost, you can then start setting 

aside funds to achieve the target. Given that there are 

sufficient funds, there is no problem of achieving the target. 

This is particularly so if the accumulated depreciation is backed 

by cash."

(ii) THOSE ONAGERS ..~H0 CRITICISE COITVEITTICHAL ACCOUEITEG 

BUT HAVE NO ALTERNATIVE 'TO ITS USE

There are financial managers v/ho would favour modification 

of conventional financial statements, but have no option and 

have to continue with the historical cost accounting. These 

managers have no suitable measure of inflation. Some stated 

that since the debate on inflation accounting is still continuing, 

they have to wait until a general consensus is reached on one 

best alternative system. Their firms will then follow suit.

Some managers expressed the view that it will take a long 

time before relevant accounting for price level changes takes 

place in Kenya. One chief accountant stated that 5 the 

introduction of Inflation Accounting will create more problems, 

taking into account the fact that accountants cannot even
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prepare good financial statements based on the historical cost 

system.f The accountant said that in theory, inflation accounts 

should be prepared. However, he stated that in practice, inflation 

accounting would probably lead to confusion. He also stated,

"We do not believe inflation accounting will generally be under

stood or accepted in Kenya for some years to come." The same view 

was expressed by many other financial managers. They asserted that, 

since developed nations like the United Kingdom and the United States 

have not agreed to implement any one system of inflation accounting, 

it will take some decades before inflation accounting is fully 

accepted in Kenya. Even the head of Accounting Service in the Kenya 

Government, Mr. Denis, expressed doubt that inflation accounting 

trill be accepted and implemented in Kenya in the near future. He 

indicated that he had been following closely the debate on 

inflation accounting and had concluded that inflation accounting 

may be accepted in theory but may take many years to be implemented, 

even in developed nations. He felt that, in Kenya, the progress 

on such matters as inflation accounting may not advance quickly 

because we do not have an accounting body which can carry out 

studies on such problems and issue reports to the Government,

Mr. Denis added: "The accounting body is going to be created soon.

As soon as the body is formed, v/e shall throw many of the 

accounting problems to it, hoping that it will give us solutions 

to those problems."

Some accountants expressed their fear that inflation 

accounting might be too expensive to implement, let alone the 

problem of its being accepted. They stated that before inflation
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accounting is implemented, the managing directors of firms must 

be convinced cf the justification of the additional costs to be 

incurred* They also stated that inflation accounting would call 

for re-education of managing directors, the shareholders and 

creditors. They added that inflation accounting will create more 

problems of understanding to shareholders, since most shareholders 

do not even understand the historical cost accounts well.

4-3 COliPAflY FINANCIAL REPORTING IN PRACTICE

The corporate reports of the companies in Kenya may be 

divided into two categories:

(a) Corporate Reports which are based on historical 

cost accounting.

(b) Corporate Reports prepare^ on the historic cost

.* basis, but supplemented with inflation accounting

statements.

Category (a) refers to firms which have not yet made 

any attempt to implement inflation accounting, while category 

(b) refers to firms which prepare inflation accounts in addition 

to historical cost accounts. We shall discuss each category 

separately.

When we refer to ’corporate reports, ’ most people : 

think of 'public accounts'. They may be correct. In this survey

my concern was not only with public reports, but also on
management reports (or reports produced for internal purposes only). 

Financial s+atements are important not only to internal manage.i-a -
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but also to the external users, A number of companies have started 

to prepare supplementary inflation accounts to their conventional 

accounts so as to aid their management in decision making.

(a ) rep orting b a s e d  i.i u n l y pit con vent ional accounting syst G.i

Host of the companies in Kenya prepare conventional

accounts without supplementing them with, say, inflation accounts

or supporting schedules which give the current data on operations.

In my survey, 50£* of the companies surveyed indicated that

adjustments are made in their accounts (see Qu. 5 of section 4-4

below). This percentage is, however, exaggerated because 3ome

of these companies have made only one or two revaluations of some

of their fixed assets - mainly land, and plant and machinery. It

is interesting to note that only 8^** of the surveyed quoted (or

public) companies indicated that they make adjustments in their

accounts in order to reflect the impact of inflation (see Qu. 5

Section 4-4). Some companies stated that they cannot change

their policies before they are authorized to do so by their head-

offices. This applies to both local subsidiaries and foreign

subsidiaries. This should not, however, lead to a wrong

conclusion that all subsidiary companies in Kenya do not adjust

their accounts. Quite a number do adjust then, mainly the foreign
the

subsidiaries whose parent companies are ir^Jnited Kingdom, United 

States, Netherlands or Australia. The East Africa Industries and 

Dunlop Companies are among those which adjust their accounts, 

and their parent companies are in the United Kingdom.

* The 50^ of the companies represents |2 companies out of 24 
companies which responded.

** represents one company out oi the 13 quoted comp nies 

responded.
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There are some companies which stated that plans are 

underway to adjust their accounts, but they did not specify how 

long it will take before they begin to make such adjustments. 

Block Hotels Limited, whose name was changed to Kulia Investment 

Limited as from November, 1975, is among those firms which intend 

to make adjustments in the near future. Consolidated Holdings 

Limited started to prepare inflation accounts in line with the 

Sandilands Recommendations at the end of 1976.

Hutchings Biemer Limited, which sells and leases 

furniture, stated that it has not yet thought of making any 

adjustment. In my discussion with its Chief Accountant, I 

learned that the company raises list prices periodically, but 

the accounts figures remain at historical costs. One company 

gave the view that it cannot, start adjusting the accounts 

before the Sandiland Report is accepted. One financial manager 

stated that if adjustments for inflation are allowed, this may 

lead to a "larger element of profit being put to reserves." He 

argued incorrectly that "this will be a new departure from the 

accepted standards of accounting."

Como of the companies in this category* do make 

periodic revaluation on a piece-meal basis to some of their 

fixed assets. Of the total companies surveyed, 33/̂  of them had 

revalued both their building and plant, (see Responses to 

Question 9 of- Section 4-4 below). These percentages may not be 

reliably representative because the total response to ry 

questionnaire was fairly good. The percentage for those firms 

which have revalued buildings is small because some of the firms

* i.e. Companies which base financial data on historical-costs.



- 146

stated that they own no buildings, and they carry out their 

business in leased buildings. For thi3 reason, they do not have 

buildings to revalue.

A good number of the surveyed firms indicated that they

report their fixed assets at both 'cost'and 'valuation'. The following
examples
/kre taken from the balance sheets of Brook Bond Liebig (k ) Ltd. and 

Marshals (E.A.) Ltd. The examples 4-1 and 4-2 respectively may 

reflect the manner in which the local companies prepare their 

accounts.

Example 4-1 BROOKE BOND LIEBIG (k ) LTD.

A 3ECTI0U OF THE NOTES TO BALANCE SHEET AT JU!TE ?Q, 1976

Fixed Assets Land and Euildings Plant Sc Total
Development equipment

K£ K£ K£. K£

Valuation and
Cost:
Valuation

1969...... - - 5,300

1974...... 58,500 - 279,112

1975...... 7,718,600 6,903,500 - 14,622,100

1976...... 1,295,357 283,500 - 1,576,857

Cost 54,805 463,674 2,915,929 3,434,408

9,294,674 7,090,174 2,915,929 19,919,777

Less: Accu
mulated 
Depreciation 2,303 5,269 1,803,212 1,810,784

Net Book Value 
at June 50, 
1976 9,292,371 7,703,905 1,112,717 18,108,993



147

In addition to the above illustration, the company also prepares 

movements of fixed assets during the year. Under this, valuation, 

additions and disposals during the year are shown. The Surplus 

on Revaluation' is also shown separately. All these details are 

given in notes to financial statements.

As the above example show, Brooke Bond Liebig does 

revalue its fixed assets at periodic intervals to reflect the 

effects of price changes on fixed assets. This is actually a partial 

move to inflation accounting.

Example 4-2

MARSHALS (E.A.) LIMITED

PART OP ROTES TO BALANCE SHEET, DECEMBER 31, 1975

Fixed Assets Free- L. Term S. Term Plant and Toted.
hold lease- lease- Equipment
land & hold hold

i building land & land &
building building

31st Dec., -

1974.... 72928 738377 188623 414006 1413934

Additions 24600 82393 2310 62329 171631
K£ K£ K£ K £ K£

Transfers/
Disposals (5919) 5919 (22003) (22003)

31st Dec., 
1975....... 93,609 8,26689 190933 454331 1563562

91,609 281689 80933 454331 908562

Valuation
1969 — 55000 - - 55000

1973 - 490000 110,000 - 600,000

91609 826689 190,933 454,331 1563562
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The above example reveals that Marshals (E.A.) Ltd. revalues 

its fixed assets periodically every 4 years. This has been a 

common practice in many manufacturing companies whose long-term 

asset3 show very low historical booh values compared to their 

current values. The excess of the appraised values over historical 

costs i3 disclosed under ’Reserves' account, and is termed 

'Surplus on Revaluation' or 'Revaluation Reserve' or 'Capital 

Reserve'.

Revaluation tends to reduce the mix of different values 

of money stated as 'cost of fixed assets.' It tends to state 

different money values in approximately the same money values 

as far as purchasing power is concerned. If all fixed assets were 

revalued at the end of each accounting year (thus approaching 

current value accounting), we would not have the aggregation 

problem of mixing different unit-values of money.

Referring to responses to Question 8 of Section 4-4 below,

17 out of 24 firms reported that their depreciation is based 

on historical cost. In the case of quoted companies, 77$ of them 

stated that they still depreciate their fixed assets on the 

historical cost basis. For the firms which depreciate a 'pooled 

cost' of their fixed assets, the depreciation may be on both 

historical cost and appraisal value if periodic revaluation 

takes place.

The firm3 which revalue their assets periodically tend 

to base their valuation on a professional valuer's advice.

9 out of 24 finns which were surveyed indicated that they u 

use valuers reports, (see Question 10 of Section 4—4)

About 10$ of those firms used both valuers' report and specific
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price indices to revalue their assets.

Many firms report their stock at lower-of-cost or net 

realizable value. The term 'cost* means different things to 

different firms, depending on the nature of the stock. It also 

depends on the basis of valuation: whether first-in-first-out 

(F..I.F.O.), last-in-first-out (L.I.F.O.), specific identification, 

weighted average or other basis. Referring to responses to Qu. 20 

in Section 4-4 below, about 8^ of the surveyed firms U3e UFO, 17 

use FIFO, 13"Jo use specific identification, 38?* use weighted average, 

and 13^ use other methods. Among the quoted companies that were 

visited by the author, none of them use LIFO in valuing their 

end-year 3took. Many of them use FIFO.

None of the firms surveyed has attempted to calculate a

gain or loss on cash and other monetary assets. These items are

stated at thoir historical costs (or historical moneys). The values

of receivables and liabilities are fixed by contract, and some 
that

firms stated/there is no likelihood that firms will begin to 

calculate the gain/loss on monetary items in the near future.

E.A. Railways stated that "cash is held at current prices, and 

so there is no need to calculate a loss on holding it." The 

Consolidated Holdings Limited, whose principal subsidiaries include 

the Printing and Packaging Corporation Ltd, Fast Africa Standard 

(Newspapers) Ltd, and Stationary and Office Supplies Ltd, stated 

that it is very difficult to quantify the cost of stock consumed 

during the year, and the cost of holding cash or other monetary 

assets. In theory, however, most firms agreed that the cost of 

holding stock, the cost of holding cash, and the gain on equity



from borrowing should be reflected in the accounts. Over 75^ of the 

surveyed firms indicated that it is necessary to reflect the effect 

of inflation on the cost of holding stock to be consumed during 

the year, on fixed assets, and on the depreciation of fixed assets, 

(see Qu. 3.)

Many firms expressed the view that if inflation accounting 

is adopted, it should cover all areas - i.e. the "all-inclusive” 

principle of inflation accounting. In other words, inflation 

accounting should be reflected on all items of the financial 

statements including revenues and expenses. Brooke Bond Liebig 

is one of the proponents of this view.

Answering the question on the effect of inflation accounting 

to financial users, many firms agreed that the financial statement 

users will definitely benefit from such a move. According to 

responses to Qu. 4 in section 4-4 below, over 75'/̂  of the surveyed 

firms’ indicated that inflation accounting would result in better 

decisions made by financial statements users. About 29/j of the 

firms stated that inflation accounting would confuse the financial 

statement users- Some firms indicated that inflation accounting 

would lead to both better decision making and also to confusion 

because inflation accounts are likely to be more complicated.

The firms which expressed such a view include Grindlays

Bank International, which stated that the information presented

b y  inflation a c c o u n t s  w i l l  g i v e  a  c u r r e n t  p i c t u r e  i n s t e a d

of the historical picture of the affairs of a company. The

b a n k  stated i n  a d d i t i o n  t h a t  t h e  i n f l a t i o n  a c c o u n t s  w i l l  a l3 0  be

"confusing as the readers v/ill not be accustomed to them. Philips,

Harrisons and Crossfield Co. Ltd. stated that inflation accoun-o
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will give both good results and confusing information. Also, the 

cost of producing the more sophisticated figures as well as 

historic figures may well prove to be too time consuming and 

expensive.

Most firms contacted indicated that they do not have a 

policy for setting aside funds for replacement. Many of them stated 

that funds are set aside as the decisions to purchase or to 

replace are made. Such a view was expressed by the Coffee Board of 

Kenya, which reported that it does not set aside funds in advance 

but waits until the decision to replace has been made.

When this decision is reached, the payments to coffee 

growers are reduced accordingly to enable the board to purchase 

the required assets. This view is held because the board has never 

run short of funds, otherwise experience night have been the best 

teacher. The same view was expressed by the Mobil Oil Company, 

although it also stated that its replacement policy is incorporated 

in its budgets.

Under replacement cost accounting^smaller profits are 

reported than under historical-cost accounting during periods of 

inflation. The reporting of lower profits means that more funds are

reserved through higher depreciation based on the current 

values of assets. Firms should in addition have a specific replace

ment policy which ensures that there will be cash when needed.

The inflationary supplement should be incorporated in such a 

policy.

Company officers responsible for budgeting have to 

convince their board of directors that the inflationary supplement
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to be incorporated is sufficient and yet not excessive. The 

efficiency of budgeting depends on past experience. Some of the 

surveyed firms stated that expected price increases are incorporated 

on the basis of past experience and the expected trend of events.

The budget figures are "inflated" by a certain determined 

percentage. Quite a number of firms said that they use an average 

factor of 10$ to inflate the budget. Consolidated Holdings Limited 

uses an inflationary factor of about 15$ to inflate its budgets. The 

chief accountant of East Africa Industries agreed that an inflation

ary factor should be incorporated in budgets especially when 

it comes to projecting the future. In the case of raw materials, 

the chief accountant stated that since the company buys raw 

materials in the world market, the officers in charge of budgeting 

must make an assessment of the market prices on the basis of 

both past trends and the expected trends of those prices. This 

forces the officers to be constantly in touch with the world 

market. The Unga Company Ltd. said that it inflates wages by 

an average factor of 10$ to take account of inflation. "Factors 

for other costs will vary with the items involved," the company 

secretary of Unga Company said. The necessary inflationary factor 

on these item3 Is difficult to determine with reasonable 

accuracy. Problems are created by the uncertainties of the market 

trends of prices, the unpredictable states of market demand 

and supply, and estimates of future negotiation strengths between 

the company and suppliers.

No local company has attempted to show the inflationary 

effects on annual revenues and the expenses incurred to produce 

those revenues. The profit and loss account i3 purely in
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conventional accounting terms. Some companies alleged that these 

revenues and expenses are stated in current terms and that, 

therefore, they do not require any adjustment. Their Profit and 

Loss Accounts are prepared on the conventional basis, and their 

formats look like this:

K£

Profit before taxation xx

Less: Taxation x

Profit after taxation xx

Dividends x

Undistributed Profit x

All the figures in the profit and loss account are 

stated in historic cost terms. The most likely result is that the 

costs are understated. And yet, one finds the firms stating that they 

made extremely high profits, when probably they could have had 

realized losses if all the revenues and costs were stated in
t

constant money terms. For example, the Director of Bamburi 

Portland Cement Company stated in its 1975 annual report: ’’The 

Company has again achieved improved results and the pre-tax 

profit at £x... has increased by 75% over the figure for 1974 

owing chiefly to higher earnings on exports.” The director, 

however, failed to consider the understated expenses which were 

netted against the revenues. In on interview with one of the 

accountants of the company, it was learned that depreciation is
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still being based nn historical cost of an old factory. A new
t

factory was being erected, and it is expected to cost more than 

twice the cost of the old factory. The funds accumulated indirectly 

through depreciation were not sufficient to cover oven a third 

of the new factory's cost. This means that the company may soon 

experience a replacement problem if it does not set up a replacement 

policy which allows for inflation, or if it does not start adjusting 

its accounts for inflation. In the same 1975 published report of 

Banburi Portland Cement Company, the Chairman of the Board of Directors 

struck the point when he statedJ "Prom the Director's Report you. 

will note that last year's statements forecasting improved 

results for 1975 were too optimistic. One should not forget, 

however, the inflationary factor underlying such figures. The 

combined replacement value of the factory's old and new plant

is about three times their book value....... This tends to

support my assertion that Bamburi Portland Cement Company may 

experience financial problems unless it establishes a policy of 

setting aside funds for replacement.

( b ) co: t ;j t ie s  v.tiich  prepare  supplbi.gn tary  i l l a t i o n  accoupts

At the start of the survey on this topic (i.e. inflation 

accounting), there was a misconception that no companies 

operating in Kenya prepares inflation accounts. The survey has, 

however, revealed that some companies do prepare those accounts.

Among these companies are East Africa Industries, Dunlop Company 

Limited, and Philip (Kenya) Company Limited. Readers will notice 

that these companies are foreign subsidiaries. Both Dunlop
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Company and East Africa Industries are English Companies.

Philips (k ) Ltd is a Dutch Company with its parent company in 

Holland. Consolidated Holdings Limited aimed at starting to 

prepare inflation accounts at the end of 1976 in line with the 

Sandilands Recommendations.

EAST AFRICA INDUSTRIES DILUTED

In an interview with the (chief accountant of East Africa 

Industries Limited (E.A.I. LTD.) it was revealed that the company 

h a 3  been preparing inflation accounts for the last 15 years.

The adjustments are made by using both general price 

indices and specific price indices. The job of revaluation is done 

b y  Tysons Habenga Ltd - professional valuers and estate agents.

The valuer's report is reconciled with management estimates. 

Specific indices, prepared by the industry, are used in revaluing 

most fixed assexs. The consumer middle income index is used on 

most of the other fixed assets. Current assets are not affected 

b y  the revaluation process. The company follows more or less 

the Sandilands Recommendations. Professional valuers value the 

assets at two-year intervals. The plant has been revalued three 

times - 1969, 1971, and 1974. It was to bo revalued again at 

their accounting year which ended December, 1976. The company 

prepares supplementary reports based on current values for internal 

use, (i.e. for use by management) in addition to historical 

financial statements. The historical financial statements are 

prepared for taxation purposes, since the capital-cost allowances

V
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are based on the historical cost of fixed assets. The chief accountant 

agreed that the information supplied by historical-cost accounts is 

somewhat misleading because it is not based on current values* He 

agreed that depreciation is understated and profits are overstated by 

conventional accounting, particularly for capital intensive firms.

This has led to higher taxes. He advocated . future changes 

in "tax laws to base the capital allowances on the revalued amounts of 

fixed assets. This^he said, may reduce the amount of tax paid and may 

result in greater retention of profits for expansion purposes* He was not 

in favour of the standard report issued by auditors. He said the

statement that "....  the accounts set out on pages x and y.. give a true

and fair view of the state of the company's affairs at 19x1 ", needs to 

be modified to include comments on items which have not teen revalued 

yet require revaluation, and also to report other factors relating to 

current values of assets. The auditors* opinion was standardised when 

changes in prices were insignificant. Such standard wording does not 

mean much to, say, a capital-intensive company which does not revalue its 

assets even in the present inflationary times.

Commenting on the CPP accounting which was advocated by the

Accounting Steering Committee of the U.K., the Chief Accountant was of

the vie* that CPP accounting is no better than historical—cost

accounting. He was in favour of the Sandilands Reconrsendations which,

he said, need some few modifications in order to be perfect in their
. ̂ recommendations

a p p l i c a t i o n .  Some m o d i f i c a t i o n s  t o  t h e  S a n d i l a n d s / s h o u l d  be made i n  • r e g a r d  

to t h e  t r e a t m e n t  o f  m o n e t a r y  i t d m s ;  t h e  loss or'g a i n  on_these i t e m s  should
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 ̂ \
be disclosed separately. He said that his company will start 

preparing inflation accounts based on the Sandilands Report in 

1978.

East Africa Industries values its stock by using the price 

quotations of those materials ju3t before the balance sheet date.

The quoted prices are used to determine the net realizable value 

of the stock, and this is then compared with the original cost of 

stock before establishing the new carrying value of the stock.

The stock is then valued at the lower of cost or market (market 

in this case i3 represented by net realizable value) whichever is 
lower.

According to the Chief Accountant the daily, monthly, and half- 

yearly cashflow statements report on the funds available for 

replacement. ’’Looking at the funds flow, we can tell whether there 

are sufficient funds for replacement.’’ This view is correct as long 

as the cashflow forecast is closely related to capital expenditures.

The chief accountant of E.A.I. concluded by stating

that the a im  of any firm is to survive. "The firm cannot survive

if it has no sufficient funds for asset replacement and expansion.

Historical-co3 t accounting does not aim at retaining sufficient
funds for a s s e t  replacement and expansion. Current value accounting

\
is the best method which can ensure sufficiency of the funds.” ,

Pie commended the latter system because it reports less profits 

during inflation, and this means that less dividends will be paid 

and more retentions made.

D’uHTtOP (KENYA) LBJTED, a subsidiary of Dunlop International 

in London, prepares inflation accounts for internal use by
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management in addition to statutory accounts. It started preparing 

these inflation accounts two years ago. It began sending copies 

of these accounts to its parent company by the beginning of 1975. 

Both the historical cost financial statements and the inflation 

accounts are audited by the company’s auditors.

In adjusting the historic costs of assets, the company 

uses specific adjustment rates which are prepared by U.K. 

Insurance Companies. These rates are sent to the Company quarterly. 

The adjustment of fixed assets and stock are now based on the 

Sandilands recommendations for fixed assets. U.K. Insurance 

Companies advise the Dunlop Company on the rates to use in 

adjusting its different assets.

Depreciation of Dunlop’s fixed assets is based on the 

present-day value of the assets. The depreciation is more or less 

accelerated as the value of the assets continue to rise. On the 

issue of setting Aside funds for asset replacement, the accountant 

of Dunlop Company said that, "••••• any sensible business must 

maintain a policy of maintaining sufficient profit for replacement 

of assets.” The Dunlop Company follows the following procedure in 

maintaining funds:

(1) Project the future expenditure on fixed assets.

(2) Project the amount of profits expected to be 

earned.

(3) Estimate the inflationary rat6s^

(4) Estimate the dividends to be paid in future.

Prom the above estimates, the company can work out the amount to
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be set aside for replacement of fixed assets, and also for future 

expansion.

Monetary items are not adjusted for inflation, just as 

the Sandilands Report recommended.

Stock is valued on the normal P.I.F.O. basis. The 

Sandilands Report also suggested that for asset valuation purposes 

a normal P.I.F.O. stock valuation will broadly suffice as a 

"current cost valuation" provided that stock is turned over 

reasonably quickly and that the rate of change of price of stock 

is not excessively high.

Dunlop’s profit and loss account includes ’additional 

depreciation on inflation revaluations’ on fixed assets. It also 

includes ’deferred taxation inflation adjustments* and ’minority 

share of inflation adjustments (net of tax).’

• Dunlop's accountant stated that it is quite necessary that

firms with fixed assets lasting for more than five years revalue

those assets periodically. "Failure to do this would result in

understatement of depreciation on fixed assets, and hence

overstatement of profits", the accountant added. Asked whether

the company experiences problems in preparing inflation accounts

based on current values, he replied that they experience no

problems. "The exercise only adds extra work," he said. "It is

relatively easy to get current market values." The accountant

was, however, referring to valuation of imported assets on which
■ r

the company gets quarterly price indices ■fycro U»K. Insurance 

Companies for the adjustment of those assets.Locally, it is not
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easy to get the indices fVerri the Kenyan Insurance Companies. These

Insurance Companies do not compile such lists of price indices.

Dunlop’s accountant concluded by stating that inflation accounting

is the sensible way of treating accounts; that this v/ould lead to

a true position of the company’s current financial status, and

that inflation accounts tend to give data for good future

projections. On 6th February 1976, Dunlop International issued

a circular to its subsidiaries directing them to prepare inflation

accounts based on the Sandilands Report. The following is a
2summary of the cardinal points of the circular;

(1) The circular was issued by The Treasurer in Dunlop 

International, London^ to all of its Finance Directors and U.K. 

Accountants.

(2) The circular stated that the U.K. Government, Stock 

Exchange and the accounting bodies strongly supported the
»

Sandilands proposals.

(3) The circular stated, "It is essential that Dunlop 

Board and the Central Committee of the Dunlop Pirelli Union should 

know the inflation adjusted results for both 1974 and 1975 by

the timo of the Accounts Board in May 1976. We propose to use the 

present Dunlop Pirelli Union inflation accounting system to 

achieve this and indeed we will be paying much more attention to 

this important information for all management accounting purposes 

in the future."

(4) "Since 1st January 1975, all Union Companies have 

operated a system of inflation accounting for profit reporting

and this is almost identical to the Sandilandspurposes...
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proposals. The system can readily be adapted to provide, in 

addition, balance sheet current values........ n

(5 ) "You should return your 1974 and 1975 figures, set 

out on the lines of the attached profit and loss account and 

Balance Sheet, for each consolidated group,

• (6) "It will not be necessary thin year for you to

complete the previous C.P.P. accounting figures...... " "Your

Auditors should report on both the 1974 and 1975 figures in the 

form shown below, by 31st March 1976.

(7)AUDIT0RS REPORT (Suggested by the circular) •

"In our opinion, the attached statements fairly present the 

inflation adjustment figures in accordance'with Treasurer's 

circular of 6th February 1976 and Group Comptrollers circular of 

2nd September 1974*"

Attached to the circular is a Profit and Loss Account, 

and Balance Sheet, with explanatory notes. The accounts are 

prepared in four columns under the following headings::

(1) Notes
y

(2) Historical Financial Accounts.

(3) Current cost adjustments.

(4) Current cost accounts.

As can be seen from the above circular, the Dunlop 

Companies have been adjusting their accounts for some time. Since 

1976, their accounts have been adjusted in line with Sandilands 

recommendations. The suggested 'auditor's report' on inflation 

accounts is an intelligent move aimed at implementing inflation 

accounting. C.P.P. accounts were prepared in 1975 after it had been
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recommended by the Accounting Steering Committee (ASC).

PHILIPS (K) LIMITED

The PHILIPS' ELECTRICAL companies were the pioneers in preparing 

accounts based on replacement values. The various subsidiary 

companies of the Philips Group located in East Africa base their 

accounts on replacement value. This system has been applied for 

over 40 years according to Chief accountant of Philips Kenya 

Limited, Their management teams base their decisions on the 

relevant up-to-date information that is necessary to conduct a 

business with efficiency. They publish their external financial 

statements in current values only*.

Like the other subsidiaries of the Philips Electrical 

Industries Group, Philips Kenya Limited performs its accounting 

in accordance with a standard accounting manual issued by the 

company’s headquarters.

The application of the current value theory is not merely 

a calcualtion technique used in preparing the annual accounts.

It is integrated into the accounting system in all sections of 

the concern at every stage. In this way the Philips people have 

ensured that all information for management is compiled in 

current cost and that current costs enter into all management 

considerations and decisions.

* Even in the Netherlands where the Head Office of the Philips 
Group of Companies is located, taxes are based on historical 
costs, although re placement-value accounting is accepted oy 
law in that country.
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Philips Kenya. Limited commenced its operations ten 

years ago. It has always applied replacement cost in preparing 

its accounts. It does not prepare historical cost accounts at all.

It produces replacement-cost accounts as the primary statement 

for internal use, for its shareholders and al90 for statutory 

purposes. It includes a complete set of standard-cost accounts 

based on replacement cost, and, as a matter of policy these costs 

are up-dated every month to current prices. The financial 

statements are prepared on the same basis, and the published accounts 

are drawn up in replacement cost terms. These statements are 

arranged along conventional lines so as to enable easy extraction 

of the historical costs for legal and taxation purposes. An array 

of adjustment accounts are added to the historical-cost accounts 

to implement the replacement-cost accounting. There are two major 

areas of adjustments. These are on:

(a) Inventories and

(b) Fixed assets, where there is an inevitable delay 

before expenditures incurred find their way into 

recorded costs.

Let us look at the treatment of these two types of assets

INVENTORIES (STOCK)

Raw materials are kept on the replacement value basis.

The policy is to revalue the stock monthly or more often, e.g., 

bi-monthly if there are high and frequent fluctuations in prices.

In practice, the stock is revalued at intervals depending on the 

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. This is so because the
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the company imports most of its materials from Holland where the 

headquarters is located. Price lists are received from overseas 

and local suppliers as often as the company requests them. The 

stock is revalued either when the rate of money exchange changes, 

or when local suppliers supply materials to the company at 

significantly different prices. The difference between revalued 

costs and the list prices is credited to a Stock Revaluation 

Reserve Account (assuming increase in prices) and debited to the 

stock account. In other words, if the stock is adjusted upwards, 

the entry required is:

Dr. Stock

Cr. Stock Revaluation Reserve.

The cost of sales is then adjusted to the new prices. Work-in- 

progress is costed at the increased prices (or the latest prices) 

of labour and raw materials, and overhead is apportioned 

appropriately as in historical cost accounting. Finished goods 

are treated in the same way as <raw materials. Accounts are opened 

for different types of raw materials and finished goods, and these 

accounts are given standard code numbers - i.e. numbers which are 

used by nil subsidiaries all over the world. In 1975, when there 

was great and more frequent fluctuations in prices, revaluation 

of stock and finished goods took place three times.

FIXSD ASSETS

The policy is that all fixed assets should be revalued 

at least once a year. If the exchange rate falls or rises
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rapidly and more frequently, the revaluation will be done more 

often. let us look now at each class of fixed assets.

BUILDINGS

Buildings are revalued every year by professional valuers. 

These valuers determine the replacement cost of buildings at a 

given date. If the buildings account has to be changed, the increased 

value is entered thus:

Dr. Buildings

Cr. Revaluation Reserve (Buildings)

The Philips (k ) Ltd. also write up the balance of depreciation 

provision on buildings at the same time. The change in depreciation 

is also charged to the Revaluation Reserve account.

: MACHINERY

The company i3 instructed by the headquarters on how 

the price of a machinery has changed and on v/hat rate is to be 

used in revaluing the machinery. Alternatively, the headquarters 

instructs on what a particular machine could cost at a given 

point and the subsidiary is then given the rates of increase in 

a specific price index. If the rate of increase is 7% this rate 

is then used to appraise the cost of the machine. This increase 

in value of the machine is entered in the books by debiting the 

machine account for the amount of the increase, and crediting 

the machine Revaluation Reserve by same amount. The depreciation 

account is also adjusted accordingly by debiting Revaluation of
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•fixed assets, and crediting Accumulated Lepreciaxion by the amount 

of increase in value. The same happens in respect of vehicles. Land 

is not revalued. Adjustments of costs of locally purchased 

machinery are made using prices based on local quotations.

Monetary assets are currently not revalued. In October 

1976, the company received instruction from headquarters to the 

effect that monetary items should be valued to determine holding 

losses or gains, but these instructions have not yet been 

implemented. The instructions were issued with a manual guide to 

shov/ how the revaluations should take place. The chief accountant 

is studying the instructions before they are implemented.

Note that the implementation of the new instructions will 

bring in an additional number of new adjustments, and it will 

also change the whole revaluation process. Y»hat exists at the 

moment (before the issue of those instructions) is that there is 

decentralized calculation of holding gains and losses. In other 

words, the calculation of holding gains or losses has therefore 

been left to the discretion of the chief accountants of different 

subsidiaries. Philips Kenya Limited does not calculate these gains 

and losses at the moment.

labour costs are revised once every year, at the time 

when adjustments of salaries and wages are effected. The salary 

of workers is based on the calculated rise in costs in the 

consumer price index. The new salaries and wages form part of 

the ongoing budgets.

INTANGIBLES are very specific and are looked upon from case to case,
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and each class is treated in its cr.vn merits. As the chief 

accountant said, the "usual prudent principle is to utilize more 

than the replacement value of the intangibles." In addition, he 

indicated that intangibles are treated in the same way as in the 

case of historical-cost accounting.

Commenting on whether the company encounters any problems 

in its replacement-value accounting, he stated that they do not 

experience any specific problems because the replacement value 

system has been practiced for over 40 years. However, he agreed 

that the local users of financial statements here in Kenya may 

find it difficult to comprehend inflation accounts, and he suggested 

that the University of Nairobi here in Kenya should begin to teach 

the subject of inflation accounting seriously. He cited two most 

important advantages of replacement cost accounting:

' (l) It makes everyone in a company, especially commercial 

managers, constantly aware of today's increasing 

cost prices. Therefore, selling prices and other costs 

are established with a full realization and allowance 

for the inflationary forces at work.

(2) It is a method of computing that part of annual 

profits that can be distributed without affecting 

the total purchasing power of the company? and by 

applying the system, the company can allow for the 

diminishing value of money and thereby gain safely from

price fluctuations.
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B.A.?. (Kenya) United is one of a group of companies 

which started a piece-meal approach to inflation accounting.

The B.A.T. group of companies began revaluing their assets about 

15 years ago. According to the cost accountant of B.A.T, Kenya 

Limited, the emphasis on revaluations nas been increasing over 

the years. The fixed assets are revalued using specific price 

indices worked out by the company. The company does not employ 

professional valuers to do the revaluation. Sometimes, B.A.T. 

Kenya Limited revalues all fixed assets, but in most cases the 

revaluation is done for selected fixed assets every two years.

The cost accountant agreed that the understatement of depreciation 

by use of historical-cost accounting is a serious problem.

4-4 QUESTIONNAIRE DESIGN AND FJSINSS5 RESPONSES

As already indicated at the start of this chapter, seventy 

questionnaires were sent out and twenty four of them were duly 

completed and returned to me. In this section, we shall see how 

the questionnaire was designed and also the responses given by 

companies. Only ’YES RESPONSES’ are presented here, expressed 

in percentages of total responses. The 'Yes Responses' are 

presented under three captions (or headings), namely:

(1) Quoted Companies, i.e., public companies quoted on 

the Nairobi Stock Exchange,

(2) Non-quoted Companies and

(3) Total number of responses. The percentage responses 

are calculated a3 follows:
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Quoted: Yes Responses of naoted companies 
Humber of Quoted Companies which responded xlOO

Non-Quoted: Yes Responses of non-ouoted conweniec
----------------------:--------- :------------  r. 100
Number of nen-quoted companies which responded

Total: Yes Responses of all comnanies which responded
------- :-------------------------------------- x 100
Total number of companies which responded

QUESTIONNAIRE AND TUB RESPONSES

Qu. 1 : THE QUESTION SEEKS THE OPINION OE CONNIES

ABOUT PRESENT HISTORICAL-COST ACCOUNTING

■¥
YES RESPONSES (^)

It has been argued that during Quoted Non-Quoted Total

inflation, conventional historical- ______ __________ _____

cost Accounting provides information 

which is IRRELEVANT to decision 

making by investors, creditors, 

management, and other interested

parties. Do you agree?.... ............  46_______ 55 __------ 60—

C OYMBNTS The responses were unexpectedly low because of 

the nature of the question. Ilany companies were not in favour 

of the use of the word 'irrelevant*. However the average responses 

reveal that conventional accounting produces irrelevant data to 

users of accounts. Some of the firms stated that the historical
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cost data is not irrelevant, but ‘distorted1 or ’misleading'. 

Others stated that the conventional data can be irrelevant only in 

times of ’’high inflation”. This view disregards the fact that 

"high inflation” is a subjective term. To some people, an 

inflationary rate of 4$ is high, while to others, a rate of lo£ 

is low.

Some of the responding firms expressed their opinions that 

histoUc-cost data is 'certainly inadequate,' but not irrelevant. 

To purchase a company or other business concern, current values 

of assets are often required. The chief accountant of Brooke Bond 

Liebig stated: "Information provided on a historical basis is 

not irrelevant. If inflation accounting becomes an accepted 

practice it is ; still likely to be supplementary to the historical 

accounting schedules."

Qu. 2 TO FIND OUT WHETHER THE IMPACT OF INFLATION SHOULD 
BB REFLECTED IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YES RESPONSES (i)

Quoted Non-Quoted Total

Inflation in Bast Africa in recent 

years, particularly in Kenya, has 

threatened economic survival. Do 

you consider that accounts prepared 

for management and/or shareholders 

should reflect the impact of inflation? 86
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COLSENTS

The high rate of fYes Response' by all types of companies 

shows clearly that there is need for change in the present system 

of accounting by most companies. Inflation-accounting financial 

statements will better reveal the truth of the current performance 

of a business. The following are some of the specific responses 

given by firms:

* Yes, but the crucial point is: will the Government make

allowance for it: (reflection of inflation impact) in

tax legislation?

* Definitely historical-cost accounts do not show the 

bigger margins required to compensate for increased costs 

of holding more expansion stocks,

* Yes, but only in additon to normal historical-cost accounts 

and should be treated with reservations,

* Yes, but inflation accounting is as confusing as 

historical-cost accounting,

* In theory, yes, but in practice this would probably lead 

to confusion.

The above responses indicate a general feeling of the 

firms in Kenya about reporting inflationary effects in financial 

statements. Some firms reserved their comments on this question.

One firm remarked: "Surely, it depends on what modifications are 

intended," Another firm said that it could not comment on this 

question because there is no definite emergent concept to 

replace historical-cost accounting.



-  172 -

*  Qu. 5 SEEKS TO KNOV/ ’CM WTLA.T1 ITEMS TITS IMPACT OP INFLATION

SHOULD BE r e f l e c t e d

YES RESPONSES fc)

If your answer to Q2 is yes, Quoted lion- Total

should impact of inflation be quoted

reflected on:

a) Fixed assets -------------------- -  77 82 79

b) Depreciation -------------------- -  69 91 79

c) Cost of stock consumed during the

year ---------------------------- 77 73 75

d) Cost of holding cash or other

monetary assets ----------------- 69 55 63

' e) The gain on equity from

borrowing _______________________ -  62 64 63

COMMENTS

As can be seen, most firms agreed that impact of inflation on 

fixed assets, depreciation, and on the cost of stock consumed 

during the year should be reflected in the annual accounts# They 

stated that this reflection of inflation is particularly necessary 

for capital-intensive firms because aggregation proolem is worse 

in these firn3 , and the users of the financial-data of these 

firms must interpret them cautiously. During inflation depreciation 

based on the understated fixed assets leads to insufficient funds 

retained for future ’survival* of a business.

* The responses for each group for all questions (i.e. a»b,c,....e) 
do not add up to 100^ because varied answers were given to each 
question.
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There were nixed responses on item (c) and (d) above.

Some firms had the feeling that inflation should be reflected 

in respect of these items; others had an opposite view and 

they stated that items (c) and (d) are particularly difficult 

to quantify. Some firms held a similar viev/ to that of 

Sandilancis to the effect that "cash and other monetary assets" 

are often held at current prices, and that there is therefore no 

need to reflect inflationary effect in respect of them. One 

firm stated that the impact of inflation in items (d) and (e) 

is not as high as for (a), (b) and (c), but the decision makers 

should be aware of the fact that inflation has an effect on 

both sets of items. Another firm stated that if inflation accounting 

is adopted, then it should cover all items in financial statements,

Qu, 4 TO FIND OUT THE ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF REFLECTING THE 

IMPACT Off INFLATION Oil FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YES RESPONSES (/o)

The present financial statements Quoted Non- Total

of companies in Kenya are prepared ______ ruoted _____

on the basis of historical costs.

Indicate whether modifications to 

conventional accounting will have:

* a) Better results to financial *

statements users 62 100 79

b) Confusing results to financial

statements users 31 27 29

C) No effect on accounting information 0 9 4

* For question a) eight quoted companies gave 'yes response' w h i l e  

eleven non-quoted c o m p a n i e s  a l s o  agreed w i t h  t h e  question.
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COMMENTS

The above response percentages affirm the belief that modifi

cations to a historical-co3t accounting 9ystem will definitely 

provide beneficial results to users of financial statements.

The answers indicates a belief that his tori cal-co3t accounting 

data is not sufficient, particularly when it comes to making 

investment decisions. The conventional accounting system is 

deficient in calculating the rate of return on invested capital, 

the ‘fair* amount of taxes to be paid, the proportion of profits

to retentions, and the like. Obviously the majority of respondents 
that

believe / such inadequacies will be reduced if inflation accounting 

is adopted. Only a few firms stated that inflation accounts would 

confuse the users of financial statements. It is of course true 

that the information will be confusing initially, especially to 

the laymen. This is an inevitable position. Even historical 

financial statements are not understood by all users of the 

accounts and many shareholders cannot interpret them correctly. 

Inflation accounts are likely to confuse them even more. This 

calls for a re-education of users of accounts on how to interpret 

inflation accounts in the manner suggested in recommendation

N o .14 of Section 4-5. Even those who seem to understand%
conventional accounts must be re—educated on both , the faults of 

conventional accounts and the benefits of modifying them.

Only 4fo of the total number of firms surveyed felt that 

inflation accounts would have no effect on the usefulness of 

accounting information. Such a view may be a reflection that
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these firms have not given enough thought to the effects of

price-level changes on their operations and performances.
may

Alternatively these firms/ not own any long-term fixed assets. 

However, it was the feeling of manjj firms that inflation accounts 

will give more realistic results of the operation of a firm. The 

5 ̂ formation of modified historical-cost accounts will give a 

current' picture instead of 'historical' picture. Some firms 

felt that inflation accounting would have both beneficial and 

confusing results to users of accounts. One firm remarked, however, 

that the necessity (for modification of accounts) is not obvious in 

an economy such as Kenya's. It felt that the cost of producing 

more sophisticated figures as well as historical-cost accounts 

would be 'detrimental', but it did not go on to explain how 

'detrimental' the modification would be. One firm which indicated 

that the modifications would produce confusing results stated:

"The complexity of such modifications would be confusing to the 

public for whom the statements are prepared; simplicity and object

ivity is more important in making statements. Decision makers 

would find it impossible to make any comparisons of financial 

statements, since all these modifications would be subjective 

and based on certain assumptions which may not necessarily be 

right, and unscrupulous people will exploit this subjectivity 

to suit their- own ends. We just don't have the statistical data 

necessary," The chief accountant of Brooke Bond Liebig who 

supported the above view also stated: "We do not believe inflation 

accounting will be generally understood or accepted in Kenya
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for some years to come.”

Intit.ial problems of understanding inflation accounts 

are anticipated, but this will not, in my opinion, prevent 

'dynamic' and 'progressive' accountants from experimenting and, 

eventually, adopting the alternatives to historical-cost 

accounting.

Qu. 5-15 TO FIND OUT THE EXTENT TO WHICH MANAOTCTTT 

OPINIONS ARB FTJT INTO PRACTICE

YES RESPONSE (£) 

Quoted Non- Total 

______ Quoted _____

*Qu. 5. Do you make any adjustments 

to your financial statements to 

reflect the impact of inflation

on items in 3? --------------------- 8 100 50

C OMIRNTS

It is surprising to learn that very few quoted companies make 

some adjustments of asset values in their accounts. This means 

that the public is kept ignorant of the current values, and 

hence of 'current performance' of these firms. It is, on 

the other hand, encouraging to note that most non-quoted companies 

make the adjustments mainly for management use. Ouch adjustment, 

if done frequently (i.e. every after two to four years), will 

give management an opportunity to make more efficient decisions. *

* Only one quoted company (Dunlop (k ) LtdJ indicated that it makes 
adjustments to reflect the effects of inflation. All the eleven 
non-quoted companies agreed that they make adjustments to their 
accounts.
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IHmlop (k ) Limited, East Africa Industries, Consolidated Holdings 

Company Limited, B.A.T. (Kenya) limited and Philips (Kenya) 

limited are among the companies which make frequent adjustments 

to their fixed assets. Brooke Bond Liebig (k ) Limited,which 

makes the adjustments, said that it makes those adjustments 

"to the extent that its fixed assets are revalued regularly." The 

Philips Group of Companies have been employing current replacement 

values for over 40 years.

Some of the firms which do not make the adjustments 

stated that they do "highlight inflationary effects in commercial 

and written information accompanying financial statements"

(i.e. in notes to financial statements). Some subsidiary companies 

stated that they follow the policies laid down by parent companies 

and, for that reason, they cannot begin adjusting their accounts 

until they are advised to do so by their head offices.

YES RESPONSE (#)

Quoted Hon- Total 

_____  Quoted _____

Qu# 6 In preparing budgets and 

management accounts, do you make 

adjustments to actual and forecast 

cost to take into account the

price-level changes?' 38 82 58
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COMMENTS

It is true that some adjustments are made to actual and forecast 

costs in budgeting but this is arbitrarily done in most cases. 

There is no systematic policy on deteriiJning the 'inflation 

factor.' Come (assumed) inflationary factor is loaded to 

anticipated costs in the preparation of budgets. Some firms do 

not experience any problems in budgeting certain costs like wages 

and salaries v/hose inflationary factor can easily be determined. 

It is, however, not easy to determine the inflationary factor 

on items exchanged in the world market where the firm cannot 

predict with accuracy future fluctuations in prices. Those firms 

already using 'replacement costs' or 'replacement values' argue 

that the use of current values in their accounts automatically 

accounts for budgets and post-calculatinns. The calculation of 

a reliable inflationary factor is a function of experience in 

budgeting of the officers concerned, and also of their predictive 

ability of future trends based on past events. One firm stated 

that, "the bulk of our income is from exports. We have enough 

of a problem in forecasting exchange rates without the further 

complication of price-level changes." This firm is, impliedly, 

against inflation accounting.

Qu. 7 If the answer to Q. 6 is yes, are the adjustments linked 

to:

YES RESPONSE^)

Quoted N o n —Quoted Total

25 *a) A general price index?' 15 . 27 •
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Qu. 7 cont.

b) Specific price index?------------------ 8 27 17

c ) Some other basis? ------------------ 54 27 42

A good number of firms make use of a general price index in 

adjusting financial statements* * Those who use b) or/and c) stated 

that ifcere is no one good general price index that can be applied 

to all industries. Different industries experience specific 

changes in prices which are peculiar to their businesses. Therefore, 

it appears that a general price index is not assumed by them to 

be a good average of all the specific indices.

Firms which indicated that they use c) do apply the 

‘current values’ which in essence includes specific price 

indices (i.e. b)). Some firms thought that there are better 

methods of adjusting accounts other than using a) or b). Some 

of these firms offered the following comments:

* Adjustments will depend on a firm's own assessment 

of likely future events.

* Current market prices are better.

* Across the board inflationary factor of x£? is used.

Note that some of the above comments are unclear and

imprecise. For example, the use of 'across tr.e board inflationary 

factor xfj' does not tell precisely what specific policy is 

followed - This method may be similar to the use of a general 

price index.
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£u. 8 TO FIND OUT THE BASIS CP CAIOUIA.TING DEPRECIATION

Is depreciation in your accounts based on:

Y53 RES?0?!S5S (£)

Quoted Non- Total

Quoted

a) Original historical of an asset 77 64 71

b) Estimate of replacement cost of

some asset? 23 • 0 13

e) Some other basis 8 9 8

COMMENTS

It can clearly be seen that companies in Kenya 

predominantly base depreciation on the historical cost of fixed 

assets* This confirms the dominant use of the conventional 

accounting system in Kenya# During a period of rising prices, 

the book values of fixed assets are therefore understated; and 

the depreciation based on tlese values tend to be under-stated. 

This means that less depreciation is charged against profits, 

thus resulting in high reported net profits available for 

distribution, and consequently a low retention of fund3 through 

the recording of depreciation as an expense. One firm argued 

that, since taxation in Kenya is based on capital allowances, 

the under-calculated depreciation does not affect the firm 

unfavourably. The firm seems to have ignored the fact that 

capital allowances are worked out on the basis of historical book- 

values of the fixed assets. If the current values of fixed assets
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were legally allowed as a basis for calculating capital 

allowances, firms would then be paying less tax during a period 

of inflation.

Those firms which have started revaluing their fixed 

assets tend to base depreciation on the revised costs of those 

assets. The responses tend to indicate that many non-quoted 

companies base their depreciation on revalued costs. Those firms 

which gave positive answers to c) actually base their depreciation 

on the current values of those assets which, in essence, are 

normally calculated on the basis of their replacement costs. One 

firm stated that it plans to use replacement cost in the future 

if inflation accounting is adopted: Another firm indicated that 

it writes off historical cost more rapidly than is normal to 

compensate for inflation. Some firms which indicated the use of 

c) stated that recent values of assets are used. Some base 

depreciation on both historical costs and on revalued figures.

The East African Railways uses revalued costs which are determined 

after every five years, and also uses a historical cost basis.

An account is opened for the differences between historical and 

revalued amounts.

Qu, 9 TO FIND OUT WHETHER REVALUATION OR EXXED ASSETS IS DO'T3

YES RESPONSES (£)

Quoted Non- Total 

Quoted _____

Have you revalued your fixed assets 

in recent years?
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Qu, 9 cont.

a) land 31 36 33

b) Euilding 38 64 50

c) Plant 23 45 33

00MM5NTS

The responses indicate that revaluation is done moat 

often on buildings, and mainly by non-quoted companies, E.A, 

Railways i*evalued the three kinds of assets in 1971, and again 

in 1975. It values its assets after every five years and 

depreciation is determined on both revalued costs and on 

historical costs. Many firms revealed that they are in a preparatory 

stage for revaluation, Unga Company Limited, which revalues its 

three categories of fixed assets every 5 years stated that it hopes 

to revalue them more frequently in the future. Some firms stated 

that they own none of the fixed assets mentioned, but office 

machinery and cars which they do own have not been revalued,

Qu, 10 TO ICKOW THE BASIS 02* REVALUATION

Y7.S RESPONSES (£)

Quoted Non- Total

Quoted —

On what basis were the revaluations ninde

a) Valuer’s Report 38 36 38

b) Indices 0 9 10

c) Other evidence 15 9 33
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COUNTS

Pirm3 which have revalued their assets indicated that they 

at least based their revaluation on professional assessment 

reports. Very few firm3 used available price indices. Some firms 

used current market values while some stated that they use "their 

technical knowledge” to determine the asset values. The latter 

companies actually either work out the specific price indices 

using suppliers* quoted prices or they work out the cost of building 

or producing a similar fixed asset (an engineering function).

Qu. 11 TO FIND OUT THE PREMISES 0? TIB PAST DEVALUATION

YES RESPONSE (£)

Quoted Non- Total 

______ Quoted _____

Was the past revaluation made

a) Generally on the basis of going

coneern/existing use of assets? 38 45 42

b) On any other basis? 15 0 ®

G QEM5NTS

Few comments were provided in answer to this question, 

either because the companies did not understand the question 

properly or because they actually had no comments to make. If the 

revaluation was made on the basis of going concern or existing 

use of assets, the implication is that the firm intends to 

replace the assets when they become worn out, and therefore the
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assets are revalued on the basis of Replacement Cost or Replacement 

Value. The alternative is that the assets can be valued at their 

economic value (or present value) if this is feasible. Those 

firms which gave positive answers to b) are probably those firms 

which either used net realizable values, or a combination of 

replacement cost and net realizable values to determine the current 

values of their assets. Only one firm indicated that it based its 

revaluation on property market values. Personal interviews with 

financial managers revealed that many firms revalue their assets 

on the basis of going concern of their business and al30 on the 

existing use of their fixed assets. This confirms the picture 

given by the above-tabulated responses, particularly with respect 

to non-quoted companies.

Qu. 12 DISCLOSURE OF REVALUATION II! ACCOUNTS

YES RESPONSE (#)

Quoted Non- Total

________ Quoted _____

How were the revaluations disclosed to 

financial statement users?

a) In notes to financial statements 23 73 46

b) In brackets to each respective accounts 0 0 0

c) In management Reports 0 0 0

a) Some other basis 15 18 17
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COMMENTS;

The responses indicate that revaluations are disclosed mainly 

in notes to the financial statements. This is appropriate. The 

Unga Company Limited stated that its 'net gain/loss due to inflation 

as reflected in money exchange rates is taken as a financial 

gain (or loss) on the income statement. Many firms disclose the 

excess value in both balance sheet and in notes to financial 

statements. In the balance sheet, the excess figure is shown as 

a 'Revaluation Reserve' or 'surplus on revaluation' or 

'Capital Reserve.' The reserve is then explained and shown in 

detail in the notes to financial statements. Marshals (l3.A.)

Limited indicated that any excess on revaluation is treated as an 

amendment of fixed assets value and is transferred to "Capital 

Reserve." Grindlay3 Bank International indicated that the 

revaluation were "Incorporated in the allowances". The company 

did not, however, specify the allowances mentioned. Rarely do 

companies disclose their revaluation in parentheses to respective 

accounts or in management reports.

QU , 13 YES RESPONSES (fo)

Quoted Non- Total 

______ quoted _____
/

Do you maintain a policy of retaining 

sufficient profits to cover the 

estimated cost of replacing fixed

assets? 62 64 63
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C CEMENTS

It is encouraging to realize that many firms maintain 

"this policy. The following comments were given by the firms on the 

above question:

*

•*

-*

■*

*

*

*

*

*

In practice retained profits including depreciation do 

not normally cover our current level of capital 

expenditure on fixed assets but this includes considerable 

expansion of our labour housing as opposed to replacement 

of assets.

This is covered in our cash budgets.

We use capital budget appropriations.

This is implicit in our system of accounting (of Philips 

Kenya Limited).

Distribution policy of banks is conservative (Barclays 

Bank International).

No specific reserve is maintained for replacement over 

and above the depreciation charge (Consolidated Holdings 

limited).

We are not a profit making organization (coffee Board 

of Kenya).

No. Not as such, but our reserves are sufficient to do 

so. Not our cash though. (Mumias Sugar Company).

Yes. Depreciation is charged to Profit and Loss account 

to cater for this (E.A. Railways).

Any reasonable business must do so (Dunlop Company (K) Ltd). 

The above comments show that there are various ways used

by the firms to retain enough funds for replacement of assets.
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But it seems that many of them rely on depreciation amounts, 

which, under historical-cost accounting,are not sufficient for 

"the intended replacements.

Qu. 14 - 21 GENERAL THEORETICAL QUESTIONS

There has been a lot of debate, particularly in the U.K., 

U.S.A., Canada, and Australia, on rhether general price indices or 

current values of assets should be the basis for inflation 

accounting. General Price-Level Accounting uses general price 

indices; current value (or current cost) accounting is based on 

current market values.

Qu. 14 Which one v/ould you recommend:

a) General Price-Level Accounting?

b) Current Value Accounting?

c) Both a) and b)?

LAO nr,or\Juojj>j

Quoted Non-

Quote d

Total

0 9 4

46 55 50

15 18 17

C ORIENTS

The responses show that general price-level accounting 

is less favoured than current value accounting in preparing 

inflation accounts. Those who favour price-level accounting 

add that its application requires competent compilations of
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price indices* firms favour the use of current values, and

the following are comments that were given in favour of current-

value accounting:

Current value accounting (CVA) might be easier to 

implement than price-level accounting given the existing 

state of staff/technical development.

CVA is more appropriate for stock purchased by a 

manufacturer but general price level accounting (GPLA) is 

appropriate for common items, cash, debts and buildings.

In many countries there are problems encountered in 

obtaining adequate indices, and hence GPLA is unsatisfactory. 

It is very difficult to determine an appropriate general 

price index. Therefore a CVA is the straight forward method 

and it gives more accurate results.

Some of those firms which recommended both CVA and GPLA 

stated that both methods have merits and demerits. The National 

Bank of Kenya stated that "to make correct decisions we need to 

know the current value of the assets and also be able to isolate 

the change that is real, and the change that is inflationary".

Brooke Bond Liebig Kenya Limited stated that "GPLA (CPP) 

can be used for monetary items and CVA for fixed assets". Another 

firm said that all situations differ and that it is difficult 

to standardize. A number of firms declined to recommend any of 

the options given. One firm commented that "there has been 

obvious argument for and against both methods. Highly qualified members 

of accounting bodies around the world are trying to reach a decision
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Que, 15 Does any of the two approaches to inflation accounting

have merits?

Li'tO rui

Quoted

orunoijo

Non-

vii.

Total

Quoted

a) Current Value Accounting 54 73 63

b) General Price-level Accounting 38 45 42

COmsiJTS

Responses to this question indicated opinions that current 

value accounting (CVA) has more merits than general price-level 

accounting (GPLA). A number of firm3 were for both a) and b), 

indicating that both CVA and GPLA have merits but CVA could be 

more convenient in Kenya. Consolidated Holdings shared the same 

view with Kenya Shell Co. Ltd. in this respect. Hutching Biemer Ltd 

stated that CVA indicates the value of the assets as they are 

worth to the company. See also comments to Qu. 16 below.
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Qu« 16 Do you anticipate any problems in the two approaches?

YES RESPONSES (#)

Quoted Non- Total

Quoted

a) Current Value Accounting 31 55 42

b) General Price Level Accounting 31 55 42

COMMENTS

The responses tend to indicate that the respondent firms were 

in agreement that both CVA and GPLA present problems in their 

application. This is not actually the case. Some firms stated 

that CVA has problems, some indicated that GPLA. has problems.

Some firms felt that it is difficult to get current values of 

specific or unique assets, e.g*, the current values of a plant.

A large number of firms suggested that it is easier to apply 

current—value accounting than GPLA. It is not difficult to get 

the current values v/hen you have suppliers' price indices or 

when professional valuers are employed. The strongest argument 

against GPLA. is that there is hardly any one suitable general price 

index to be applied to all industries.

Qu. 17 If your company i3 a subsidiary to a parent company in 

the U.JC, or li.S., or other foreign country which adjusts its 

accounts fcr inflation, what impact has this got on your accounting

system?
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COMMENTS

None of the quoted companies is a subsidiary of a foreign 

parent company. Very few foreign subsidiaries indicated that they 

have been influenced by parent companies on inflation accounting. 

These subsidiaries include Consolidated Holdings, East Africa 

Industries and Dunlop Kenya Limited. Dunlop Kenya Limited has 

been directed by Dunlop International to prepare inflation accounts 

based on the Sandilands recommendations. Caltex Oil Kenya Limited 

stated that it has developed methods of satisfying both local and 

U.S. requirements. The Philips Kenya Limited, like other subsidiaries 

of the Philips Group, prepares accounts based on replacement 

value of assets. Some of these subsidiaries indicated that no 

adjustments are made in accounts of their parent companies.

•

Qu. 18 If adjustments for inflation were to be made, how should 

they be reported to financial statement users?*

YES RESPONSES (£)

Quoted Non- Total 

_______ Quoted _____

a) Preparation of supplementary 

statements to historical cost

statements? 62 64 63

* Compare Qu. 12 and Qu. 18. They tend to be similar. The
difference is that Qu. 12 is directed to firms which had made 
revaluations on item3 in Qu. 9 while Qu. 13 is directe o d 
firms, whether they are malting any adjustments or noo.
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Qu. 18 Cont.

b ) Footnotes to historical

cost statements? . 0 36 17

c) As a primary report 15 18 17

<0 Some other basis? 0 45 4

C OMMSNTS

Many firms were of the opinion that inflation accounts 

should be prepared, as supplementary reports to historical-cost 

statements. The supplementary statements would enable the users 

of accounts to understand the differences between the conventional 

accounts and the inflation accounts, and also to understand the 

benefits of inflation accounting, particularly when they compare 

the asset values, and the end-year profits in the two sets of 

statements. Some firms suggested that historical-cost statements 

should be retained because the users of financial statements 

understand them better than they do the inflation accounts. It 

was claimed that, if the supplementary statements are not 

prepared, readers of financial statements, particularly shareholders, 

will begin to suspect the motives of accountants, i.e. they may 

suspect that the accountants have done away with the historical 

reports for their own benefits. A few companies agree that 

preparation of inflation accounts should be undertaken as primary 

reports. Philips Kenya Limited, which advocated for primary reports 

of inflation accounts maintained that supplementary statements 

would certainly be an improvement over historical-cost accounting, 

but it expressed the fear that these statements might pose problems
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"to company auditors. "V/hich one of the supplementary reports 

presents a ’true and fair view' of a company?;the firm asked.

It added tbit only valuable and proper presentation is the 

basi3 of its re placement-value accounting, which the firm prepares 

as a primary statement.

Qu« 19 Do you feel that you are paying taxes on capital because 

there has been no adjustment to the financial statements for 

chages in asset values?

YS3 RESPONSES (#)

Quoted Non- Total

______ Quoted _____

23 45 33

COMMENTS

The responses show that a few firms believe that they 

are paying more taxes than when inflation adjustments might be 

made. The National Bank of Kenya feels that it pays more taxes 

than necessary during the current inflationary periods because of 

the understatement of its fixed assets, and hence lower capital 

allowance approved for tax purposes. Brooke Bond Liebig was of 

the same view and wondered whether "the government would ever admit 

adjustment o.c statutory accounts for taxation purposes". Philips 

Kenya Limited also admited that taxes based on historical accounts 

profits may lead to erosion of capital during inflation. Some 

firms declined to answer the question unequivocally. They stated
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"that whether a firm will realize more or les9 profits after 

adjustment of accounts will depend on the nature of the assets 

held, and the extent to which inflation has affected those assets.

->u-5— 22. Which cost selection method (valuation method) of inventory 

do you employ in your company?

Y5S RESPONSES (£) 

Quoted Non- Total 

______ Quoted _____

a) Last-in-first-out (L.I.F.O.) 0 18 8

b) First-in-first-out (F.I.F.O.) 38 45 17

c ) Specific identification 31 0 13

d ) Weighted-average 31 45 38

e ) Other method 0 27 13

CORIENTS

A fair number of the firms employ that F.I.FO. or the weighted' 

average methods in their revaluations of inventory. No quoted 

company uses the L.I.F.O. method. Commenting on the L.I.F.O. 

method, various firm3 indicated that L.I.F.O. is not a suitaole 

method in all seasons, {i.e. during both inflation and deflation).

East Africa Breweries stated that L.I.F.O. is difficult to 

administer in practice. Kenya Shell felt that L.I.F.O. is not 

so good in times of rising product cost (that stock appreciation 

profits are taxed). Block Hotels Limited stated that jj.I.F.O.
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tends to build secret reserves, but it did not explain how this
to

comes about. The Unga Company Limited objectedythe use of the 

L . I . p . o , , stating that it is a very poor method. East Africa 

Industries said that "L.I.F.O. is fine on a rising market but 

gives problems of overstating profits on a falling market”. It 

added that the users of L.I.F.O. forget that commodity prices go 

up and down over time. Hutchings Biemer Company Limited share the 

above view. Some other companies felt that L.I.F.O. is a good 

method since it reflects actual costs of the items at current prices. 

Another firm stated that L.I.F.O leads to greater tax allowances 

in periods of increasing costs and should be employed for that 

purpose.

4.5 RECOMMENDATIONS

It is the dCsire of every user of accounts that relevant 
and up-to-date financial information be supplied by frrms in 
their financial statements. Here in Kenya, historical cost 
accounting is the dominant system of accounting. As v«e have already 
seen, this system is deficient when prices are not stable. '>e have 
also examined the proposed alternatives to historical—cost 
accounting, namely, price-level accounting and current-value 
accounting. Inflation has been a threat and Soill conoinueo to 
be a threat to the economic survival of Kenya and its people, It 
is time that the companies in Kenya started to think of providing 
relevant data in their financial statements.
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In view of the prevailing local conditions, the author 

Hire to make the following recommendations:

Replacement cost (or value) should be the basis of preparing 

"the financial statements of all firms whose net worth is over 

^ 5  million. Such large companies can afford to test and introduce 

"tile new system of accounting.

a firm anticipates an end to its business in the near 

future, it should then, when it is possible, value its assets 

u s ing current net realizable values, * • *

3) The recommended replacement value accounting for a going 

concern should be applied to fixed assets, and the calculation of 

depreciation should be based on the new carrying values of the 

fixed assets.

4) Valuation of fixed assets should make use of:

(a) Specific price indices worked out by firms on the 

basis of the latest price quotations, or

(b) A  professional valuer’s report. The valuer’s report 

should normally be reconciled with the management's 

estimates.

5) Fixed assets should be revalued after every two years to three

years, the interval depending on the experienced rate of 

inflation  ̂ . the cost of revaluing the assets and the

convenience of the period to management.

6) Firms should avoid use of the economic value (or present value; 

concept because it may result in very subjective values and may even 

distort the results to be reported in the financial statements.
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7) Stock (or inventory) should be valued on the basis of new 

price lists supplied by the sellers of goods.

8) In the valuation of both the fixed assets and stock, the 

^ ■ ^ erence between replacement values and historical costs should

disclosed in the balance sheet i n  a 'Revaluation Reserve' 

a c c o u n t .  The detailed explanation of the 'Revaluation Reserve' 

s h o u l d  be provided in the 'notes to financial statements.'

9) Net holding gains (or losses) on monetary assets and liabilities
>

s h o u l d  be calculated by the use of the Consumer Middle Income 

Index which is prepared monthly, and published in Quarterly Digests 

and Annual Abstracts. These indices are readily available to 

companies when requested from the Central Bureau of Statistics. 

Ministry of Finance and Planning. Alternatively, these publica

tions can be purchased from the Government Printer.

10) Net holding gains (or losses) should be reported in the 

Income statement.

11) Intangibles should continue to be treated as they are under 

historical-cost accounting.

12) For the first 5*10 years, the inflation accounts should
a* . u 1 m sm  u  vl . . .  .

be prepared supplements to historical-cost accounts. This will give A
the readers of those statements a reasonable period to get to 

understand the fundamental differences between the two sets of 

financial statements. The two sets of financial statements should 

be presented in parallel columns.

13) Funds f\ow statements based on both historical costs and 

budgeted costs should be prepared in addition to inflation account.
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 ̂ is necessary that a program should be worked out for 

educating the users of financial statements, on the use of new 

accounting system. For both public and private companies, some 

Of the fundamental points on inflation accounting should be 

highlighted at annual general meetings. In addition to such high

lights, manuals on how to interpret inflation accounts should be 

prepared. For purposes of achieving general education on this 

matter, the subject of inflation accounting should be incorporated 

into the curriculum of business studies or business education 

or commerce, at Universities, colleges? polytechnics and 

institutes. Experts on the subject should be invited to these 

institutions as often as possible to give lectures on the subject.

15) The Institute of Certified Public Accountants, now in the 

process of formation, should undertake studies on inflation 

accounting, find out the possibility of implementing the system, 

and issue further guidelines on how to prepare inflation 

accounts.

16) Auditors should try as much as possible to encourage and 

help clients in preparing inflation accounts based on replacement 

values.

17) The Kenya Government should try to give both material and 

financial support to our Institute(s), once formed, to undertake 

a thorough study on this subject.

The above recommendations would act to facilitate ohe 

introduction of inflation accounting into our Kenyan companies. 

Once the subject is basically understood, more sophisticated 

inflation accounts can then be prepared.



REFERENCES TO CHAPTER 4

Bamburi Portland Cement Company Limited, Report and 

Accounts, 1975, P.5« (This page contains the Chairman's

Statement),

A copy of a circular on inflation accounting was 

given to me by the accountant of Dunlop Kenya Limited 

Attached to the circular is an illustrative example 

of inflation accounts. The writer has not, however, 

reproduced these accounts.
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CHAPTER FIVE 

SUKHAHY AND CONCLUSIONS

S i  SULHARY

There has been an upward trend in the general level of 
the

prices since the end of/second World War* The term 'inflation*
• to .*
18 therefore used in this thesis take account of both increases

A
and decreases in price of various individual goods and services. 

The inflationary trend is worldwide and it still continues.

Inflation reduces the purchasing power of money as a 

measure of value. The conventional historical-cost accounting 

system ignores this fact. The system incorrectly assumes
i

that the value of a shilling is maintained during a period 

of price changes. The fixed assets are valued in the 

balance sheet at their original costs less the accumulated 

depreciation based on those historical costs. During inflation, 

the fixed assets tend, to be understated. The depreciation 

based on those costs in therefore understated. The profits of a 

company are charged with less depreciation than normal, and 

this exaggerates the net profits available for distribution. 

Unless a company has a policy of retaining profits, it may 

end up paying divicieds out of capital. The information provided 

by the conventional accounts tend to be irrelevant and distorted. 

People making decisions based on this financial information may 

be misled
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Two approaches to inflation accounting have been proposed, 

ese are price-level accounting and current-value accounting, 

^rice level accounting is concerned with changes in the overall 

price level. It restates historical costs, using an appropriate 

general price index, into monetary units of same purchasing 

power. It is therefore an extension of historical-cost accounting. 

I n  the profit and loss statement, price-level accounting results 

i n  cost of goods sold and depreciation for a period being based 

o n  shillings of current purchasing power. The profit (or loss) for 

the period includes, as an additional item, gains (or losses)
l

o n  any monetary items. Being an extension of historical-cost 

accounting, price-level accounting does not remedy many of the 

existing weakness of historical cost accounting. For example, 

the basic accounting principles employed still remain the same. 

Secondly, there is scarcely one appropriate general-price index 

that can be used to adjust the historical costs of items of 

various firms. Each firm is affected by inflation to a different 

extent depending on the nature of its assets and the business in 

which it is engaged. Price-level accounting, however, tends to make 

intra- and inter-firm comparisons which are more realistic than 

they are under historical-cost accounting. It also reveals the defect 

of historical system. Price-level adjusted financial statements 

include the effects of inflation on the results of business 

operations.

Current-Value accounting aims at valuing each unit in the 

accounts at either its current input price, such as replacement 

cost, or at its current output price, such as net realizable value.
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"third current valuation basis is the present value of assets, 

basis is, however, coneptually difficult and its application 

introduce much subjectivity into accounts. For that reason, 

basis is theoretically accepted but is not favoured in 

practice,

Current-Value accounting assumes that it is possible to 

ascertain the current values of most assets, and this is infact 

a o t  true in reality, 7/hether replacement cost or net realizable 

value or present value is the basis of valuation, it is difficult 

"to establish a current value of assets such as blast furnaces or 

■the current cost of a factory of a large manufacturing firm. 

However, the use of replacement cost or net realizable value or 

both, in valuing assets does tend to give more realistic values 

than are provided by historical-cost accounting or by price-level 

accounting. The advantages of current value accounting include 

the following

1) Information relevant to decision making is provided

2) A measure of current operating profit based on 

current revenue less current costs is a superior 

performance measure.

3) Adequate funds are retained through charging current 

costs to revenue for the replacement of assets 

consumed in production.

4 ) Current value financial statements have a good 

predictive potencial for decision making.

5) Current-Value information on asset resale prices is 

essential to protect shareholders in take—over 

situations, and to protect creditors generally.
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On the whole, current-value accounting is superior 

"to both historical-cost accounting and price-level accounting. 

Most decisions made by managements require a knowledge of the 

current values of assets. For example, a decision on whether 

to sell or retain an asset will be based on realizable value 

and use value.

The accounting profession has made much progress in 

proposing methods of reflecting the effects of inflation in 

financial statements. The first method to be proposed was r 

similar to price-level accounting. Recently, however, the 

debate has tended to favour current value accounting. Steps 

are being taken in Britain and Australia to implement 

current-value accounting. It is to be hoped that other countries* V
would follow the lead of Britain and Australia so as to achieve 

an international improvement in accounting reporting practices. 

Kenya is among the developing countries which have not yet 

recognized the importance of proper inflation accounting as a 

vital element to the reporting of current and more relevant 

financial information.

5.2 CONCLUSIONS

The recently increasing discussions on accounting for 

price—level changes provides evidence that the accounting 

profession is determined to replace historical cost accounting 

with a better system of accounting. Such replacement appears 

to be needed and inevitable. The United Kingdom, Australia and
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probably the United States are likely to take leading 

positions in introducing the needed new systems. Judging from 

the wave of opinions in the current accounting literature, it 

appears likely that it will be current-value accounting that 

will replace historical-cost accounting. The views of Kenyan

companies, gathered during my survey } indicate that
. -

it is current-value accounting that would be
was

welcome. This^clearly revealed by the responses given by the 

companies which have been presented in Chapter Pour above.

It may be a long time before our indigenous companies 

begin to prepare full inflation, accounting statements. This 

is true because of many current problems, namely;

(1) Y/e do not have accountants who are qualified 

enough to prepare inflation accounts acceptable 

to management.

(2) It will take a long time to train both management 

people and the outside users of financial statements 

on how to interpret reported inflation accounts.

The first introductions of inflation accounts are 

likely to meet a great resistence from the intended 

beneficiaries of the financial statements.

(3) We do not have a local Institute of accountants

as yet. The Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

is in the process of formation and we hope that 

it will be registered by December 1978. In view 

of the fact thet many of the accountants in 

Kenya are not c^uite conversant with inflation
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accounting, the Institute, when formed may not 

be strong enough to formulate firm and conclusive 

recommendation! on inflation accounting for a good 

number of years. However, it is to be hoped that 

we shall be able to establish good standards of 

inflation accounting without undue delay.

Once inflation accounts are accepted for taxation 

purposes, the companies may have to pay less taxes than they do 

under the conventional accounting system. Less dividends will 

be paid out because less profits will be reported. At the out

set, this may discourage investments, but as the investors 

come to understand the true message of inflation accounts, more 

investment will be realized. Because the companies could be 

paying less income taxes and less dividends, there could then 

be large retentions of profits which would then be reinvested. 

This would imply less reliance on borrowings and more papid 

expansion of many businesses.

The premise of lower income tax payments when inflation 

accounts are pi'epared is a tenuous premise. It may not 

necessarily follow as such. The Government, in its annual budget, 

does not consider the mode of existing accounting system. It 

can still raise the required tax revenue regardless of the 

accounting systems in the country.
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APPENDIX

REPRODUCTION OP RESEARCH QUESTIONNAIRE

Following is a reproduction of the questionnaire 

which the author used in his survey of the financial reporting 

policies of companies in Kenya.

TO WHOM IT HAY CONCERN

QUESTIONNAIRE ON INFLATION ACCOUNTING 

(OR ACCOUTRING FOR PRICE LEVEL CHANGES)

The following is a questionnaire on Accounting for 

Price Level Changes. I am undertaking a research in this 

area as part of my thesis on INFLATION ACCOUNTING. The purpose 

of the questionnaire is to seek information on the approach 

of your company to:

(a) the recognition of inflation in internal and 

published accounts;

(b) the revaluation of fixed assets.

Please complete the questionnaire by placing a cross 

(x), in the appropriate boxes. More than one cross can be 

made where necessary. Any informative comments can be given 

in the spaces provided. Please forward the completed 

questionnaire to:

Francis M. Nyagari, at the above named address, (University of
v (d a t e)Nairobi address). b y ---------------------------------
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It will greatly assist ne, in interpreting your answers to 

"the questionnaire, if you could enclose a copy of your 

company’s latest published accounts when you return the completed 

questionnaire.

Qu. 1 TIE QUESTION SEEKS THE OPINION OP COMPANIES 

ON THE PRESENT HISTORICAL COST ACCOUNTING

It has been argued that during inflation, conventional 

historical cost accounting provides information which is 

irrelevant for decision making by investors, creditors, 

management and other interested parties.

Do you agree?

YES NO

□ □
COMMENT

Qu , 2 TO FIND OUT WHETHER I?TACT 0? INFLATION SHOULD BE

REFLECTED

Inflation in East Africa in recent years, particularly 

in Kenya, has threatened economic survival. Do you consider 

that accounts prepared for management and/or shareholders shoj^d 

reflect the impact of inflation?
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YES NO

COMMENT

Q. 5 SEEKS TO KNO',7 ON WHAT If.IPACT 0? INFLATION SHOULD

BE REFLECTED

If your answer to Q. 2 is YES, should impact of 

inflation be reflected on:

a) fixed assets YES NO

C —

b ) . Depreciation

1□ □
c) Cost of stock cash or other

monetary assets □ □
e) The gain on equity from

borrowing. □ □
COMMENTS
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■£-». 4. TO FIND OUT THE ANTICIPATED EFFECTS 0? REFLECTING 

TIE) IMPACT 0? INFLATION PIT FINANCIAL STAT?r.SNTS

The present financial statements of companies in Konya 

are prepared on the basis of historical cost. Indicate whether 

modifications to conventional accounting will have:

a ) Better results to YES NO

financial statement users

b ) Confusing results ____  ____

c ) No effect on accounting 

information
—

Other Comments:

Q. 5 - 1 5  TO FIND OUT THE EXTENT TO .'HIGH NAJTA GHENT'S 

OPINIONS ARE PUT INTO PRACTICE:
V

Do you make any adjustments to your financial statements to 

reflect the impact of inflation on items in Q. 3?

COMMENTS
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6 In preparing budgets and management accounts, do you
costs •

make adjustments to actual and forecast / to take into account 

the price level changes?

C omments

Q. 7 If the answer to Q. 6 is Yes, are the adjustments

'linked to:

a) A general price index

b) Specific price index?

c) Some other basis

. YES NO

p a
□a

COMMENTS



Q. 8

a )

b)

<0

Is depreciation in your management accounts based on:

Original historical cost of an asset? YES NO□ □
Estimate of replacement cost of

some asset

Some other basis

□ □ 
□ □

COMMENTS

Qu, 9 Have you revalued your fixed assets in recent years

a) land

b ) Building

YES NO□ □
□ □

c) Plant
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Q u » 10 On what basis were the revaluations 

a ) Valuer*s report? YES HO

b)

c)

Indices?

Other evidence?

□ □ 
□ □ 
□ □

C OMMENTS

Q. 11 Was the past revaluation made 

a) ■ Generally on basis of going

concern/existing use of assets

f) On any other basis

C OMMENTS

Q, 12 How were the revaluations disclosed to financial 

statement users?

a) Notes to financial statements □ □ 
□ □b) Brackets to each respective account
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c ) Management reports YES NO□ □
d) Some other basis

COMMENTS

Q. 13 Bo you maintain a policy of retaining sufficient profits 

to cover the estimated cost of replacing fixed assets?

YES NO□ □
COMMENTS

Q. 1 4 - 2 1  GENERAL THEORETICAL QUESTIONS

There has been a lof of debate, particularly in U.K., 

U.S., Canada, and Australia, on whether general price indices 

or current values of assets should be the basis for inflation 

accounting. General Price Level Accounting uses general price 

indices; current value (or current cost) accounting is based 

on current market values.
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Q. 14 Which one would you recommend:

a) General Price Level Accounting YES NO□□
b) Current value accounting □□
c) Both of (a) and (b) □□
COMMENTS

Q. 15 Does any of the two approaches to inflation accounting 

have merits?

a) Current value accounting

b) General Price Level Accounting

YES NO□ □
□ □

COMMENTS

16 Do you anticipate any problems in the two approaches?

a)

b)

Current value Accounting

General Price Level Accounting

YES NO□ □
□ □
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COMMENTS

Q. 17

If your company is a subsidiary to a parent company in say, 

U.K. or U.S., or in other foreign country which adjusts its 

accounts for inflation, what impact has this got on your 

accounting system?

COMMENTS

0.__18

If adjustments for inflation were to be made, how should they 

be reported to financial statement users?

a)

b)

c)

d)

Preparation of supplementary statements 

to historical cost statements

Footnotes to historical cost

statements

As a primary report

Some other basis

YES□ NO□
□ □
□ □
□ □

COMMENTS
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Qu. 20

Which cost selection method (valuation method) of inventory 

do you employ in your company;

a) Last-in-fir st-out (lifo)? YES□ NO□
b) First-in-first-out (Fifo)? □ □
c) Specific Identification) □
d) Weigh - average? □ □
e) Other method?

COMMENTS If you have any feeling about LIFC
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